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Renewing
the pleasure
of your
Daily-Break

THE BEST OF

Our mission is to meet, every single day, the needs of
our customers: almost 3 million people who choose our
services, for a short break during their work, study or
travels. This requires constant attention to many details
that, for the most part, tend to escape the users but that
are fundamental and well known to all our collaborators
and partners, without whom we would not be able to
carry out our work at the highest standard.
The growth of our turnover, from just under 410
million to over 434 million euros, in a service-based
activity hinged on presence on the territory and a high
density network of logistics, goes together with the
growth in the number of our collaborators, who went
from about 2,700 to 2,800 in just one year.
The overall number of vends, from coffee to cold
drinks and snacks, also increased, growing from around
805 million to over 834 million. This in turn resulted in
more exchanges with our suppliers and partners, both
in terms of purchases of products and other services.
For example, a growth in the purchases of coffee (of
approximately 6%) led to a proportional increase in the
quantities of coffee collected and recycled for energy
and compost production, from 74 tons to 82 tons.
The growth of IVS, therefore, generates value not
only for the company but also for many economic
partners and social entities that maintain a
relationship with us.
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2018 was a year of further
development for IVS Group.
This development concerns not only
the group’s financial results, but also
all the operational and qualitative
aspects on which our activity is based.

CHAIRMAN’S
LETTER

Dear shareholders
and stakeholders,
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IVS is not simply interested in
doing a good job: our goal is
to do a better job, every day.
This is why we are a group that
invests a lot. More precisely, every
year we invest more than the net
profits generated by our income
statement. For us, investing
means responding always better
to the demands of a constantly
evolving market and customers.
Changes, even those that at first
appear unfavourable, can, on the
contrary, become opportunities
to innovate and improve. The
investments, which are also
increasing, are in the order of
10% and surpass the turnover,
close to 50 million a year
(excluding investing activities in
acquisition of subsidiaries and
business units), a very significant
level for IVS, which is a service
company and not an industrialmanufacturing enterprise. We
are proud that, out of these
investments, a significant share,
equivalent to some million euros,
is designated to innovative
technologies, new applications
and R&D personnel. Elements
that we believe will spur our
value growth, even if they do not
generate immediate profits.
In doing all this, however, we
cannot forget the need to
maintain the sustainability,
even on the economic side,
without which a company no
longer has solid medium and
long-term prospects, especially
in complex and volatile scenarios
such as those in which we live.
This is why we want the value of
our investments to be clear and
well recognised by our partners
and our customers. We also want
there to be a correct relationship
between the quality of the
product and service and its price.
Only with such recognition,
development works and can be
advanced in the interest of all
stakeholders.
IVS proudly gives back an
important share of the revenue
it generates to the communities
within which it operates.

This share significantly exceeds
the group’s net profits and it
also exceeds the dividends that
are paid to shareholders and the
interest paid to lenders (even
though shareholders and lenders
provide the capital necessary for
the life of the company).
The vending sector, by nature,
can grow organically to a
relatively limited extent,
depending on GDP trends and
hours worked. IVS has faced
and overcome the economic
crisis of the past years by
innovating and investing
considerable resources, as
previously mentioned. In this
context, there is no doubt that
some categories of stakeholders,
such as partners and clients like
hospitals, universities and other
public administration, have seen
their share of benefits received
by our group’s business increase
significantly – comparatively
more than other clients like
employees, suppliers, lenders and
shareholders.
The crisis of the past years and
the growing financial needs of
certain institutions and public
administrations have certainly
influenced the change in balance
between stakeholders; the
whole vending sector has been
influenced by this and it is clear
that in many small companies this
is jeopardizing or will jeopardize
the sustainability of the business.
As industry leader, IVS feels
the responsibility not only
of investing and innovating to
improve, but also of recalling
the overall balance of dynamics
among the various stakeholders.
Without such balance,
sustainability would be at risk
and so would be the generation
of value that everyone could
instead benefit from.
The evolution of the vending
sector in the next few years will
also depend on the balance
between stakeholders. On the
one hand, in a sector born less
than 50 years ago, a phase of
entrepreneurial and generational

transition and concentration
is natural. IVS Group itself is
a proof of this, having grown
through constant mergers and
acquisitions and continuing to do
so even after the disappearance
of a key figure for our company,
the founder Cesare Cerea. On
the other hand, there is a risk
that the smaller or weaker
companies will suffer strongly
from worsened conditions of
equilibrium, imposed by other
stakeholder, with consequent
financial difficulties. These
financial difficulties could even
affect the entire chain, potentially
even damaging (in terms of
worse service quality or shortages
of expected resources) the same
subjects who, with increasing,
sometimes excessive, demands,
generated such break in balance
in the first place.
For all this, IVS Group is
committed every day to
generating growth and
increasing the distributable
value among all stakeholder.
A value that touches not only
the economic sphere, but also
innovation, sustainability and
society. This is a way of doing
business that goes back in time,
to our founder Cesare Cerea. It
is a commitment in which the
whole company believes, and
that the management and all the
collaborators intend to maintain.

Chairman
Mr. Paolo Covre
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Vending Sales/
Business Day
(€ ‘000’S)
2018

1,665.3

Vends
(million)
2018

2017

834.3

804.8

Average Price
(€ cents)
2018

2017

47.5

46.9

2017

1,589.2

Vending Machines
34%
65.6%

~189.4K

Office
Coffee
System
(OCS)

Automatic
Vending
Machines
(Auto VMs)

Italy • France • Spain • Swiss

80
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Employees
2018

2017

2,799 2,706

Acquisitions
2018

2017

+9

+16

Revenues

Revenues

(million)

(million)

5.6

32.1
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Branches

NUMBER
OF BRANCHES

60
in

Italy

15

in Spain

4

in France

1

in Switzerland

A significant presence in foreign European
markets
Profitable operations in each market
Serving 14m final end-users through 80
branches and ~189.4k vending machines
Each of the 80 branches in the network is
profitable
The Group’s strategy will be focused on
strengthening local density in a number
of regional markets, enabling IVS to better
leverage its fixed cost base by building local
concentration in strategic towns and areas

Leading consolidator
in the domestic market
Significant competitive advantage in
identifying, executing and integrating
acquisitions relative to its peers,
demonstrated by a proven track record
More than 100 companies or going concerns
have been acquired by IVS since 2007
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IVS is the only Italian player with nationwide
operations in the domestic market

INTERNATIONAL
FOCUS

Wide geographical
footprint with
signiﬁcant
opportunities to
enhance local density

IVS Group is a pioneer of the
vending industry in Italy with over
40 years of experience.
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HISTORY AND
KEY EVENTS

The history of IVS can be traced
back to Bergamo Distributori which
was founded by Cesare Cerea and
Pietro Gualdi in 1972.
IVS Italia S.p.A. was incorporated
at the end of 2006 through
the merger of the companies
previously operating under the IVS
brand on a stand alone basis.

Following the 2006 merger, IVS
completed a large number of
acquisitions of players operating in
Italy, France Spain and Switzerland,
implementing a buy-build strategy
with the aim of making the
Company a main consolidator,
in a fragmented sector where
economies of scale are a key factor
to boost performance.
Mr. Cerea drove the innovation of
the sector from “old-style coin-only
drop” machines to innovative
point-of-sales with a multiple
selection of clearly visible products.

‘18
• Acquisition of:
- Nespresso® Business Line
of Enopanorama S.r.l.
- Chicchecaffè business unit
• The Group moves the Nespresso®
Professional Line OCS operations
in a sole new controlled company,
Wefor S.r.l.
• The shareholders meeting approved
a three-year incentive plan for the
management
• New EUR 150 million credit
facility to be used for reﬁnancing
of existing bank loans and for
acquisition purpose

• IVS was founded by Cesare Cerea and Pietro Gualdi in 1972

START

‘06
‘08

• Merger by incorporation of 15 companies into
IVS Italia, legal entity of the IVS Group
• Launch of the Monitoring Room
• Buyout of Gruppo Cantel/CafeBon (jointly with
Gruppo Argenta)
Launch of the first centre for VM revamping

‘09
‘11

CQUISIT
A
0
ION
7
>1

20
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‘12
‘14

‘15
‘16

‘17

• Acquisition and restructuring of
Vending System Italia (VSI)
• Set up of the Joint Venture with
Gruppo Cremonini (railway stations)
• Acquisition of Coin Services
• Start-up of a new branch in Paris

• Listing by the combination with
Italy1 Investment S.A.
• to trading on MTA Segment
• of 250 Million of new Senior
Secured Notes
• Incorporation of IVS Group
Swiss S.A.
• Acquisition of Liomatic business
units located in Central and
Southern Italy
• Vending machines Innovation:
touch screen monitor, bell of the
coffee vacuum,
payment system with smartphone application

• New issue of 240 Million Retail Bond 4.5%
due 2022
• Reorganization of management and handling
of vending machines within the Group
• Extension and renewal, until December 31st, 2019,
of the exclusive distribution agreement with
Nespresso Italiana S.p.A.
• Fully redemption of the 7.125% Senior Secured
Notes due 2020 of EUR 250 million
• IVS Group Warrants: end of the exercise period

• Mr. Cesare Cerea, Chairman and founder of the Group IVS passed away on August 2017
• Acquisition of:
- Entire share of Grup Ibervending in Spain
- Nespresso® Business Line of Gruppo Argenta, Somed and Pronto Coffee
• IVS Group bought back the class B2 and B3 shares and canceled them
• The Italian Tax Authority adopted the technical regulation of automated transmission of revenues data
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Key ﬁgures by product (%) - (2018)

8.7

OCS

7.6

34.7
33.5
43.5
AUTO VMs - MIX

33.6

57.8
48.9

AUTO VMs - HOT

31.7

Vending
Machines

Vends

Sales

Key ﬁgures by location (%) - (Auto VMs, 2018)

2.1
18.2

3.8

8.4

AVERAGE SALES

ASP

(000)/VM

(EUR cent)

TRAVEL

€ 11.6 € 1.06

23.4
24.4

PUBLIC

€ 0.50

€ 2.5

€ 0.44

72.8
67.2

CORPORATE

Vending
Machines

Vends

Sales

Simple, lean and highly cash generating business model
IVS Group purchases the machines from manufacturers, installs them at the clients’ sites
and maintains them
Revenues are generated from purchases made by the end consumers in the location
where the machines are installed
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79.7

€ 4.0
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The IVS Group presents the following structure as of December 31st, 2018:

IVS
GROUP S.A.

100%

13%

IVS
HOLLAND
B.V.

IVS VENDING
UK LTD.

100%

100%

80%

90%

100%

100%

FAST SERVICE
ITALIA S.P.A.

IVS ITALIA
S.P.A.

DEMOMATIC
S.A.

IVS
GROUP SWISS
S.A.

S. ITALIA
S.P.A.

CSH
S.R.L.

87%

IVS FRANCE
S.A.S.

99%

100%

80%

50%

DDS
S.P.A.

MB WEB
S.A.S.

1%

+39
S.C.I.

EUROVENDING
S.R.L.

50%

CIALDAMIA
S.R.L.
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N-UNO
S.R.L.

91%

100%

70%

100%

100%

75%
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CIESSE CAFFÉ
S.R.L.

VENPAY
S.P.A.

20.10.
VENDING
S.R.L.

D.A.V.
S.L.

MAQUINAS
AUTOMATICAS
BLASCO S.L.

100%

25%

94.8%

100%

CAYBE 2
S.L.

47.1%

46.7%

IBERVENDING
S.A.

100%

15%
100%

100%

QUICK FOOD
VENDING S.L.

BSL VENDING
S.L.

100%

100%

EXMATIC
S.L.

VALOR VENDING
S.L.U.

20%
COMMERCIALE
DISTRIBUTORI
S.R.L.

100%

IVS SICILIA
S.P.A.

100%

Legend:

FINANCIAL
COMPANY

COIN SERVICE
S.P.A.

COIN SERVICE
NORD S.P.A.

5%
CE.DA
S.R.L.

GE.O.S. SICILIA
S.R.L.

(Joint Ventures
with Cremonini)

100%

33.3%
WEFOR
S.R.L.

TIME
VENDING S.R.L.

SDA
S.R.L.

53.3%

52.9%
UNIVERSO
VENDING
S.P.A.

60%

VENDING
COMPANIES

VENDING
MACHINES
PRODUCER
COMPANY

SOCIÉTÉ
CIVILE
IMMOBILIÈRE

ASSOCIATES

COIN DIVISION
COMPANIES

JOINT
VENTURES

REPRESENTATIVE
COMPANIES

OCS
COMPANIES

Legend ﬂags:
Luxembourg

Switzerland

Italy

France

Spain

The
Netherlands

United
kingdom

CENTY
S.R.L.
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Management Report

________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Management Report
Dear Shareholders,
The IVS Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements as at December 31st, 2018, drawn up under the International Financial
Reporting Standards approved by European Union (IFRS), show a profit for the year of EUR 24,632 thousand, after taxes
of EUR 7,692 thousand, amortization and depreciation of EUR 46,129 thousand and financial expenses of EUR 13,592
thousand.
The annual accounts IVS Group S.A., which are prepared under the Luxembourg national accounting standards, show a
profit of EUR 2,712 thousand after positive taxes of EUR 1,471 thousand.
We have our registered office at L-1449 Luxembourg, 18 Rue de l’Eau, the company is registered in Luxembourg under
RCS section B number 155.294, and our operational headquarter is in Seriate, Italy and our Shares are listed on the Italian
Stock Exchange.
The Parent has prepared a single directors’ report, following enactment of EC directive no. 2003/51/EC on the accounting
harmonization between Member States.
In this document, we present certain measures, including EBITDA, EBITDA Adjusted, EBIT, EBIT Adjusted, Net Financial
Indebtedness and Net Financial Position, Net profit/(loss) for the year Adjusted and Gross Margin that are ore may be
considered Alternative Performance Measures (“APMs”) as defined by ESMA Guidelines on Alternative Performance
Measures. These financial measures are better described and reconciliated with line items of the Consolidated Financial
Statements, which are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by EU
(“IFRS”), in section “Alternative Performance Measures”.
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In addition 2017 figures have been restated in order to reflect the finalization of Purchase Price Allocation provisionally
accounted in previous Consolidation Financial Statements. Futher details on the restated figures are provided in
pharagraph “Basis of preparation of the financial statements” in the Explanatory notes to the financial statements.

Company overview1
The IVS Group is the second largest vending machine operator in Europe (a highly fragmented market) and the only public
listed vending company, as reflected in the figures published by the EVA (European Vending Association). According to
the latest report of CONFIDA, the Italian association of vending sector companies (based on 2017 figures), IVS is the most
important operator in Italy.
Italy represents IVS principal market (77.9% of Group’s total revenues); nevertheless, IVS is also present in the French,
Spanish and Swiss markets, where sales for the year ended December 31st, 2018 represented, respectively, approximately
6.2%, 11.1% and 0.8% of the total revenues. The Coin Division, active in Italy, represents 4.0% of the total revenues.
With over 40 years of experience in the industry, the IVS Group is the first Italian player with a nationwide presence.

1

Cautionary Statement Concerning Forward-looking statements
This annual report and any other oral or written statements made by us to the public may contain “forward-looking statements”. Forward looking statements are based
on management’s current views and assumptions and involve known and unknown risks that could cause actual results, performance or events to differ materially
from those expressed or implied by those statements.
We use words such as “aim”, “will likely result”, “will continue”, “contemplate”, “seek to”, “future”, “objective”, “goal”, “should”, “will pursue”, “anticipate”, “estimate”,
“expect”, “project”, “intend”, “plan”, “believe” and words and terms of similar substance to identify forward-looking statements, but they are not the only way we identify
such statements. All forward-looking statements are management’s present expectations of future events and are subject to a number of factors and uncertainties
that could cause actual results to differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements. These factors include the risks related to our business
discussed under “Principal Risks and Uncertainties”, among them, the following:
our ability to implement our business strategy or to grow through acquisitions, joint ventures and other investments;
the competitive environment in our business and our industry;
our ability to price our products and services in accordance with our strategy;
general macroeconomic and political conditions and developments in the countries in which we operate;
fluctuations in costs related to fuel and transportation inputs, food, coffee and other commodity prices;
impact of seasonal variation and abnormal weather;
loss of major customers and/or inability to establish new customer relationships;
By their nature, certain disclosures relating to these and other risks are only estimates and could be materially different from what actually occurs in the future. As a
result, actual future gains or losses that may affect our financial condition and results of operations could differ materially from those that have been estimated. You
should not place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this annual report.
Except as required by law, we are not under any obligation, and expressly disclaim any obligation, to update or alter any forward-looking statements, whether as a
result of new information, future events or else.
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Business overview
IVS Group manages its activity by two business divisions: the Vending division, with operations in Italy, Spain, France and
Switzerland, and the Coin division, related to coin management business with operations based only in Italy.
Vending division is vertical integrated to operate in the preparation and testing of new vending machines and in the
revamping of the vending machine uninstalled from clients’ site.
IVS manages a network of approximately 189,412 full automatic vending machines (124,239) and office coffee service
machines (65,173), located at corporate offices, institutions and public places, through which we sell a broad range of
products, including hot and cold beverages, in-between meals, snacks and confectionary (the “Vending Business”).
Our business model covers the full spectrum of the value chain in the vending machine operator market. Our sales team
originates new customer contracts, allowing us place vending machines on customers’ premises and we also bid for
concessions pursuant to public tenders to place vending machines with governmental and semi-public entities or large
corporate organizations. We purchase and customize our vending machines with the options and characteristics that we
design to fit customers’ requirements and install them at their premises. Our central purchasing department sources the
range of food and beverage products that our vending machines offer. Our customer contracts will typically specify a few
products that a customer’s vending machine should offer, but with our industry knowledge, we are also able to tailor our
product offerings by type of location or region, to achieve a superior product range for consumers. We also provide our
customers with restocking, maintenance, coin collection and customer service for the vending machines we operate.
Our vending machines are either automatic or semi-automatic and serve different segments of the food and beverage
market. Our automatic machines are generally large, free standing vending machines, favoured by corporate or public
institutional clients. These machines dispense products from the “Hot” beverage, “Snacks” and “Cold” beverage, segments
of the food and beverage market. Our semi-automatic machines are generally small pod machines that offer coffee and
other hot drinks (cappuccino, mocaccino, hot chocolate, large milk foam shake or iced beverage) to SMEs and other
corporate customers.

In addition to our Vending Business, we also operate a coin service business (“Coin Service Business”), through
subsidiaries that we acquired in March 2011 in conjunction with minority partners. Our Coin Service Business performs
management of “metallic money” (coins), including their collection, packaging and delivery for approximately EUR
3,000,000 thousand equivalent in coins, for a variety of customers, including our Vending Business and other customers,
such as banks, mass-retailers, third party vending operators, parking operators, train stations and highway toll stations. In
the year ended December 31st, 2018, our Coin Service Business generated approximately 4.01% of total revenue, and
5.5% of our EBITDA Adjusted.
Since February 2018, the Coin Division subsidiary, controlled by CSH Srl, through the controlled company Venpay S.p.A.,
started a new business related to the development of new digital applications, telemetry and payment systems for the
vending industry.
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In the year ended December 31st, 2018, our Vending Business generated approximately 95.9% of our total revenues and
94.5% of our EBITDA Adjusted. In 2018, our Vending Business sold approximately 834.3 million of products/beverages
(or “vends”) at an average price per vend of 47.5 Euro cents. Despite not yet full favourable economic conditions in our
main markets, we have managed to increase our Vending Business revenue from EUR 377,391 thousand for the year
ended December 31st, 2017 to EUR 395,851 thousand for the year endend December 31st, 2018 and to increase average
price per vend from 46.9 euro cents to 47.5 euro cents, leveraging mainly on product management. We focus on profitability
through exploiting operational synergies from our extensive branch network of distribution and maintenance service agents
and seeking to improve vending machine density, which refers to the placement of vending machines in close proximity to
one another.
We have consolidated our Vending Business through organic growth and selective acquisitions within the highly
fragmented Italian, French and Spanish markets. In Italy, our vends are primarily generated in the North and Lazio regions,
though our machines can be found nationwide. We believe we are the only real national wide operator in Italy, which can
provide unique vending solutions to our customers. In Spain we believe to be the second operator, with a semi national
wide coverage. Our vending machines in Spain are present not only in Galicia and Pais region: since February 2017, after
the acquisition of Ibervending Grup S.A., finalized on January 31st, 2017 IVS has expandend its presence to Valencia,
Vitoria, Siviglia and Malaga. In France, we believe we are among the market leaders in terms of market share by revenue.
Our vending machines in France are concentrated in Paris and in the Provence-Alpes-Côte d'Azur regions. In Switzerland
we are present in Canton Ticino and Suisse Normand.
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Significant events of 2018
Acquisition of business units and shares
On January 8th, 2018, IVS Group, through its subsidiary IVS Italia S.p.A., in order to accelerate the transfer of the service
to all of the clients included in the agreement entered into between IVS Italia S.p.A. and Nespresso Italiana S.p.A., signed
the acquisition agreement of the Nespresso Professional Line unit of Enopanorama S.r.l. (active in Lazio - Rome - and in
the following regions: Abruzzo and Umbria). The consideration transferred is equal to EUR 7,155 thousand. After this new
acquisition, now the partnership between IVS and Nespresso covers the largest part of the Italian territory.
On September 11th, 2018 the subsidiary IVS Italia S.p.A. has acquired the business of Chicchecaffè S.r.l. active in the
vending sector in Italian Emilia Romagna region, with a provisional consideration trasferred of EUR 2,000 thousand.
In addition to the above, since January 1st, 2018 the IVS Group, through its subsidiary IVS Italia S.p.A. has finalized five
acquisitions of business units and shares, located in Italian regions Campania, Calabria, Sicilia, Emilia Romagna, with a
total consideration transferred of EUR 4,458 thousand (of which EUR 1,350 thousand still provisional).
On July 17th, 2018 IVS Group, through its subsidiary IVS France S.A.S., has acquired a vending business located in
Montpellier, with a consideration transferred of EUR 480 thousand.
On December 26th, 2018, IVS Group, through its subsidiary IVS France S.A.S., has acquired from the JV Cialdamia S.r.l.,
MB WEB, with a consideration transferred of EUR 540 thousand.
With regard to the business combinations mentioned above, the table included in the paragraph “Group wide result of
operations” shows their contribution to the Group Vending Revenues and Gross margin.
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On April 18th, 2018 IVS Group, through its subsidiary Venpay S.p.A. contributed EUR 125 thousand to Centy S.r.l (a little
Italian start-up company focused on the retail service, enabling the expendability of small value metallic Euro cents) and
acquired a stake of 15% of the company.
On December 10th, 2018, IVS Group’s subsidiary, IVS Sicilia S.p.A., signed an agreement regarding the acquisition of the
business of Point Service S.r.l. active in the vending sector in region Sicily, presently controlled by Mr. Michele Spera
family. The business acquired generates annual sales of around EUR 2.1 million and has been valued (provisional price)
around EUR 2.75 million. This transaction is consistent with IVS Group consolidated strategy, aimed at increasing logistic
density, efficiency and quality service in the markets served.
On December 28th, 2018 the controlled subsidiary CSH S.r.l. signed a share purchase agreement for the acquisition of
100% of Moneynet S.p.A. specialized in e-money and payment services, presently owned by Nexi Group through the
subsidiaries Bassilichi S.p.A. and Consorzio Triveneto S.p.A.. The equity value for the purchase is equal to EUR 100
thousand. The completion of this transaction is subject to the authorization of Bank of Italy not yet released.
On December 28th, 2018 the controlled subsidiary IVS Italia S.p.A. signed an agreement for the sale of 50% of Cialdamia
S.r.l.
Factoring of VAT receivables
With reference to factoring program, during the current year the Group sold without-recourse EUR 4,202 thousand of VAT
receivables. These VAT receivables have been sold during the second quarter and have been already paid by the Italian
tax authority before the end of the year.
Distribution of dividends
The annual shareholders’ meeting of IVS Group S.A., held on May 8th, 2018 resolved, in addition to approval of the financial
statements and the consolidated financial statements as of December 31st, 2017 and related documents, the distribution
of a dividend of EUR 0.28 for each share, for a total amount of EUR 10,907 thousand. The dividend payment (equal to
EUR 10,310 thousand, net of the portion relating to treasury share) has been made July 11th, 2018, with record date July
10th, 2018 and the ex-dividend date July 9th, 2018.

9
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EUR 150 million new credit facility
On December 21st, 2018 IVS Group S.A. has signed a bank loan contract for a total amount of EUR 150 million, organized
by BNP Paribas as Global Coordinator e Bookrunner, with the participation of BNL, Banca MPS and Rabobank as
Mandated Lead Arrangers. The facility, with an availability period of 18 months, is split in two tranches: trance “A”
amounting to EUR 50 million and aimed to refinancing existing loans, tranche “B” amounting to EUR 100 million and aimed
to fund acquisitions. Both the tranches will be reimbursed on October 15th, 2022. These new loans agreements require the
comply with some financial covenants and the obligation for the Group to meet certain financial ratio levels, which are in
line with the other requirement and ratio already included in the Senior Unsecured Bond and in the other existing loan
agreements. The term-loan facility agreement includes, among other market standard provisions, a clause that
shall allow the lenders to ask for the early repayment of the outstanding facility in case of change of control on
the part of the Company.
The facility, undrawn at December 31st, 2018, will support IVS growth strategy, mostly based on further acquisitions, in
Italy and other European markets, and will also contribute to increase the average duration of existing bank loans and
reduce the group weighted average cost of debt.
Italian Fiscal Authority
On October 24th, 2018 the Italian Financial Police (Guardia di Finanza) ended a general tax inspection on IVS Group SA,
IVS Italia S.p.A. and IVS F S.p.A. (merged into CSH S.r.l. in 2016), notifying some findings related to direct and indirect
taxes with reference to previous fiscal years. The management, with the support of its tax and legal advisor, believes that
there are solid arguments in favour of the Company to challenge those reports send by Guardia di Finanza to Italian fiscal
Authority. At the date of the approval of this Annual Report the Group has not yet recipt any notification from the Italian
Fiscal Authority (Agenzia delle Entrate) related to such findings, and therefore it’is still currently assessing, with the support
of its external advisors, the likelihood and exposure connected to this risk.

Changes in the consolidation
The main changes in the composition of the IVS Group with respect to December 31st, 2017 are:
- On April 17th, 2018 the subsidiary IVS Italia S.p.A. has acquired the entire share of G.M. Vending S.r.l. an Italian
company whose vending business unit had already been leased to IVS Italia S.p.A. since about two years ago;
- On August 1st, 2018 IVS Italia S.p.A. incorporated a new company, Wefor S.r.l. to riorganize Nespresso®
Professional Line OCS operations into a single entity. During 2018 this reorganization started with three
contribution in kind, that will be effective starting from October 1st, 2018, December 1st, 2018 and January 2nd,
2019;
- On December 12th, 2018 IVS Group S.A. bought 20% of shares of IVS Group Swiss S.A. from minority;
- On December 26th, 2018 IVS IVS Group, through its subsidiary IVS France S.A.S., has acquired from the JV
Cialdamia 80% of shares of MB WEB.

Group performance
The Consolidated Financial Statements of the IVS Group for the year ended as of December 31st, 2018 show a net profit
of EUR 23,232 thousand, after a net profit attributable to non-controlling interests of EUR 1,400 thousand.
Management believes that the Adjusted Income Statements presented below provide relevant and useful information,
which is widely used by analysts, investors and competitors in our industry as well as by our management in assessing
both consolidated and business unit performance.
These Adjusted Income Statements provide us with an understanding of the results from the primary operations of our
business by excluding the effects of certain special items that do not reflect the ordinary earnings of our operations: we
use these adjusted figures to evaluate our period-over-period operating performance because our management believes
these provide a better comparable measure of our recurring business.

10
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Grant Option Plan
The extraordinary shareholders’ meeting of IVS Group S.A., held on December 28th, 2018 resolved a share-based
incentive plan for the period 2019-2021 providing for the assignment to the executive directors and key managers of the
IVS Group of the option right to purchase a total of n.350 thousand shares of the Company. During the first quarter of 2019
the Board of Directors of the Company resolved some amendments to the incentive plan, including the increase to n.355
thousand of the number of shares allocated to the plan, in order to add some key managers entitled to be included among
the beneficiaries.
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2018

Adjustment
Explanation

(in thousand of Euro)
Revenue from sales and services
Other revenues and income
Total revenues
Cost of raw materials, supplies and consumables
Cost of services
Personnel costs
Other operating income / (expenses), net
Gains / (losses) from disposal of fixed assets, net
EBITDA
Depreciation and amortisation
EBIT
Financial income/(expenses), net
Foreign exchange differences and variations in derivatives fair value, net
Result of companies valued at net equity
Profit / (loss) before tax
Income taxes
Net profit/(loss) for the period

Reported

412,584
21,773
434,357
(103,697)
(44,208)
(115,995)
(78,361)
(1,020)
91,076
(46,129)
44,947
(13,242)
305
314
32,324
(7,692)
24,632

(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

(e)
(f)

(g)

2017

Adjustments

3
3
(583)
(736)
(977)
(2,293)
(2,293)
(211)
250
(2,254)
633
(1,621)

Adjusted

Reported

412,584
21,770
434,354
(103,697)
(43,625)
(115,259)
(77,384)
(1,020)
93,369
(46,129)
47,240
(13,031)
55
314
34,578
(8,325)
26,253

393,677
15,430
409,107
(98,439)
(45,353)
(110,050)
(71,325)
(822)
83,118
(43,428)
39,690
(10,635)
21
(6)
29,070
(8,201)
20,869

Adjustments

16
16
(1,524)
(698)
(5,567)
(341)
(8,114)
(8,114)
2,991
(5,123)
141
(4,982)

Adjusted

393,677
15,414
409,091
(98,439)
(43,829)
(109,352)
(65,758)
(481)
91,232
(43,428)
47,804
(13,626)
21
(6)
34,193
(8,342)
25,851

The following table summarizes and shows the Group’s financial performance in the pure geographic market where our
Vending business is present, as well in the Coin services business:
December 31st, 2018
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(thousands of Euro)

Italy

Total Revenues
Redevances
Total Net Revenues
Other operating costs
Ebitda Adjusted 1
Income/(expenses) non-recur. and except.
in nature
EBITDA
% Ebitda Adj /Total Revenues
% Ebitda Adj /Total net Revenues
% EBITDA Adj ex Group Maneg. &
Royalties Fees
Depreciation and amortisation
Ebit
%Ebit/ Total Revenues

348,934
(49,107)
299,827
(223,408)
76,419

26,962
(2,707)
24,255
(20,441)
3,814

47,929
(5,338)
42,591
(35,419)
7,172

3,354
(304)
3,050
(2,305)
745

22,720
22,720
(17,501)
5,219

Inter-sector
eliminations
(15,542)
(15,542)
15,542
-

(1,883)
74,536
21.9%
25.5%

(142)
3,672
14.1%
15.7%

(222)
6,950
15.0%
16.8%

745
22.2%
24.4%

(46)
5,173
23.0%
23.0%

-

(2,293)
91,076
21.5%
24.8%

24.2%

21.5%

22.6%

25.9%

23.3%

-

24.8%

(37,264)
37,272
10.7%

(2,507)
1,165
4.3%

(606)
139
4.1%

(1,426)
3,747
16.5%

-

(46,129)
44,947
10.3%

(thousands of Euro)

Italy

Total Revenues
Redevances
Total Net Revenues
Other operating costs
Ebitda Adjusted1
Income/(expenses) non-recur. and except.
in nature
EBITDA
% EBITDA Adjusted /Total Revenues
% EBITDA Adjusted /Total net Revenues
% EBITDA Adj ex Group Maneg. &
Royalties Fees
Depreciation and amortisation
Ebit
%Ebit /Total Revenues

325,378
(42,523)
282,855
(209,079)
73,776

26,531
(2,226)
24,305
(20,089)
4,216

47,245
(4,629)
42,616
(35,161)
7,455

3,162
(315)
2,847
(2,454)
393

19,173
19,173
(13,781)
5,392

Intra-sector
adjustments
(12,382)
(12,382)
12,382
-

(6,829)
66,947
22.7%
26.1%

(51)
4,165
15.9%
17.3%

(874)
6,581
15.8%
17.5%

(257)
136
12.4%
13.8%

(103)
5,289
28.1%
28.1%

-

France

France

Spain

(4,326)
2,624
5.5%
December 31st, 2017
Spain

Switzerland

Switzerland

Coin

Coin

Total
434,357
(57,456)
376,901
(283,532)
93,369

Total
409,107
(49,693)
359,414
(268,182)
91,232
(8,114)
83,118
22.3%
25.4%

24.9%

22.7%

22.3%

15.1%

27.7%

-

25.4%

(34,726)
32,221
9.9%

(2,662)
1,503
5.7%

(4,504)
2,077
4.4%

(353)
(217)
(6.9%)

(1,183)
4,106
21.4%

-

(43,428)
39,690
9.7%

(1) Adjusted to remove income and expenses non-recurring and exceptional in nature (see next paragraph for more details).

In the year ended December 31st, 2018 total revenues increased for an aggregate amount of EUR 25,250 thousand
(+6.2%) compared to the correspondent period of previous year, while gross margin increased from EUR 310,668
thousand to EUR 330,660 thousand (+6.4%) while total net revenues increased for an aggregate amount of EUR 17,487
thousand from EUR 359,414 thouand to EUR 376,901 thousand.
The increase of revenues compared to the previous year is due to the combined effect of business combinations finalized
in the last two years (EUR 12,161 thousand), and to the improvement of volume and average price of pruducts sold through
our vending machines.
Volumes and average sales price increased, respectively, by 3.7% and 1.2% as compared corresponding values for the
the year ended December 31st, 2017.
11
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Acquisition rate in volume in the year 2018 reached 8.8%, as well churn rate was 5.8%, so the net contribution of
commercial activity to annual volumes amount to 3.0% of annual vends.
The consolidated operating costs including redevances, adjusted to remove non-recurring and exceptional in nature items,
amount to EUR 340,987 thousand (EUR 317,875 thousand in the previous year, +7.3%), of which EUR 10,686 thousand
attributable to the parent company IVS Group S.A..
The 2018 and 2017 major adjustments, to calculate the Adjusted Income Statement, include the following items considered
by the IVS management exceptional in nature:
a)

Depreciation and amortization amount to EUR 46,129 thousand (EUR 43,428 thousand in the previous year), of which
mainly EUR 6,346 thousand relate to amortization of intangible fixed assets and EUR 39,783 thousand relate to
depreciation of tangible fixed assets.
The consolidated cost for the purchase of raw materials amounting to EUR 103,697 thousand (EUR 98,439 thousand in
the previous year) amounted to a total of 23.9% of the total turnover (24.1% in the previous year). The increase by EUR
5,258 thousand is strictly related to the increase of the vending sales (with a slight decrease as in percentage on revenues
with respect to the prior year).
The consolidated cost of services amounted to EUR 43,625 thousand (net of EUR 583 thousand of non-recurring and
exceptional in nature items descibed in the APM section) and their incidence on revenues of 10.2%. This caption decrease
by EUR 204 thousand in comparison to the prior year (-0.5 percentage point on revenues).

12

27
Annual Report 2018 • Management Report

Service Cost: EUR 516 thousand related to taxes, notarial and legal fees, EUR 67 thousand related to due
diligence expenses related to the acquisition of subsidiaries and business units completed during the year ended
December 31st, 2018 (EUR 1,524 thousand for the year ended December 31st, 2017).
b) Personnel Cost: EUR 736 thousand related to the termination benefit and other related cost paid during the
reported period, large part of them consequentially to the acquisitions finalized in current and previous year (EUR
698 thousand for the year ended December 31st, 2017).
c) Other Operating income/expenses, net: for the year ended December 31st, 2018 the adjustment of EUR 977
thousand mainly includes:
i.
EUR 882 thousand for price adjustments related to acquisitions completed in previous years (EUR 813
thousand) and other correlated costs (EUR 69 thousand);
ii.
EUR 54 thousand related to customer’s indemnity for damage and cash shortfalls and losses, mainly
due to theft and robberies incurred during the period.
The adjustments made in the year ended December 31st, 2017 mainly included the following expenses:
i.
EUR 3,343 thousand related to the adjustment accrual of provision for risk and charges related to Italian
Antitrust Authority investigation;
ii. EUR 1,497 thousand for price adjustments related to acquisitions completed in previous years and other
correlated costs ;
iii. EUR 700 thousand related to the accrual of provision for risk in connection to Italian tax on share
purchase agreement finalized in previous years;
iv. EUR 27 thousand related to cash shortfalls and losses, mainly due to theft and robberies incurred during
the period.
d) Gains / (losses) from disposal of fixed assets, net: none (EUR 341 thousand for the year ended December
31st, 2017 mainly related to the sales of a building in Italy and to other disposal of equipment in Spain and in
Switzerland).
e) Financial income/(expenses), net: EUR 211 thousand related to interest on early reimbursment of a loan (EUR
3,044 thousand for the year 2017 related to the capital gain for the sale of Espresso Service Proximité S.A.).
f) Foreign exchange differences and variations in derivatives fair value, net: EUR 250 thousands related to
variations in derivatives contracts (opened and closed in the third quarter of year ended December 31st, 2018)
g) Income taxes: EUR 633 thousands reflect the tax effect of the above-mentioned adjustments (EUR 141
thousand for the year ended December 31st, 2017 which includes the negative effect of EUR 117 thousand to
reflect the tax effect of the adjustments and the positive impact of EUR 258 thousand related to change in
corporate tax rate in France from the year 2019).
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The consolidated personnel costs, including the costs of the service of loading vending machines, amount to EUR 115,259
thousand (net of EUR 736 thousand of non-recurring and exceptional in nature items mentioned in the APM caption), of
which EUR 70,167 thousand attributable to the main subsidiary IVS Italia S.p.A.. The personnel cost increased by EUR
5,907 thousand (+5.4%) compared with the same period of 2017, while the percentage on revenues decreased. The
increase is mostly related to the acquisitions finalized during the current and previous year (EUR 1,448 thousand of which
EUR 637 thousand, related Grup Ibervending, included in 2017 consolidated personnel costs since January 31st, 2017)
and to the additional cost occurred since January 2018 for the renewal of Italian Labor Contract (EUR 1,021 thousand).
The consolidated “Other operating income and expenses net” amount to EUR 77,384 thousand (net of EUR 977 thousand
of non-recurring and exceptional in nature items mentioned in the APM caption), and mainly composed of the vending
machines positioning fees (“redevances2”) paid to counterparties where the vending machines are installed (amounting to
EUR 57,455 thousand), taking advantage of available power and water supply, and the fuel cost of vehicles (EUR 6,173
thousand). The caption increased in 2018 by EUR 11,626 thousand, +17.7% with respect to the same period of 2017. The
variation is largely due to the increase of vending machines positioning fees (redevances) which increased from EUR
49,693 thousand to EUR 57,455 thousand as a consequence of (i) the growth of the vending machine numbers (ii) the
competitive environment on some particular cluster of clients (iii) renewal of some contracts in the healthcare sector in
North Italy occurred in 2017 (EUR 2,911 thousand) and (iv) new contracts entered with new public customers (EUR 1,746
thousand). We also reported an increase in fuel costs (EUR 646 thousand) mainly due to general variation of prices and
volumes.
With regard to the business combinations finalized in the year ended December 31st, 2018, the table below shows their
contribution to the Group Gross margin (from their date of acquisition and excluding the contribution of the business unit
leased by the Group since previous years, mentioned above):
(in thousands of Euro)
Number of Vends (thousand)
Vending Revenues
Cost of sales
Gross margin
Personnel Cost
Redevances
Total
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Italy
12,888
5,289
(2,042)
3,247
(335)
(301)
2,611

100%
(39%)
61%
(6%)
(6%)
49%

France
851
311
(104)
207
(92)
(11)
104

100%
(33%)
67%
(30%)
(4%)
33%

Total
13,739
5,600
(2,146)
3,454
(427)
(312)
2,715

100%
(38%)
62%
(8%)
(6%)
48%

The typical acquisition model adopted by the Group consists in (i) signing a preliminary agreement with an estimate
enterprise value of business acquired that put IVS Group in the position, (ii) managing the business unit until the final
closing date, to verify both the volume of turnover and the gross margin, and (iii) to adjust the consideration based upon
results of the performance measured. Such procedure ensures IVS to pay only the volumes and the margin received from
the business acquired, and allows IVS to extract synergies and efficiency measures on the business acquired only after
the expiring the 1-3 months verification period. In addition, (iv) at the end of an about twelve months period from the closing
date, the consideration will be subject to a second adjustment on the basis of the client churn rate registered in the business
unit acquired.

Alternative Performance Measures
The following reconciliations and definitions include measures which IVS Group uses to supplement its Consolidated
Financial Statements which are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by
EU (“IFRS”). Certain of these financial measures are, or may be, considered Alternative Performance Measures (“APMs”)
as defined by ESMA Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures. While IVS Group’s management believes that the
APMs herein are useful in evaluating IVS Group’s operating results, this information should be considered as supplemental
in nature and not as a substitute for the related financial information prepared in accordance with IFRS. Therefore, these
measures should not be viewed alone but together with the Consolidated Financial Statements prepared in accordance
with IFRS as of and for the year ended December 31st, 2018.
For a correct understanding of these APMs, note the following:
(i)
the APMs are based exclusively on the IVS Group historical data and are not indicative of the future
performance;

2

We name Redevance any costs, fees or expenses paid to exercise vending activity at third parties promises or spaces.
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(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

the APMs are not derived from the IFRS and, as they are derived from the Consolidated Financial Statements
prepared in conformity with these principles, they are not subject to audit;
the APMs are not derived from IFRS and therefore the definitions used in connections with might not be
standardized and comparable with those adopted by other companies/groups;
the APMs and definitions used herein are consistent and standardized for all the periods for which financial
information is included.

The APMs reported below have been identified and used in this Consolidated Financial Statements because the Group
believes that:
EBITDA and EBIT, respectively, are a useful indicator of our ability to incur and service our indebtedness
and can assist certain shareholders, certain investors, security analysts and other interested parties in
evaluating us;
EBITDA Adjusted and EBIT Adjusted are a relevant measure for assessing our performance because they
are adjusted for certain items which, we believe, are not indicative of our underlying operating performance
and thus aid in an understanding of EBITDA or EBIT;
Net profit/(loss) for the year Adjusted: is a relevant measure for assessing our performance because it is
adjusted for certain items which, we believe, are not indicative of our underlying operating performance and
thus aid in an understanding of Net profit/(loss) for the year;
Gross Margin: is a relevant measure for assessing the first margin of our vending business, gross of
redevances costs;
Net financial indebtedness and Net financial position: are relevant measures for assessing for the overall
level of our debit, the capital solidity and the capacity to repay the debt;
Total Net Revenues: is a useful indicator tipically used in the vending sector to show the revenues net of
redevance costs.

APMs (in thousand of Euro)
EBITDA
EBIT
EBITDA Adjusted
EBIT Adjusted
Net profit/(loss) for the year Adjusted
Gross Margin
Net financial indebtedness
Net financial position
Fixed Asset, net
Net Working Capital
Total Net Revenues

Notes
A
A
B
B
B
C
D
D
E
E
F

December 31st, 2018

91,076
44,947
93,369
47,240
26,253
330,660
(286,583)
(285,453)
606,978
(4,394)
376,901

December 31st, 2017

83,118
39,690
91,232
47,804
25,851
310,668
(256,549)
(254,067)
590,986
(33,833)
359,414

A) EBITDA and EBIT
These APMs are defined as follow:
EBIT: net operating income, calculated as the sum of the values pertaining to net profit, income taxes and
net financial expenses, net of net income from equity investments.
EBITDA: to the gross operating margin, calculated as the sum of the values pertaining to EBIT and
amortisation, depreciation and impairment.
Their reconciliation with the Consolidated Financial Statements is provided within the Adjusted Income Statements.
B) EBITDA Adjusted, EBIT Adjusted and Net Profit/(Loss) for the year Adjusted
EBITDA, EBIT and Net profit /(Loss) for the year in the adjusted configuration were determined by excluding certain items
considered by our management to be non-recurring and exceptional in nature.
Their reconciliation with the Consolidated Financial Statements is provided within the Adjusted Income Statements.
C) Gross Margin
This APM is defined as follow:
(in thousands of Euro)
Revenue from sales and services
Other revenues and income
Cost of raw materials, supplies and consumables
Gross Margin

December 31st, 2018
412,584
21,773
(103,697)
330,660

14

December 31st, 2017
393,677
15,430
(98,439)
310,668
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The APMs as of and for the years ended December 31st, 2018 and 2017 and their reconciliation with the Consolidated
Financial Statements are detailed below:
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D) Net Financial Indebtedness and Net Financial Position
These APMs are calculated as follow:
(in thousands of Euro)
Current Securities
Cash and cash equivalents
Derivatives

Short-term loans payable
Liabilities towards bond holders
Derivatives

Cash and current financial assets

Current financial debt

Medium/long term loans payable
Liabilities towards bond holders

Non-current financial debt
Net financial indebtedness

Other investments – fixed income
Non-current loans (financing)
Other non-current assets (financing)

Net financial position

E) Fixed Asset, net and Net Working Capital
These APMs are calculated as follow:
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(in thousands of Euro)
Fixed Assets, Net
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Property, plant and equipment
Equity Investments
Deferred tax assets
Other non-current assets - from others (IVS Italia)
Employee benefits
Provisions for risks and charges – non current
Provisions for risks and charges - current
Deferred tax liabilities
Net Working Capital
Inventories
Trade receivables
Tax assets
Other current assets
Trade payables
Tax liabilities
Other current liabilities
Other non-current liabilities

F) Total Net Revenues
This APM is calculated as follow:
(in thousands of Euro)
Total Revenues
Redevances
Total Net Revenues

December 31st, 2018
129
96,928
97,057
(101,617)
(612)
(102,229)
(43,736)
(237,675)
(281,411)
(286,583)
544
179
407
(285,453)

December 31st, 2017
1,440
79,090
80,530
(61,537)
(647)
(62,184)
(37,958)
(236,937)
(274,895)
(256,549)
607
1,488
387
(254,067)

December 31st, 2018
606,978
50,742
384,645
190,669
3,284
10,566
(8,838)
(1,076)
(124)
(22,890)

December 31st, 2017
590,986
47,132
379,430
181,634
2,469
9,959
917
(8,788)
(1,561)
(124)
(20,082)

(4,394)
36,210
28,591
376
26,270
(68,034)
(996)
(26,811)
-

(33,833)
31,888
26,056
1,405
24,991
(71,682)
(2,817)
(40,478)
(3,196)

December 31st, 2018
434,356
(57,455)
376,901

December 31st, 2017
409,107
(49,693)
359,414

In addition to these APMs, growth rates for revenues of our vending businesses may be presented and discussed on a
“LFL basis” or a “LFL and comparable Working Days basis”. The LFL growth rate measures growth excluding the effects
of disposal and acquisition of new businesses finalized during the last twelve months and including for the same number
of months the disposal and acquisition finalized during the correspondent period of previous year. The LFL and comparable
Working Days rate measures growth excluding from the LFL basis the effect of the change in working days.
The following tables provide reconciliations of reported growth rates of certain key figures to their respective “LFL basis”
and “LFL and comparable Working Days basis” growth rate:
Vending Revenues growth rate (year ended 2018 compared to year ended 2017)
Effect of Acquisitions /
Effect of change in
LFL Basis
Disposal
working days
5.8%
2.2%
3.5%
0.2%
0.3%
1.2%
(0.9%)
(0.2%)
1.6%
4.1%
(2.5%)
5.9%
24.6%
(18.7%)
(3.4%)
4.9%
2.6%
2.3%
0.1%

As reported
Italy
France
Spain
Switzerland
Total

15

LFL and comparable
Working Days basis
3.3%
(0.7%)
(2.5%)
(15.3%)
2.2%
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Vending business details
With regard to vending business, the table below shows the analysis for years ended December 31st, 2018 and 2017:

Sales (Euro thousand)
ASP (Euro cent)
Vends (Thousand)
Vends for W.days (Thous.)

Italy
2018
2017
321,239 303,750
47.56
46.96
675,499 646,782
2,826
2,711

Δ% Sales
Total
LFL Basis
LFL Basis per W.Days
Δ% Vends
Total
LFL Basis
LFL Basis per W.Days
Working Days
Dic. 31st, 2018
Dic. 31st, 2017
Variation

Italy

5.8%
3.5%
3.3%
Italy
4.4%
1.8%
1.6%
Italy
239.0
238.5
0.5

France
2018
2017
25,672
25,602
49.82
48.51
51,525
52,778
218
222

France

0.3%
(0.9%)
(0.7%)
France
(2.4%)
(4.0%)
(3.8%)
France
236.8
237.3
(0.5)

Spain
2018
2017
45,697
44,977
44.46
44.35
102,790
101,420
447
441

Spain

Switzerland
2018
2017
3,243
3,062
72.28
79.89
4,487
3,833
19
15

Switzerland

1.6%
(2.5%)
(2.5%)
Spain
1.4%
(2.9%)
(2.9%)
Spain
230.0
230.0
-

5.9%
(18.7%)
(15.3%)
Switzerland
17.1%
(11.2%)
(7.4%)
Switzerland
239.0
249.0
(10.0)

Total
2018
2017
395,851 377,391
47.45
46.89
834,301 804,813
3,510
3,389

Total

4.9%
2.3%
2.2%
Total
3.7%
0.8%
0.6%
Total
237.7
237.4
0.3

With respect to correspondent period of previous year, on like for like basis3 (“LFL basis”) and offsetting the change on
working days, we register in Italy a positive variation in sales (+3.3%) and in volumes (+1.6%), partially due to also the
increase of OCS volumes.

The performance registered by French operations on LFL basis and offsetting the change on working days (-0.7% in sales
and -3.8% in volumes) is mainly affected by the strikes occurred in the period and by reduction of OCS volumes, especially
in the Parisienne region (-4.6% on LFL basis), combined with a decrease in automatic vending machines volumes (-3.6%),
only partially offset by the increase in average sales price (+2.7%).
France EBITDA margin, net of headquarter charges, decreases of around 0.8 p.p., due to a slight increase of total revenues
(EUR 430 thousand) compared with the year 2017, only partially mitigated by an improvement of incidence of raw material
cost (-2.1 p.p. on total revenue). In addition the French CGU shows an increase of incidence of other costs on total revenue
(+3.9 p.p.) mainly due to the redevances that increased of EUR 480 thousand, or +21.6% compared with the previous
year and to service costs that increased of EUR 392 thousand, or +10.6% (+0.9 p.p. on the revenues) as compared with
2017 and due to the Lione’s Crouse operations, part of which are not recurring.
Vending Business - Quarters Performances
(thousands of Euro)
Vends
Total revenues
Operating costs
Ebitda Adjusted
Other non-recurring income/(expenses)
Ebitda
Depreciation and amortisation
Ebit

2018
Thousands
%
213,366
103,255
100.0%
(80,083)
(77.6%)
23,172
22.4%
(899)
(0.9%)
22,273
21.6%
(11,085)
(10.7%)
11,188
10.8%

Vends
Total revenues
Operating costs
Ebitda Adjusted
Other non-recurring income/(expenses)
Ebitda
Depreciation and amortisation
Ebit

2018
Thousands
190,878
98,478
(79,734)
18,744
(437)
18,307
(10,619)
7,688

%
100.0%
(81.0%)
19.0%
(0.4%)
18.6%
(10.8%)
7.8%

First Quarter
2017
Thousands
%
204,718
97,268
100.0%
(74,911)
(77.0%)
22,357
23.0%
(1,039)
(1.1%)
21,318
21.9%
(10,384)
(10.7%)
10,934
11.2%
Third Quarter
2017
Thousands
%
185,453
92,862
100.0%
(74,495)
(80.2%)
18,367
19.8%
(394)
(0.4%)
17,973
19.4%
(11,150)
(12.0%)
6,823
7.3%

Variation
Thousands
%
8,648
4.2%
5,987
6.2%
(5,172)
6.9%
815
3.6%
140
(13.5%)
955
4.5%
(701)
6.8%
254
2.3%

2018
Thousands
215,303
107,117
(82,893)
24,224
(461)
23,763
(10,312)
13,451

Variation
Thousands
5,425
5,616
(5,239)
377
(43)
334
531
865

2018
Thousands
214,756
108,092
(86,083)
22,009
(450)
21,559
(12,687)
8,872

%
2.9%
6.0%
7.0%
2.1%
10.9%
1.9%
(4.8%)
12.7%

%
100.0%
(77.4%)
22.6%
(0.4%)
22.2%
(9.6%)
12.6%
%
100.0%
(79.6%)
20.4%
(0.4%)
19.9%
(11.7%)
8.2%

Second Quarter
2017
Thousands
%
207,320
101,301
100.0%
(77,712)
(76.7%)
23,589
23.3%
(4,310)
(4.3%)
19,279
19.0%
(10,349)
(10.2%)
8,930
8.8%
Fourth Quarter
2017
Thousands
%
207,322
101,299
100.0%
(79,772)
(78.7%)
21,527
21.3%
(2,268)
(2.2%)
19,259
19.0%
(10,362)
(10.2%)
8,897
8.8%

Variation
Thousands
7,983
5,816
(5,181)
635
3,849
4,484
37
4,521

%
3.9%
5.7%
6.7%
2.7%
(89.3%)
23.3%
(0.4%)
50.6%

Variation
Thousands
7,434
(6.793)
(6,331)
482
1,818
2,300
(2,325)
(25)

%
3.6%
6.7%
7.9%
2.2%
(80.2%)
11.9%
22.4%
(0.3%)

3 Excluding the effects of disposal and acquisition of new businesses finalized during the last twelve months and including for the same number of months the disposal and acquisition finalized during the correspondent
period of previous year
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IVS Group S.A. and IVS Italia S.p.A. usually charge management and royalties fees to the other companies: in particular
service cost of operation of French, Spanish, Coin and Swiss include, respectively, EUR 1,399 thousand, EUR 2,438
thousand, EUR 83 thousand and EUR 45 thousand for these corporate services.
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Coin Service business
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Coin Service CGU sales increased in 2018 from EUR 19,173 Coin Division (thousands of Euro) Dec. 31st, 2018 Dec.31st, 2017
22,720
19,173
thousand to EUR 22,720 thousand, +18.5% compared to 2017, Total revenues
costs
(17,500)
(13,781)
whilst EBITDA Adjusted slightly declined, from EUR 5,392 to EUR Operating
Ebitda Adjusted
5,220
5,392
5,220 thousand (-3.2%).
Income/(expenses) non-recurr. and
(46)
(103)
More in detail, the metal coins business sales grew from EUR except. in nature
EBITDA
5,174
5,289
18,137 thousand to EUR 18,832 thousand (+3.8%) as well as the % Ebitda Adj /Total Revenues
23%
28%
related EBITDA Adjusted from EUR 4,896 thousand to EUR 5,203 Depreciation and amortisation
(1,427)
(1,183)
3,747
4,106
thousand (+6.3%), with an EBITDA margin increase from 27% to Ebit
%Ebit/ Total Revenues
16%
21%
27.6%. These excellent results were driven from both new clients
and contracts awarded and internal efficiencies.
The most relevant portion of the sale increase and the overall margin reduction of the CGU is due to the launch of the new
business managed by the subsidiary Venpay S.p.A., started on February 2018, and related to the development of new
telemetry systems for the vending industry based on the same digital infrastructure of CoffecApp™. Overall, the digital
money business sales increased from around EUR 1,080 to EUR 3,620 thousand, whilst EBITDA worsened, from positive
EUR +275 thousand to negative EUR -262 thousand. In particular, the business related to the management of payments
on POS connected to the vending machines, which already existed in the year 2017 and was the sole operating one within
Venpay S.p.A., saw a significant decrease in the level of the tariffs applied (to all of the clients, either intra or extra group),
due to the price list realignment to the market average, that led to a significant decrease of sales (from EUR 1,080
thousand to EUR 407 thousand ) and EBITDA (from EUR 275 thousand to EUR 18 thousand). On the other hand, the new
activities on the App developed by Venpay S.p.A. after the acquisition of the BitX business and people team (at the end
of 2017) related to the new telemetry systems, showed an immediate good level of sales (although still mostly intra group)
which reached EUR 3,212 thousand in 2018 from nihil in 2017. The margins of this newly started business were negative
(approximately EUR -280 thousand), as the launch was based on lower starting prices applied to the initial
clients. However, although reporting a negative margin on a stand-alone basis, the new business is already contributing
significantly to the profits and to the strategic development of IVS Group core vending business.
In fact, CoffecApp™ downloads as of December 31st, 2018 were around 190 thousand, with a constant growth, driven by
the increasing number of the apps installed on the network of vending machines. The app’s stable users grew at more
than 40 thousand; CoffecApp™ is installed on around 20 thousand vending machines across Europe. Monthly sales made
using the app in December 2018 jumped to more than EUR 257 thousand (EUR 76 thousand in the year 2017), of which
76% using CoffecApp™ wallet and 24% using App as credit card wallet. Each CoffecApp™ users spent in average around
EUR 6,78 per month in 2018. The technical and R&D investments made in this area represent a significant effort for IVS
but also a potentially very strong competitive advantage: the increasing digitalization on the vending machines (telemetry
and payment systems, touch screens, etc.) will enhance the group's possibility to develop a new CRM-Client Relationship
Management system much closer to final consumers. IVS growing capacity and experience in this field has already raised
the interest of major international players, in the payments business as well as in the food & beverage sector, that have
selected IVS Group as a qualified partner for commercial joint ventures and other direct marketing campaigns.
(thousands of Euro)
Total revenues
Operating costs
Ebitda Adjusted
Income/(expenses) non-recurr. and except. in nature
EBITDA
% Ebitda Adj /Total Revenues
Depreciation and amortisation
Ebit
%Ebit/ Total Revenues

First Quarter
2018
2017
5,146
4,498
(3,952) (3,225)
1,194
1,273
1
1,195
1,273
23.2%
28.3%
(340)
(265)
855
1,008
16.6%
22.4%

Second Quarter
2018
2017
5,995
5,038
(4,575)
(3,368)
1,420
1,670
1,420
1,670
23.7%
33.1%
(314)
(276)
1,106
1,394
18.4%
27.7%

Third Quarter
2018
2017
5,736
4,865
(4,420) (3,389)
1,316
1,476
(29)
(27)
1,287
1,449
22.4%
30.3%
(368)
(290)
919
1,159
16.0%
23.8%

Fourth Quarter
2018
2017
5,843
4,772
(4,554) (3,799)
1,289
973
(18)
(76)
1,271
897
22.1%
20.4%
(404)
(352)
867
545
14.8%
11.4%

Financials cost, net
The financial income and expenses for the year ended December 31st, 2018, net of EUR 211 thousand of non-recurring
and exceptional in nature expenses (EUR 2,991 thousand of non-recurring and exceptional in nature income for the year
ended December 31st, 2017) are aligned with the corresponding period of previous year and amount to EUR 13,031 (EUR
13,626 thousand in the corresponding period of previous year). They are mainly attributable to the interests on the senior
unsecure notes due 2022 (having a fixed interest rate of 4.50% per annum) and the interests on the bank loans signed
during the previous and current year.
Moreover, as described more in detail in Note 36, the increase of net finance costs is principally due to lower income bank
17
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interests accrued by Coin Division compared to the previous year.

Italian VAT credit
In the year ended December 31st, 2018, the Italian VAT increasd of EUR 788 thousand leading to a consolidated VAT
credit of EUR 13,582 as of December 31st, 2018 (EUR 12,671 thousand at December 31st, 2017).

Investments
During the period, the principal investments carried out by Group companies regarded the purchase of assets to be used
in the exercise of its commercial activities: vending machines, token dispensers and payment systems, motor vehicles and
trucks; these investments were made to upgrade and renew the existing machinery and equipment in order to meet
customers’ changing requirements, improve customer service and, accordingly, strengthen and develop the Group’s
position in its relevant market.
(in thousands of Euro)

Operative Capex
Vending machines and payment systems
of which refurbished
Vehicles
Other Assets
Total Operative Capex
% on Total Revenue
Extraordinary Capex
Bulding nespresso
Acquisitions (Assets, GW, PPA)
Total Extraordinary Capex
Total Capex

1Q2018

2Q2018

3Q2018

4Q2018

Tot.2018

1Q2017

2Q2017

3Q2017

4Q2017

Tot.2017

9,387
2,426
1,604
1,313
12,304
11.5%

10,884
2,565
1,041
1,007
12,932
11.6%

8,281
2,103
1,487
1,086
10,854
10.6%

11,592
2,502
1,746
1,119
14,457
12.8%

40,144
9,596
5,878
4,525
50,547
11.6%

8,074
2,407
1,315
1,846
11,235
11.1%

9,296
2,583
1,562
1,771
12,629
12.0%

9,282
1,846
1,155
1,389
11,826
12.2%

11,424
2,420
1,633
1,243
14,300
13.6%

38,076
9,256
5,665
6,249
49,990
12.2%

7,766
7,766

2,762
2,762

3,275
3,275

2,603
2,603

16,406
16,406

1,015
32,384
33,399

16
1,880
1,896

12
487
499

10
2,664
2,674

1,053
37,415
38,468

20,070

15,694

14,129

17,060

66,953

44,634

14,525

12,325

16,974

88,458

The Group is focused on capex optimization to adequate the purchase to the normal vending machine and vehicle life
cycle. Refurbishment plants are giving a big opportunity to achieve this target, especially in acquired branch consolidation
and exploitation process.
The Group launched in the second part of the year 2015 an investment program based on special line of new freestanding
coffee vending machine equipped with vacuum system. For the year ended December 31st, 2017 the Group completed
the vacuum equipped vending machines gamma with a combined table-top machines and half spiral windowed machine.
Furthermore, also during the year 2018, IVS Group continues to invest in new models of vending machines equipped with
table top, touch screen and vacuum system, focused also to increase the interactivity with them. This additional investment
is also functional to the exploit of the benefit arising from Industry 4.0 decree. During the year 2018 IVS invested EUR 15
million for this new equipped vending machines with a tax benefit of EUR 407 (the total 2018 tax benefit amount to EUR
1,035 thousand considering 2017 and 2018 investments).
In the last quarter of 2018 the increase in the capex on vehicles is mainly due to the tax benefit for by the Italian Tax
Authority on investments Superammortamento, ended on December 31st 2018.
Furthermore during the year 2018, IVS Group paid EUR 17,760 thousand for acquiring new business units (of which EUR
11,435 thousand for current year acquisition).
Furthermore, IVS Group paid EUR 51,171 thousand for equipment acquired and in the fourth quarter paid in advance
around EUR 3,700 thousand to some supplier of capex, in order to make the corresponding investments of 2019 fiscally
eligible as well.

Principal equity, financial and earnings ratios
The IVS Group reported in the year ended December 31st, 2018 with a net profit attributable to owners of the parent
company of EUR 23,232 thousand and with a consolidated shareholders' equity attributable to the owner of the parent of
EUR 307,387 thousand, (+4.3% compared to December 31st, 2017). In addition, as of December 31st, 2018, the Group
shows a net financial position of EUR 285,453 thousand (-12.4% compared to December 31st, 2017).
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(in thousands of Euro)
Fixed Assets, Net
Net Working Capital
Net Invested Capital
Net financial position
Total Shareholders' equity

December 31st, 2018
606,978
(4,394)
602,584
(285,453)
317,131

December 31st, 2017
590,986
(33,833)
557,153
(254,067)
303,086

Employees
As of December 31st, 2018, our Group employed 2,799 workers (of which approximately 1,675 dedicated to restocking,
providing technical assistance and customer care). Restocking and related logistics represent the function with the highest
number of employees, followed by technicians, hardware revamping factories, hardware logistics and management, sales
and finance.
The following table shows a breakdown of our Group companies’ employees by category as of the periods indicated.
December 31st,2018
3
43
668
2,067
18
2,799

(numbers of employees)
Executives
Managers
Employees
Workers
Trainees
Total

December 31st,2017
3
38
652
2,008
5
2,706

There are no particular conflicts related to employee management, and relationships with the trade unions are marked by
fairness and constructive dialogue.
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Non-Financial and Diversity Information
The Law of July 23rd, 2016 on the disclosure of non-financial and diversity information applicable to IVS Group was
published on 4th, August 2016: it implements Directive 2014/95/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of
October 22nd, 2014 amending Directive 2013/34/EU (the “Accounting Directive”) as regards disclosure of non-financial and
diversity information. The purpose of this law is to increase EU companies’ transparency and performance in respect of
environmental and social matters. This law introduces mandatory disclosures in the management report or in a separate
report on the policies, the outcomes of those policies and the related risks with respect to social and environmental issues,
human resources, respect for human rights, anti-corruption and bribery matters as well as the diversity applied in relation
to our management and supervisory bodies.
IVS Group discloses this information related to the year ended December 31st, 2018 with a separate report called
Sustainability Report 2018, approved by the board of director of March 19th, 2019 and published on its website.
Sustainability Report 2017 represents the first consolidated non-financial statement of the companies belonging to the
group established by IVS Group S.A. and its subsidiaries drafted with the objective of fulfilling the obligations set out in
Law of July 23rd, 2016, published in Mémorial A, with which Luxembourg acknowledged European Directive 2014/95/EU.
The contents and indicators in the Report are selected on the basis of a materiality analysis on ESG topics, which allowed
us to identify the significant areas for the Group and its stakeholders, taking into consideration the “Guidelines on nonfinancial reporting” of the European Commission, as suggested by the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier
(CSSF). Moreover, the contents of the Sustainability Report have been prepared in accordance with the “GRI Sustainability
Reporting Standards”, published in 2016 by the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI), according to a “Core” option.
Although it is not required by Luxembourg law, IVS Group decided, on a voluntary basis, to subject the Sustainability
Report 2018 to a limited assurance engagement by Deloitte & Touche S.p.A. (according to the criteria set out by the ISAE
3000 Revised).

Research and Development
Walky-cups vending machines project is in the “on field” test. The Group is performing test in Paris and in Rome. The
results show significant benefit in term of significant growth of average price and commercial margins.
CoffecApp™ evolutions and function improvement, as well telemetry infrastructure and service was improved by R&D
Venay S.p.A. department during the year 2018. The good level of telemetry service and marketing opportunity activated
by CoffeecApp allows Venpay to archive a significant increase of revenues during the last quarter of the year 2018.
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CoffecApp™ allow to build mobile wallet balance with coins and small size banknotes introduced in vending machines
change mechanism, to exploit this unique characteristic of CoffecApp™ wallet the Group signed in December 2018 a
contract to acquire Moneynet S.p.A. from Nexi S.p.A.. Moneynet is a Payment Institution, licensed by Banca d’Italia under
ECB circuit and it is authorized to manage payment under DSP2 rule. The acquisition is conditioned to the Banca d’Italia
approval. As well Moneynet will became part of IVS, the Group will be able to enable payment of third party services
through the app on its vending machines park, such as mobile phone recharge, postal bills, pay-pall accounts, games,
etc..
Our research and development are concentrated at our operational headquarters in Seriate and in Venpay S.p.A. premises
in Trezzo sull’Adda, Italy.

Related party transactions
The transactions with related parties shown in the Consolidated Financial Statements regarded the associated companies
and other related parties as defined by IAS 24.
The operations with related parties were carried out for the purposes of consolidating existing synergies within the Group
in terms of production, commercial and logistics integration, of the efficient use of expertise and skills and streamlining of
centralized structures and of financial resources. All transactions with related parties, both those related to the exchange
of goods and services and those of a financial nature, take place at normal market conditions.
No atypical or unusual transactions not described in this report and/or in the explanatory notes took place during the year.
Transactions with subsidiaries and associates
Transactions with subsidiaries and with associates are of a trading nature (exchange of goods and/or services, such as
management fees, fees and consideration for services, rental/leasing charges) and a financial nature.
In November 2015, IVS Group S.A. granted a loan to IVS Italia S.p.A. of EUR 234,000 thousand indexed to fix rate of
4.65% that will be used by IVS Italia S.p.A. to refinance its former intercompany indebtedness.

Own shares and shares/quotas in parent companies
IVS Group S.A. holds (as of December 31st, 2018) 2,130,024 treasury shares deriving from the redemption of certain
shareholders in connection with the Merger of 2012 (those shares were redeemed at the price - determined in accordance
with the statutory provisions of Italy1 Investment S.A. - of EUR 9.9157 each) and from buyback program started on August
2013 (128,022 shares acquired for a consideration of EUR 954 thousand in previous years).
Further information
No loans were granted or guarantees given to the members of the Board of Directors or of other organs of the Group
during the financial year, nor are any shown to be in existence at the end thereof.

Principal Risks and uncertainties
Risk management (which involves management of internal and external, social, industrial, political and financial risks) is
an integrated part of the Group’s growth strategy and is essential to the on-going development of its corporate governance
system. Its aim is to protect both stakeholders (employees, customers, suppliers and shareholders) and the Group’s assets
by improving codes of conduct.
General and business Risks
The Group constantly monitors its financial risks in order to assess in advance the potential effects thereof and undertake
the necessary actions to mitigate or offset them.
Our business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected by the current unfavorable economic
conditions in our primary markets of Italy, France, Spain and Switzerland by market perceptions concerning Italy in
particular.
The global financial and credit markets continue to be volatile in many markets and non-financial sectors of the world
economy have also suffered in recent years, resulting in a general contraction in consumer spending that varies by market.
The international crisis, unprecedented in its scope and rapid spread, has steadily damaged the global economy in the
last few years and constituted a risk for the Group. This difficult situation was worsened by the financial scenario
characterized by rising uncertainty and a rigidity which has made it very difficult to operate.

20

35
Annual Report 2018 • Management Report

Transactions with other related parties
Transactions with other related parties are mainly of a commercial nature and mostly consist of exchange of goods and/or
services, such as fees and consideration for services, rental/leasing charges, etc.
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The Group has faced this situation by adjusting its equity and financial structure and introducing policies to contain costs,
rethink its commercial policies and increase prices. The effects of the crisis would seem to be more or less stabilized,
although demand continues to fluctuate.
The food and beverage industry is highly regulated and our business could be materially adversely affected by changes
in governmental regulation and legislation or by associated compliance costs. Moreover, failure to comply with
governmental regulations could result in the imposition of fines or restrictions on operations and remedial liabilities.
The restrictions placed in the past on the French market in relation to vending machines in schools may become more
widespread, even in Italy. Some discussions on this matter took place during the second part of the year 2015 and are
now generally silent. However such restrictions could require us to stock less profitable products in our vending machines
and/or products that are less appealing to consumers and generate less revenue. If this were to occur in Italy or Spain,
then it may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Environment law changes related to the plastic package could significantly affect vending industry, not necessary in
negative versus, but it will be a consequence of the final solution adopted by the legislators.
We could be forced to lose profits from selling mineral water through vending machines, especially in Italy, due to an
increase in cost of glasses if those items should be substituted with their compostable or paper substitutes.
IVS Group, through relevant vending operators associations in all major country in which IVS Group operates, is managing
the matter, proposing an optimal solution to minimize the plastic impact, preserving the business profitability, customers
satisfaction and service levels.

Annual Report 2018 • Management Report

36

We operate in highly competitive industries, and if we do not compete effectively, we may lose market share or be unable
to maintain or increase prices for our services.
We face constraints on our ability to increase prices in response to competitive pressures or otherwise. Additionally,
increasing operating costs, including redevance cost arrangements with certain customers, may offset improvements on
margins that rising prices might otherwise produce.
Our Coin Service Business involves the movement of large sums of money, and, as a result, our business is particularly
dependent on our ability to process and settle transactions securely, accurately, and efficiently.
Our Coin Service Business, which represented approximately 4.0% of our revenue for the year ended December 31st,
2018, requires the effective transfer of large sums of money between many different locations. In the year ended December
31st, 2018, we performed coin management, including collection, packaging and delivery for approximately Euro 3,000
million equivalent in coins from both our vending machines and for a variety of third-party customers, including banks,
large retailers, parking and vending operators, train and highway stations ticket offices and public authorities. Because we
are responsible for large sums of money that are substantially greater than the revenue generated, the success of our
business particularly depends upon the efficient, secure, and error-free handling of the money. We rely on the ability of
our employees and our operating systems and network to process these transactions in a secure, efficient, uninterrupted
and error-free manner. Transportation of large sums of money also exposes us to the risk of loss or theft. In the event of
a breakdown, catastrophic event, security breach, improper operation or any other event impacting our systems or network
or our vendors’ systems or processes, or improper actions taken by employees, or third parties, we could suffer financial
loss, loss of consumers or the sums entrusted to us, damage to our reputation.
Our operations could be adversely affected if we are unable to retain key employees.
We may face labor disruptions that could interfere with our operations and have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
We currently employ 2,206 employees in Italy (of which 197 in Coin division) and 593 employees in France, Spain and
Switzerland. In the past, we have been involved in certain labour disputes related to collective dismissals and wage
disputes.
Although management believes that its relationship with employees is generally good, there can be no assurance that
there will not be labour disputes and/or adverse employee relations in the future. Disruptions of business operations due
to strikes or similar measures by our employees or the employees or any of our significant suppliers could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations
The concentration of credit risk of a commercial nature is limited given its vast and diversified customer base. For this
reason, the current provisions for bad and doubtful accounts are considered to be adequate.
Financial Risks
In conducting its business, the IVS Group is exposed to various financial risks, including, in particular, the interest rate
fluctuations, the credit risk and the liquidity risk. Financial risk management is the responsibility of the Parent Treasury
Department, which, together with the Group’s CFO, evaluates all the company’s main financial transactions and the related
21
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risk management policies. The Group did not make any investments in non-current financial assets or in current financial
assets (shares, bonds or other securities of unapproved counterparties) such as to require particular prudence on how to
measure the impact the economic recession and collapse of the financial markets in having thereon.
Credit risk
We are exposed to credit risk related to our customers who may cause us to make larger allowances for doubtful trade
receivables or incur write-offs related to impaired receivables.
Trade receivables are mainly generated from sales hot beverage single-use drink pods (mostly coffee), cups and stirrers
which we provide to our Office Coffee Services customers and typically invoice our customers at the time of each delivery.
Although we review the credit risk related to our customers regularly, such risks may be exacerbated by events or
circumstances that are inherently difficult to anticipate or control. While many customers pay their receivables within 30 to
60 days, we experienced a decrease of 2% of trade receivables that are overdue by 91 days from 2017 to 2018, following
a decrease of 5% from 2016 to 2017. Our allowance for impairment was EUR 1,566 thousand as of December 31st, 2018,
representing approximately 5.3% of our gross trade receivables. The amount of our provision for bad debts is based on
our assessment of historical collection trends, business and economic conditions and other collection indicators.
If the macroeconomic conditions in Italy, France, Spain and Switzerland deteriorate, we cannot assure that we will not
have to increase our provisions for impaired debts relating to debts owed to us, which could have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Interest rate risk
This is the risk related to future cash flows from financing operations at floating interest rates. A change in interest rates
affects the fair value of floating rate financial assets and liabilities and may impact a company’s future results.
At the reporting date, the 79% of all the Group’s financial liabilities (without considering current liabilities of Coin division
to customers for coins picked-up and lodged in the company's coin counting rooms) is subject to fix rate (4.5%); the
remaining 21% of financial liabilities bear interest at floating or indexed rates.
The Group is also exposed to the following non-financial risks:
Legal and Fiscal risks
IVS Group is exposed to risks arising from the failure to rapidly comply with changing laws and new regulations in the
sectors and markets in which it operates. To mitigate this risk the Group stays abreast of relevant regulations, with the
assistance of outside consultants, where necessary. The management periodically monitors the progress of existing and
potential litigations and determines the most appropriate steps to take in managing them, and ensures the appropriate
assessments or impairment losses in connection with such risks and their effects on the income statement.
While not constituting a risk in itself, we would point out that IVS Group S.A. has registered offices in Luxembourg, while
its operational headquarters and centre of main operations are located in Italy. Consequently, in accordance with the
prevailing OECD doctrine, the directors believe that the Company is resident for fiscal purposes in Italy. The Company
has therefore presented a request for interpretation to the Italian tax authorities (Agenzia delle Entrate – Direzione Centrale
Normativa) regarding the application of the regulations contained in Article 83, D.P.R. No. 917 of December 22nd, 986 and
by Article 1, Legislative Decree No. 201 of December 6th, 2011. Received the answer from the Italian tax authorities, the
company decided to calculate its tax charge in accordance with Italian tax legislation applicable to Italian resident
companies.
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Liquidity risk
This is the risk that the Group will not be able to generate sufficient cash flows from its operations to cover investments
and third party debt. Each group company is free to negotiate credit facilities (in accordance with corporate management)
and to agree diversified sources of funding (e.g., loans, finance leases, bank credit facilities, etc.) as long as the
maintenance covenants of the 4.5% Senior Unsecured Notes are respected.
Although the current bank credit facilities are sufficient to meet its requirements (unused bank credit facilities for EUR 9.8
milion and undrawn medium-term loan for EUR 160.0 million ad December 31st, 2018), given the operating limit agreed
with the banks that provided the senior loan, the Group's aim is to have a debt level which enables it to balance average
loan repayments with flexible and diversified sources of funding.
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Shares issued
IVS Group S.A. issued share capital is set at EUR 363,558 represented by 38,952,491 shares (the “Shares”) in registered
form, without indication of a nominal value, all subscribed and fully paid-up, as set out in the table below:
Class of Shares
Ordinary Share

Numbers of Shares
38,952,491

% of total
100.00%

IVS Group S.A. thus currently has 38,952,491 Shares with voting rights attached in issue.
All the Shares are listed on the regulated market of the Milan Stock Exchange (ticker: IVS).
Each Share entitles the holder thereof to one vote.
All Shares carry equal rights as provided for by Luxembourg law and as set forth in the Articles including rights to receive
dividends (if declared) or liquidation proceeds.
The Articles do not provide for any voting restrictions. There are no special control rights attaching to any of the Shares.
As at the date of this management report all of the Shares are in principle freely transferable.
The details of shareholders holding 5% of the Shares or more as notified to the company are published under
“Shareholders’ Structure” on the “Investor Relations” page at www.ivsgroup.lu .
The current major shareholders known to the Company is IVS Partecipazioni S.p.A. with No. 23,068,739 shares (59.22%).
IVS Group S.A. holds (as of December 31st, 2018) 2,130,024 treasury shares deriving from (i) the redemption of certain
shareholders in connection with the Merger of 2012 (those shares were redeemed at the price - determined in accordance
with the statutory provisions of Italy1 Investment S.A - of EUR 9.9157 each) and (ii) the buyback program.

Corporate governance
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The appointment and replacement of board members are governed by Luxembourg law and article 8 of the Articles. The
Articles may be amended in accordance with Luxembourg law and article 11 of the Articles, which means that unless
provided otherwise in the Articles, these Articles may be amended by a majority of at least two thirds (2/3) of the votes
validly cast at a general meeting of shareholders at which a quorum of more than half of the Company’s share capital is
present or represented. If no quorum is reached in a general meeting of shareholders, a second general meeting of
shareholders may be convened in accordance with the provisions of Article 9 of the Articles which may deliberate
regardless of the quorum and at which resolutions are adopted at a majority of a least two thirds (2/3) of the votes validly
cast. Abstentions and nil votes shall not be taken into account.
Moreover the Articles provide for an authorized share capital of the Company of Eur 150,000,000 with possible limitation
or cancellation of preferential subscription rights within a time span of five years.
The board of directors is vested with the broadest powers to take any actions necessary or useful to fulfil the company’s
corporate object, with the exception of the actions reserved by law or by regulation or the Articles to the general meeting
of shareholders.
At the date of this report, the Board of Directors consisted of eleven directors, four of whom are executive directors, four
of whom are non-executive directors, three non-executive independent directors. Their terms are set to expire, as per
resolution adopted by the annual general meeting of shareholders’ on May 8th, 2018, on the annual general meeting
resolving on the accounts for the financial year ending on December 31st, 2020.
The executive directors are Paolo Covre, Massimo Paravisi, Antonio Tartaro and Adriana Cerea.
In particular, members of the Board of Directors are
 Paolo Covre, Chairman;
 Vito Gamberale, deputy chairman;
 Maurizio Traglio, Monica Cerea and Mariella Trapletti, non-executive directors
 Massimo Paravisi and Antonio Tartaro, co-Chief Executive Officer (CEO);
 Adriana Cerea, executive director;
 Carlo Salvatori, Luigi De Puppi and Raffaele Agrusti, independent board members;
 the two co-CEO, Massimo Paravisi and Antonio Tartaro, are granted all powers of ordinary and extraordinary
administration, along with the associated powers of representation, to be exercised separately between them and
with single signing authority within certain amount limits, with combined signing without any limits, along with the
power to delegate third parties, separately between them, to hold the powers of ordinary and extraordinary
administration conferred upon them by issuing special powers of attorney;
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Luigi De Puppi, Carlo Salvatori and Raffaele Agrusti are also members of the Audit and Risk Committee and of
the Appointment and Remuneration Committee;

Chief Financial Officer of the Group is Mr. Alessandro Moro.
For more detailed information on the Company’s corporate governance please refer to the separate Report on Corporate
Governance for the year 2018.

Internal control system
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The Board of Directors is liable and responsible for the internal control of the Company.
The Board shall define the guidelines for the internal control and the management of the business risks and periodically
verify their adequacy and effective operations with the cooperation of the Audit and Risk Committee.
The Board of Directors, with the assistance of the Audit and Risk Committee:
a. defines the guidelines of the internal control system, so that the main risks concerning the Company and its
subsidiaries are correctly identified, as well as adequately measured, managed and monitored, determining,
moreover, the criteria for determining whether such risks are compatible with a sound correct management of the
Company;
b. identifies an executive director (usually, one of the managing directors) for supervising the functionality of the
internal control system;
c. evaluates, on an annual basis, the adequacy, effectiveness and actual functioning of the internal control system;
d. describes, in the report on corporate governance, the essential elements of the internal control system, expressing
its evaluation on the overall adequacy of the same.
The Audit and Risk Committee meets on a regular basis and is responsible for ensuring the adequacy of the Company
procedures with respect to efficiency and effectiveness and guaranteeing the reliability and the correctness of the financial
information in compliance with the law in force. The meetings of the Audit and Risk Committee shall be transcribed and
placed on record by the secretary designated by the said Committee. Moreover, the Audit and Risk Committee is in charge
of (i) supporting the Board of Directors in its activities which of ensuring that the principal corporate risks are identified,
managed and monitored adequately, and supervising the audit function’s implementation of the guidelines issued by the
Board; (ii) analyzing the guidelines and assessing the annual audit plan prepared by the audit, receiving periodical reports,
and if necessary may ask for specific audits to be conducted outside of the annual audit plan; and (iii) examining the criteria
and methods adopted for choosing an Auditing Firm and inspecting its work and the results set out in the report(s) and
letter(s) of recommendation, if any. The Audit and Risk Committee systematically (and in any event at least every six
months in occasion of the approval of the half-year report and of the yearly accounts) reports to the Board of Directors on
the activities carried out as well as on the adequacy of the internal control system.
The Audit and Risk Committee has powers and functions equivalent to those set forth by Luxembourg law of December
18th, 2009.
Compliance with Legislative Decree No. 231 of 8th June 2001 Legislative Decree No. 231 of 8 June 2001 (hereinafter
‘Decree 231’) established administrative liability for companies and entities as a result of certain crimes set forth in the
Italian Criminal Code (such as crimes against the public administration, corporate crimes, market abuse, etc.) incurred and
prosecutable in Italy by persons in senior positions or other employees in the interests or for the benefit of that company
or entity.
However, Decree 231 provides for a specific form of exemption from such liability if the company or entity has:
 adopted and effectively implemented an appropriate compliance program that aims to develop an inherently
coherent system of procedures, rules and controls to be conducted both in advance and after the fact in order to
reduce
 and prevent the risk of commission of the various types of crimes to a material extent, in particular by identifying
and drafting a procedure for each of the sensitive activities identified as most at risk of crime as set out in the
Italian Penal Code (the ‘Organization, Management and Control Model’ or ‘Model’); and
 entrusted responsibility for supervising the functioning and observance of the Model, as well as for updating the
Model, to a specific body of the entity (the ‘Supervisory Board’) endowed with autonomous powers of initiative,
control and spending authority.
By resolution of the Board of Directors of May 16th, 2012, the Company and the main operative company of the Group,
IVS Italia S.p.A. have formally adopted a Model and implemented specific operational procedures aimed at preventing
offences.
The same Board of Directors also approved and adopted the Code of Conduct, which sets forth the fundamental ethical
principles to which IVS Group S.A. conforms and with which directors, statutory auditors, employees, consultants, partners
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and, generally, all those who act in the Company's name and on its behalf are required to comply, as well as appointing
the Supervisory Board
envisaged by Decree 231, charged with the following duties:
 supervising the effectiveness of the Model, putting in place control procedures for specific actions or acts carried
out by IVS Group S.A., while also coordinating with the other corporate functions in order to implement better
monitoring of activities at risk;
 periodically reviewing the efficiency and adequacy of the Model, ascertaining that the elements provided in the
special parts for the various types of crimes are adequate for the requirements of observance of the provisions of
Decree 231 and identifying corporate activities in order to update the map of activities at risk;
 evaluating the advisability of updating the Model when necessary to update it in relation to corporate requirements
or conditions; and
 ensuring the required information flows, in part by promoting suitable initiatives to raise awareness and improve
understanding of the model and cooperating in drawing up and supplementing internal rules.
The model has been updated by resolution of the Board of Directors in 2014 and 2016.
IVS Group S.A.’s Supervisory Board is composed of three members appointed following due assessment and
consideration of the following requirements established for such function by Decree 231: autonomous power of initiative,
independence, professionalism, consistency of action, absence of conflicts of interest and integrity.
Current members of IVS Group S.A.’s Supervisory Board are Elena Soldani, Paolo Cerutti and Francesco Ferrari.
In addition, by resolution of February 9th, 2016 the Board of Directors has approved a code of conduct as regards the
internal guidelines in the matter of antitrust and has set up a special committee, finalizing some training sessions of staff
too.
For more detailed information on the Company’s internal control system please refer to the separate Report on Corporate
Governance for the year 2018.

Independent Auditors
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The general meeting of the shareholders held on May 8th, 2018 resolved to engage to act as independent auditors of the
Annual Accounts and Consolidated Financial Statements as of and for the year ended December 31st, 2018 conferred
upon the firm Ernst & Young S.A. as stated in their reports appearing elsewhere herein and thus set to expire on the date
of the general meeting of the shareholders to be convened to approve the financial statements as of and for the year
ending December 31st, 2018.

Information pursuant to article 11 (1) of the Takeover bids Law
List of information

References and comments in present Annual
Report
(a) the structure of their capital, including securities which are The share capital of the Company comprises only
not admitted to trading on a regulated market in a Member ordinary shares, each of them carrying equal rights.
State, where appropriate with an indication of the different
classes of shares and, for each class of shares, the rights and Page 38 of the Management Report (the “MR”) obligations attaching to it and the percentage of total share paragraph “Shares issued”.
P. 133 of the Annual Report (the AR) - paragraph
capital that it represents.
8 “Capital and Reserves”.
(b) any restrictions on the transfer of securities, such as Not applicable to the Company, there are no
limitations on the holding of securities or the need to obtain restrictions on the transfer of securities.
the approval of the company or other holders of securities,
without prejudice to Article 46 of Directive 2001/34/EC.
Page 38 of the MR - paragraph “Shares issued” it
is clarified that all the shares are freely transferable.
(c) significant direct and indirect shareholdings (including Page 38 of the MR - paragraph “Shares issued”, it is
indirect shareholdings through pyramid structures and cross- declared that the majority shareholder is IVS
shareholdings) within the meaning of Directive 2004/109/EC. Partecipazioni s.p.a. holding, 23,068,739 shares of the
Company.
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(d) the holders of any securities with special control rights and Not applicable to the Company, there are no holders of
any securities with special control rights.
a description of those rights.
Page 38 of the MR - paragraph “Shares issued”, it is
stated: “All Shares carry equal rights as provided for by
Luxemburg law and as set forth in the Articles including
rights to receive dividends (if declared) or liquidation
proceeds”.

(e) the system of control of any employee share scheme Not applicable to the Company, there is no system of
where the control rights are not exercised directly by the control of any employee share scheme where the
employees.
control rights are not exercised directly by the
employees.
(f) any restrictions on voting rights, such as limitations of the Not applicable to the Company, there are no
voting rights of holders of a given percentage or number of restrictions on voting rights.
votes, deadlines for exercising voting rights, or systems
whereby, with the company’s cooperation, the financial rights Page 38 of the MR - paragraph “Shares issued” - it is
attaching to securities are separated from the holding of stated: “The Articles do not provide for any voting
securities.
restrictions”;

(h) the rules governing the appointment and replacement of
board members and the amendment of the articles of
association.
(i) the powers of board members, and in particular the power
to issue or buy back shares.
(j) any significant agreements to which the company is a party
and which take effect, alter or terminate upon a change of
control of the company following a takeover bid, and the
effects thereof, except where their nature is such that their
disclosure would be seriously prejudicial to the company; this
exception shall not apply where the company is specifically
obliged to disclose such information on the basis of other legal
requirements.
(k) any agreements between the company and its board
members or employees providing for compensation if they
resign or are made redundant without valid reason or if their
employment ceases because of a takeover bid.
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Not applicable to the Company,the Company is not
cognizant of any agreements between shareholders
which may result in restrictions on the transfer of
securities or voting rights within the meaning of
Directive 2004/109/EC.
Page 38 of the MR - paragraph
“Corporate Governance”
Page 38 of the MR - paragraph
“Corporate Governance”
Page 24 of the MR - paragraph “Significant events
of 2018 - EUR 150 million new credit facility”

Not applicable to the Company, there are no
agreements between the company and its board
members or employees providing for compensation if
they resign or are made redundant without valid reason
or if their employment ceases because of a takeover
bid.
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(g) any agreements between shareholders which are known
to the company and may result in restrictions on the transfer
of securities or voting rights within the meaning of Directive
2004/109/EC.
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Subsequent events and outlook for the remainder of the year
On January 31st, 2019 IVS Group’s subsidiary, IVS France S.a.S. has acquired the entire participation of Reves de Cafè
a company active in the OCS vending sector for a provisional consideration transferred of around EUR 510 thousand.
On February 15th, 2019 IVS Group subscribed derivatives instruments to hedge interest risk of its new credit lines for a
total amount of EUR 120,000 thousand of which EUR 50,000 thousand starting from March 21st, 2019 and EUR 70,000
thousand starting from June 21st, 2020.
On February 28th, 2019 IVS Group, has acquired the entire participation of SDA-Società Distribuzione Automatica 2000
S.r.l. for a provisional consideration transferred of around EUR 20,602 thousand paid cash and transferring to one of the
sellers n. 234,206 IVS Group treasury shares. SDA-Società Distribuzione Automatica 2000 S.r.l. active since more than
50 years in the vending business in Italy and leader in Liguria region, with sales of around EUR 13.2 million in 2017.
On February 28th, 2019 the subsidiary IVS Italia S.p.A. has acquired Roma Distribuzione 2003, active in the vending sector
in Lazio region, already rented from January 1st, 2019. The business acquired generates annual sales of around EUR 4
million and its provisional enterprise value was valued around EUR 4.9 million.
Lastly, we are continuously in search of targets to acquire in order to increase our customer base and services in those
areas and branches, which would permit an increase in volumes against a relatively lower increase in the respective costs.

Conclusions
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Dear Shareholders,
We trust to have provided you with a sufficiently detailed analysis of the Company and Group position as at December
31st, 2018, and of its operating performance for the year then ended.
We therefore invite you to approve the financial statements proposing to shareholders the distribution of a dividend of EUR
0.30 per share.
We would remind you that the approval of these financial statements will have the effect of discharging the auditing firm
from its associated duties. Consequently, we invite you to approve the appointment of auditors to audit the Annual
Accounts and Consolidated Financial Statements as of and for the year ended December 31st, 2019.
We thank you for your confidence in us, and invite you to approve the financial statements as presented.
Luxembourg, March 19th, 2019
For the Board of Directors
Mr. Paolo Covre
Chairman
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Financial statements schedules
Consolidated statement of financial position

(in thousands of Euro)

Note

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Property, plant and equipment
Equity Investments
Non-current financial assets
Deferred tax assets
Other non-current assets
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Tax assets
Other current assets
Current financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS
TOTAL ASSETS
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SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital
Share premium reserve
Other reserves
Treasury shares
Retained earnings / (losses)
Net profit (loss) for the year
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE OWNERS OF
THE PARENT
Share capital and reserves attributable to non-controlling interests
Net profit/(loss) for the year attributable to non-controlling interests
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Non-current liabilities
Due to Bond holders
Non-current financial liabilities
Employee benefits
Provisions for risks and charges
Deferred tax liabilities
Other non-current liabilities
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Due to Bond holders
Current financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Trade payables
Tax liabilities
Provisions for risks and charges
Other current liabilities
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL LIABILITIES
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

50,742
384,645
190,669
3,284
723
10,566
407
641,036

47,132
379,430
181,634
2,469
2,095
9,959
1,304
624,023

15
16
17
18
14
19

36,210
28,591
376
26,270
129
96,928
188,504
829,540

31,888
26,056
1,405
24,991
1,440
79,090
164,870
788,893

21

364
334,222
9,401
(20,895)
(38,937)
23,232

364
337,109
9,401
(20,895)
(50,958)
19,506

307,387
8,344
1,400

294,527
7,196
1,363

9,744
317,131

8,559
303,086

25
25
22
23
24
27

237,675
43,736
8,838
1,076
22,890
314,215

236,937
37,958
8,788
1,561
20,082
3,196
308,522

25
25
26

612
101,617
68,034
996
124
26,811
198,194
512,409
829,540

647
61,537
71,682
2,817
124
40,478
177,285
485,807
788,893

21

21
C

D

E
F=D+E
C+F

December 31st, 2017
Restated(*)

10
11
12
13
14
24
A

B
A+B

December 31st,
2018

21

17
23
27

(*) Some amounts reported in this column do not match those of the 2017 Financial Statements since they mirror the adjustments detailed in Note 2 of Explanatory
Notes
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Consolidated income Statement
(in thousands of Euro)

Note

Revenue from sales and services
Other revenues and income
Total revenues
Cost of raw materials, supplies and consumables
Cost of services
Personnel costs
Other operating income / (expenses), net
Gains / (losses) from disposal of fixed assets, net
Depreciation and amortisation
Operating profit / (loss)
Financial expenses
Financial income
Foreign exchange differences and variations in derivatives fair value, net
Result of companies valued at net equity
Profit / (loss) before tax
Income taxes
Net profit/(loss) for the year
Net profit/(loss) for the period attributable to non-controlling interests
Net profit/(loss) for the year attributable to owners of the parent
Earnings per share (in unit of Euro)
Base
Diluted

29
30
31
32
33
34
35
10,11
36
36
36
37
38

39
39

For the year ended December 31st,
2018
2017*
412,584
393,677
21,773
15,430
434,357
409,107
(103,697)
(98,439)
(44,208)
(45,353)
(115,995)
(110,050)
(78,361)
(71,325)
(1,020)
(822)
(46,129)
(43,428)
44,947
39,690
(13,592)
(13,952)
350
3,317
305
21
314
(6)
32,324
29,070
(7,692)
(8,201)
24,632
20,869
1,400
1,363
23,232
19,506
0.63
0.63

0.50
0.50

(*) Some amounts reported in this column do not match those of the 2017 Financial Statements since they mirror the adjustments detailed in Note 2 of Explanatory Notes
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
(in thousands of Euro)

Note

Net profit/(loss) for the year
Items of other comprehensive income that will be reclassified in profit and loss
Exchanges differences on translation of foreign operations
Total income (loss) in the statement of comprehensive income, net of taxes
that will be reclassified in profit and loss
Items of other comprehensive income that will not be reclassified in profit and loss
Actuarial Gain/(Losses) on defined benefit plan
Tax impact
Total income (loss) in the statement of comprehensive income, net of taxes
that will not be reclassified in profit and loss
Total income (loss) in the statement of comprehensive income, net of taxes
Attributable to non-controlling interests
Attributable to owners of the parent

For the year ended December 31st
2018
2017*
24,632
20,869
178

(403)

178

(403)

301
(72)

38
(9)

229

29

25,039
1,449
23,590

20,495
1,340
19,155

(*) Some amounts reported in this column do not match those of the 2017 Financial Statements since they mirror the adjustments detailed in Note 2 of Explanatory Notes
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36

364
364
364
364

Share capital
337,109
337,109
337,109
(2,886)
(1)
334,222

Share premium
reserve

37

Shareholders'equity of the IVS Group S.A.
Treasury
Other capital
Retained
shares
reserves
earnings/(losses brought
forward)
(20,895)
9,401
(50,958)
(20,895)
9,401
(50,958)
(397)
(20,895)
9,401
(51,355)
19,506
358
358
(22)
(22)
(7,424)
(20,895)
9,401
(38,937)
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December 31st, 2017
Effect of adjustments detailed in Note 2 of Explanatory
December 31st, 2017 Restated
IFRS 9 Adjustment
January 1st, 2018
Allocation of net income (loss)
Net result for the period
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income/(loss)
Acquisition of non-controlling interest MB Web
Acquisition of non-controlling interest IVS Group Swiss
Total other movements
Dividends
Rounding
December 31st, 2018

(in thousands of Euro)

Consolidated Statement of changes in consolidated shareholders’ equity as of December 31st, 2018

19,506
19,506
19,506
(19,506)
23,232
23,232
23,232

Net income/(loss)
for the period

________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
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294,527
294,527
(397)
294,130
23,232
358
23,590
(22)
(22)
(10,310)
(1)
307,387

Total
Attribtable to noncontrolling interests
8,559
8,559
(26)
8,533
1,400
49
1,449
(13)
4
(9)
(230)
1
9,744

Total Shareholders'
equity
303,086
303,086
(423)
302,663
24,632
407
25,039
(13)
(18)
(31)
(10,540)
317,131

344,272
297
297
(7,460)
337,109

(23)
(23)
364

Share premium
reserve

387
-

Share capital

(23)
3,300
3,277
23
23
(20,895)

9,401

38

1,454
1,454
(1,201)
(1,201)
(1,978)
(2)
(50,958)

19,506

Shareholders'equity of the IVS Group S.A.
Treasury shares Other capital
Retained
Net
reserves
earnings/(losses income/(loss)
for the period
brought
forward)
(24,195)
9,401
(65,754)
16,874
16,874
(16,874)
19,506
(351)
(351)
19,506

(*) Some amounts reported in this column do not match those of the 2017 Financial Statements since they mirror the adjustments detailed in Note 2 of Explanatory Notes

January 1st, 2017
Allocation of net income (loss)
Net result for the period
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income/(loss)
Treasury shares:
-treasury shares B2 and B3
-treasury shares sold
Totale effect of Treasury shares
Cancellation shares B2 and B3
Acquisition of non-controlling interest Coin division
Total other movements
Dividends
Rounding
December 31st, 2017

(in thousands of Euro)

Consolidated Statement of changes in consolidated shareholders' equity as of December 31st, 2017 Restated (*)
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1,431
3,597
5,028
(1,201)
(1,201)
(9,438)
(2)
294,527

280,985
19,506
(351)
19,155

Total

Total Shareholders' equity
289,930
20,869
(374)
20,495
1,431
3,597
5,028
(2,778)
(2,778)
(9,587)
(2)
303,086

Attribtable to
non-controlling
interests
8,945
1,363
(23)
1,340
(1,577)
(1,577)
(149)
8,559

Consolidated financial statements as of December 31st, 2018
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Note

A) Cash flows from operating activities

Profit (Loss) before tax
Adjustments for:
Undistributed profit (loss) of equity-accounted investees
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment losses
(Gains)/losses on disposal of non-current assets
Changes in employee benefits and other provisions
Reversal of financial expense
Cash flows from operating activities before tax,
financial income/expense and change in working capital:
Changes in working capital
Cash flows from operating activities before tax

40

and financial income/expense:
Net financial expense paid
Tax paid
B) Cash flows from investing activities:
Investments in non-current assets:
Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Change in unpaid capital expenditure
Acquisition of subsidiaries and business units, net of cash
Proceeds from disposal of net non-current assets
Changes in financial assets

39

(80)
47,078
1,020
(13,340)
12,993

631
48,742
822
(14,089)
10,636

79,995
(10,701)

75,812
1,351
77,163
(12,490)
(3,624)
61,049

10
12

(606)
(49,941)
(624)
(17,760)
(68,931)
2,133
574
2,707
(66,224)

(640)
(50,396)
3,866
(39,196)
(86,366)
1,535
4,999
6,534
(79,832)

84,219
(43,690)
5,008
(18)
(10,540)
34,979
22
17,838
79,090
96,928

12,800
(17,614)
(6,726)
(2,824)
2,795
(8,987)
(20,556)
(172)
(39,511)
118,601
79,090

8

(*) Some amounts reported in this column do not match those of the 2017 Financial Statements since they mirror the adjustments
detailed in Note 2 of Explanatory Notes.

29,070

(12,280)
(7,953)
49,061

Total divestitures
Total B)

D) Exchange rate differences and other changes:
E) Change in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C+D):
F) Opening cash and cash equivalents:
Closing cash and cash equivalents (E+F)

32,324

40

Total investments

Total C)

Restated*

69,294

Total A)

C) Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from non-current loan
Repayment of non-current loan liabilities
Changes in current financial liabilities
Acquisitions of non-controlling interests
Acquisition buy-back/Sold treasury shares
Dividend distribution

For the year ended December 31st
2017
2018

21

63
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(in thousands of Euro)

Explanatory Notes to the
Financial Statements
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Explanatory notes to the financial statements
1 - Corporate information
IVS Group S.A. is a public limited liability company constituted under Luxembourg law on August 26th, 2010 and registered
on the Luxembourg Register of Commerce and Companies with the number B155.294. The Company has its registered
offices at L-1449 Luxembourg, 18 Rue de l’Eau. The Company has changed its registered office on July 13th, 2018. The
shares of IVS Group S.A. are listed on the Italian stock market (“MTA” segment). The name of the Company was changed
on May 16th, 2012, from Italy1 Investment S.A.
The publication of the Consolidated Financial Statements for the period ended on December 31st, 2018 was authorised by
the Board of Directors' resolution of March 19th, 2019.
IVS Group S.A. controls, directly and indirectly, a number of companies that operate in the vending market, i.e., in the sale
of products through automated and semi-automated vending machines installed at unattended points of sale (businesses,
schools, hospitals, railway stations, and other public places). These machines operate 24 hours a day and allow consumers
to purchase products with coins, banknotes, prepaid cards, mobile app and other means of payment. The Group also
controls the Coin Group, whose core business is the counting of coins for third parties, cash-in-transit services, collection
and distribution of coins (coin management).
2 - Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements have been drawn up under the International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union (‘IFRS’).
The Consolidated Financial Statements have been drawn up in accordance with the historical cost convention, except for
derivative financial instruments which are measured at fair value. The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented
in euro, which is also the Group’s functional currency, and all figures are rounded off to full thousands of euro unless
otherwise specified.
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The Group adopted the following criteria in the preparation of its financial statements:
Ǧ assets and liabilities are classified as current or non-current in the statement of financial position. Current assets,
which include cash and cash equivalents, are those that will be realised, sold or used in the Group’s ordinary
operating cycle. Current liabilities are those that will be extinguished within the Group’s ordinary operating cycle
or in the twelve months after the reporting date;
Ǧ expenses are presented based on their nature in the income statement;
Ǧ with reference to the statement of comprehensive income, the Group chose to adopt two separate schedules: an
income statement presenting the traditional items forming the profit or loss for the period and the statement of
comprehensive income that begins with the profit or loss for the period and details the other items of
comprehensive income that were previously presented only in the statement of changes in equity, i.e., variations
in the fair value of derivatives;
Ǧ the statement of cash flows is presented using the indirect method.

New standards, interpretations and amendments adopted by the Group
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of this Consolidated Financial Statements are consistent with those
followed in the preparation of previous one, ended December 31st, 2017, except for the adoption of new standards and
interpretations effective as of January 1st, 2018. The Group has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or
amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.
The nature and the effect of these changes are disclosed below.
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (endorsed by the EU on September 22nd, 2016)
IFRS 15 was issued in May 2014 and establishes a five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with
customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects
to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. The new revenue standard will supersede all
current revenue recognition requirements under IFRS. Either a full retrospective application or a modified retrospective
application is required for annual periods beginning on or after January 1st, 2018.
The management has performed an analysis of these revenue streams (e.g. “vending” and “coin”) under the new five steps
model and concluded that IFRS 15 has no impacts on its financial statements because the performance obligation implied
in the contracts is the providing of a single selected product/service to the custumer, the satisfaction of the performance

40
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________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

obligation occurs at a point in time and the transaction prices are represented by the cash amount exchanged in the
transaction. Based on the above the Group applied the IFRS 15 prospectively, with an initial application date of January
1st, 2018.
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (endorsed by the EU on November 22nd, 2016)
In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments that replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement and all previous versions of IFRS 9. IFRS 9 brings together all three aspects of the
accounting for financial instruments project: classification and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting.
The Group applied IFRS 9 prospectively, with an initial application date of January 1st, 2018. The Group has not restated
the comparative information, which continues to be reported under IAS 39. Differences arising from the adoption of IFRS
9 have been recognised directly in retained earnings and other components of equity.
The nature of the adjustments is described below:
•

Classification and measurement: the Group held loans, as well as trade receivables, for collection on the
contractual due dates and are expected to generate cash flows made solely of capital and interest receipts. The
Group concluded that they continue to be measured, in accordance with IFRS 9, at amortised cost. In addition
the Group does not classify any financial assets as “available-for-sale” or liability at FVTPL.
Based on these elements, the Group concluded that the classification and valuation requirements specified in
IFRS 9 have no impacts on its financial statements.
In summary, upon the adoption of IFRS 9, the Group had the following required or elected reclassifications:
IFRS 9 Measurement Category
Fair value through profit or loss

Amortized cost

Fair Value through OCI

IAS 39 measurement category
Held-to-maturity investments:
Corporate Bond
Loans and receivables:

Other financial assets (current and non-current)
Trade receivables
Other non-current assets
Other current assets

Total

63

63

-

-

3,472
26,056
1,304
24,991
55,886

63

3,472
25,515
1,304
24,991
55,282

-

* The change in carrying amount is a result of additional impairment allowance. See the discussion on impairment below.

•

Impairment: IFRS 9 requires the Group to record expected credit losses on all of its debt securities, loans and
trade receivables, either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The Group applies the simplified approach and records
lifetime expected losses on all trade receivables. The management has performed an analysis considering
reasonable and supportable information, and determined that the impact of this new change is as follow:
Trade receivables
Deferred tax assets
Total Shareholders' Equity

•

December 31st, 2017
26,056
9,959
303,086

IFRS 9 Adjustment
(541)
118
(423)

January 1st, 2018
25,515
10,077
302,663

Hedge accounting: The Group has no hedge relationships that are currently designated in effective hedging
relationships. Therefore this change has no impacts on the Group’s financial statements.

IFRIC Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Considerations (endorsed by the EU on April
3rd, 2018)
The Interpretation clarifies that, in determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset,
expense or income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to advance
consideration, the date of the transaction is the date on which an entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset or nonmonetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, then the
41
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entity must determine a date of the transactions for each payment or receipt of advance consideration. This Interpretation
does not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
Amendments to IAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property (endorsed by the EU on March 15th, 2018)
The amendments clarify when an entity should transfer property, including property under construction or development
into, or out of investment property. The amendments state that a change in use occurs when the property meets, or ceases
to meet, the definition of investment property and there is evidence of the change in use. A mere change in management’s
intentions for the use of a property does not provide evidence of a change in use. These amendments do not have any
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
Amendments to IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions (endorsed by the
EU on February 27th, 2018)
The IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based Payment that address three main areas: the effects of vesting
conditions on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment transaction; the classification of a share-based
payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding tax obligations; and accounting where a modification to
the terms and conditions of a share-based payment transaction changes its classification from cash settled to equity
settled. On adoption, entities are required to apply the amendments without restating prior periods, but retrospective
application is permitted if elected for all three amendments and other criteria are met. The Group’s accounting policy for
cash-settled share based payments is consistent with the approach clarified in the amendments. In addition, the Group
has no share-based payment transaction with net settlement features for withholding tax obligations and had not made
any modifications to the terms and conditions of its share-based payment transaction. Therefore, these amendments do
not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Amendments to IFRS 4 Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts (endorsed by the
EU on November 9th, 2017)
The amendments address concerns arising from implementing the new financial instruments standard, IFRS 9, before
implementing IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts, which replaces IFRS 4. The amendments introduce two options for entities
issuing insurance contracts: a temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9 and an overlay approach. These amendments
are not relevant to the Group.
Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2014-2016 Cycle (endorsed by the EU on February 8th, 2018)
Amendments to IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures - Clarification that measuring investees at
fair value through profit or loss is an investment-by-investment choice
The amendments clarify that an entity that is a venture capital organisation, or other qualifying entity, may elect, at initial
recognition on an investment-by-investment basis, to measure its investments in associates and joint ventures at fair value
through profit or loss. If an entity, that is not itself an investment entity, has an interest in an associate or joint venture that
is an investment entity, the entity may, when applying the equity method, elect to retain the fair value measurement applied
by that investment entity associate or joint venture to the investment entity associate’s or joint venture’s interests in
subsidiaries. This election is made separately for each investment entity associate or joint venture, at the later of the date
on which: (a) the investment entity associate or joint venture is initially recognised; (b) the associate or joint venture
becomes an investment entity; and (c) the investment entity associate or joint venture first becomes a parent. These
amendments do not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards - Deletion of
short-term exemptions for first-time adopters
Short-term exemptions in paragraphs E3–E7 of IFRS 1 were deleted because they have now served their intended
purpose. These amendments do not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
The standards that are issued, but not yet effective, for the preparation of these Group’s financial statements are disclosed
below.
IFRS 16 Leases (endorsed by the EU).
IFRS 16 was issued in January 2016 and it replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases-Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving
the Legal Form of a Lease. IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure
42
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of leases and requires lessees to account for all leases under a single on-balance sheet model similar to the accounting
for finance leases under IAS 17. The standard includes two recognition exemptions for lessees – leases of ’low-value’
assets (e.g., personal computers) and short-term leases (i.e., leases with a lease term of 12 months or less). At the
commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an
asset representing the right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). Lessees will be
required to separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-ofuse asset. Lessees will be also required to remeasure the lease liability upon the occurrence of certain events (e.g., a
change in the lease term, a change in future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine
those payments). The lessee will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement of the lease liability as an
adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from today’s accounting
under IAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same classification principle as in IAS 17 and distinguish
between two types of leases: operating and finance leases. IFRS 16 also requires lessees and lessors to make more
extensive disclosures than under IAS 17.
IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1st, 2019. Early application is permitted, but not before
an entity applies IFRS 15. A lessee can choose to apply the standard using either a full retrospective or a modified
retrospective approach. The standard’s transition provisions permit certain reliefs.
The Group is finalizing the implementation and assessment of the impact of the adoption of the standard on its consolidated
financial statements. Based on current information, the estimated impact of the standard on the Group’s Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position at January 1st, 2019, is an increase in both the right-of-use assets and the lease liabilities
that ranges between Euro 60 million and Euro 70 million. These analyses will be refined during the first quarter of 2019.

Other standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective for the preparation of these Group’s financial
statements, are summarize as follow:
STANDARDS / AMENDMENTS
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (issued on May 18th, 2017)
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (issued on June 7th, 2017)

Expected
Effective
Date (IASB)
January 1st,
2021
January 1st,
2019

Endorsed
by the EU
NO
Yes

Expected
Effective
Date (EU)
n.a.

January 1st,
2019
January 1st,
2019

Amendments to IFRS 9: Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
(issued on October 12nd, 2017)
Amendments to IAS 28: Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures
(issued on October 12nd, 2017)
Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle (issued on 12
December 12nd, 2017)
Amendments to IAS 19: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (issued on
February 7th, 2018)
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards
(issued on March 29th, 2018)

January 1st,
2019

Yes

January 1st,
2019

Yes

January 1st,
2019

January 1st,
2019

NO

n.a.

January 1st,
2019

NO

n.a.

January 1st,
2020

NO

n.a.

Amendment to IFRS 3 Business Combinations (issued on October 22nd, 2018)

January 1st,
2020
January 1st,
2020

NO

n.a.

NO

n.a.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of Material (issued on October 31st,
2018)
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The impact of adoption on Net Profit is expected to be immaterial over time but a timing effect will occur due to the frontloading of interest expense as compared to IAS 17. There will be a reclassification from rent expense to depreciation and
amortization expense and to interest expense. As a result of this reclassification, cash flows from operating activities will
increase and be offset by a decrease in cash flows from financing activities and, accordingly, there will be an immaterial
change in the underlying cash flows for the year. The estimated impact on the Consolidated Income Statement from
continuing and discontinued operations for 2019 is expected to be immaterial. The opening balance of lease liabilities as
at January 1, 2019 will exclude short-term leases, leases of low value assets.
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The EC has decided not to launch the endorsement process of the interim standard IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts
(issued on January 30th, 2014) and to wait for the final IFRS Standard.
The Group intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become effective.
The Consolidated Financial Statements as of December 31st, 2017 have been restated in order to reflect the finalization
of Purchase Price Allocation provisionally accounted in previous Consolidated Financial Statements. The main effects of
these changes are summarized as follows:
December 31st, 2017

(in thousands of Euro)
Consolidated statement of financial position
ASSETS
Total non-current assets
Total current assets
TOTAL ASSETS
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders' equity attributable to the owners of the parent
Shareholders' equity attributable to non-controlling interests
Total non-current liabilities
Total current liabilities
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Consolidated income statement
Total revenues
Operating profit / (loss)
Profit / (loss) before tax
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623,960
164,870
788,830

Finalization
PPA

December 31st, 2017
Restated

63
63

624,023
164,870
788,893

63
63

294,527
8,559
308,522
177,285
788,893

-

294,527
8,559
308,522
177,222
788,830

-

409,107
39,690
29,070

-

409,107
39,690
29,070

Therefore, the figures of the comparative period that appears in the financial statements and in the tables of explanatory
notes have been restated as a result of the above (excluding information reported in note 11 for imparment test).
3 - Critical judgements and accounting estimates
The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires management to make discretional judgements, assumptions
and estimates that affect the reported amounts of income, expenses, assets and liabilities and the corresponding
disclosures, and the indication of potential liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates might determine
outcomes that will require in the future a significant adjustment to the book value of these assets and/or liabilities.
The assumptions regarding the future and other major causes of estimate uncertainty which, at the reporting date, present
a significant risk of giving rise to significant adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within next year,
are listed below.
Impairment of non-financial assets
Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is
the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The fair value less costs of disposal calculation is
based on available data from binding sales transactions, conducted at arm’s length, for similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs of disposing of the asset. The value in use calculation is based on a DCF model. The cash
flows are derived from the budget for the next three years and do not include restructuring activities that the Group is not
yet committed to or significant future investments that will enhance the performance of the assets of the CGU being tested.
The recoverable amount is sensitive to the discount rate used for the DCF model as well as the expected future cashinflows and the growth rate used for extrapolation purposes. These estimates are most relevant to goodwill recognised by
the Group. The key assumptions used to determine the recoverable amount for the different CGUs, including a sensitivity
analysis, are disclosed and further explained in Note 11.
Current and deferred taxation
There is uncertainty about the interpretation of complex tax laws and on the amount and timing of future taxable income.
Given the wide range of international trade relations, the long-term nature and complexity of existing contractual
agreements, the ensuing differences between actual results and the assumptions made, or any future changes in these
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assumptions, may require future adjustments to income taxes and costs that have already been recorded. The Group
provides for allowance accounts, based on reasonable estimates, for the potential effects of audits by tax authorities of
the respective countries in which it operates. The amount of these provisions is based on several factors, such as previous
tax audits or the different interpretations of tax laws by the company subject to taxation and by the competent tax authority.
These differences of interpretation may concern a wide range of problems depending on the prevailing conditions in the
respective domicile of the Group's companies.
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that there will be taxed income
in the future such as to allow for the losses to be used. To determine the amount of tax assets that can be recognized on
the basis of future taxable profit, the timing of their occurrence and tax planning strategies, requires management to make
considerable estimates.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all temporary differences and the carryforward of unused tax losses to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference or unused tax
losses can be utilised. Management uses a high level of discretionary judgment to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognized, by estimating when they will probably become due and the amount of future taxable profit.
The Parent has decided to calculate its tax charge in accordance with the Italian fiscal legislation applicable to resident
Italian companies.

Measuring the fair value of contingent consideration
Contingent consideration related to business combinations is recognised at the acquisition date fair value as part of the
business combination. If contingent consideration satisfies the definition of a derivative and is thus a financial liability, its
value is then restated at each reporting date. The determination of fair value is based on discounted cash flows. The key
assumptions take into account the likelihood of achieving each performance objective and the discount factor. Further
developments may require the estimate to be further revised.
Contingent considerations are classified under Other current liabilities or under Other non-current liabilities.
Other captions affected by estimates
Moreover, estimates are used to recognise the allowance for impairment of financial assets, amortization and depreciation,
employee benefits and allocation of the acquisition cost of recent business combinations.

4 - Basis of consolidation
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the financial statements of IVS Group S.A. and its subsidiaries at
December 31st, 2018. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group
controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has:
 Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee)
 Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
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Litigation
Various legal proceedings, are pending against the Group on a wide range of topics, including competition, tax and
securities laws, labor and other contractual relationships. Litigation is subject to many uncertainties, and the outcome of
individual matters is not predictable with assurance. Moreover, the cases and claims against the Group are often derived
from complex legal issues which are subject to differing degrees of uncertainty, including the facts and circumstances of
each particular case, the manner in which the applicable law is likely to be interpreted and applied and the jurisdiction and
the different laws involved. An accrual is established in connection with pending or threatened litigation if a loss is probable,
there will be an outflow of funds and when the amount can be reasonably estimated. If an outflow of funds becomes
probable, but the amount cannot be estimated, the matter is disclosed in the Notes. Since these accruals represent
estimates, the resolution of some of these matters could require the Group to make payments in excess of the amounts
accrued or may require the Group to make payments in an amount or range of amounts that could not be reasonably
estimated. The Group monitors the status of pending legal procedures and consults with experts on legal and tax matters
on a regular basis. As such, the provisions for the Group’s legal proceedings and litigation may vary as a result of future
developments in pending matters.
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 The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns
Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control. To support this presumption and when
the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:
 The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee
 Rights arising from other contractual arrangements
 The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights
The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over
the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements from the date
the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of the parent
of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, noncontrolling interest and other components of equity while any resultant gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any
investment retained is recognised at fair value.
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5 - Summary of the major accounting policies
The Consolidated Financial Statements at December 31st, 2018 have been drawn up using the accounting policies detailed
below.
Business combinations and goodwill
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of a business combination is given by
the sum of the consideration transferred, measured at fair value on the acquisition date, and the amount of non-controlling
interest in the acquired company. For each business combination, the Group chooses whether to measure any noncontrolling interest in the acquired company at fair value or proportionally to the non-controlling interest's share in the
identifiable net assets of the acquired company. Acquisition costs are expensed in the current period and are included
among administration costs.
When the Group acquires a business, it classifies or indicates the financial assets or the liabilities acquired under
contractual terms, the economic conditions and any other relevant conditions existing on acquisition. This includes an
assessment of the need to separate a derivative from the underlying contract.
If the business combination takes place in stages, the previous equity holding is taken back to the fair value on acquisition
and any consequent gain or loss is recognised in the income statement.
Any contingent consideration that needs recognizing is carried by the buyer at fair value on acquisition. The change of the
fair value of the contingent consideration classified as assets or liabilities, being a financial instrument covered by IFRS 9,
should be recognised in the income statement or in the statement of other comprehensive income items. When the
contingent consideration is not covered by IFRS 9, it is measured according to the appropriate IFRS. If the contingent
consideration is classified in equity, its value is not recalculated and its subsequent adjustment is recognised in equity.
Goodwill is initially recognised at cost, as given by the excess of the sum of the paid consideration and amount recorded
for the non-controlling interests over net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities acquired by the Group. If the
consideration is less than the fair value of the net assets of the acquired subsidiary, the difference is recognised in the
income statement.
After the initial recognition, goodwill is carried at cost net of accumulated impairment. For the purposes of the annual
impairment test, goodwill acquired in business combinations is allocated to the cash-generating unit of the Group that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, regardless of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquired
entity are allocated to the same unit.
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If goodwill was allocated to a cash-generating unit and the entity disposes of a portion of the assets of that unit, goodwill
on the disposed assets is included in the carrying amount of the assets to calculate the gain or the loss on the disposal.
Goodwill associated with the disposed asset is calculated according to the relative value of the disposed asset and of the
portion retained by the cash-generating unit.
Investment in associates and joint ventures
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those policies.
A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which
exists only when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control. The
considerations made in determining significant influence or joint control are similar to those necessary to determine control
over subsidiaries.
The Group’s investments in its associate and joint venture are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity
method, the investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised at cost. The carrying amount of the
investment is adjusted to recognise changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associate or joint venture since the
acquisition date. Goodwill relating to the associate or joint venture is included in the carrying amount of the investment and
is not tested for impairment individually. The statement of profit or loss reflects the Group’s share of the results of operations
of the associate or joint venture. Any change in OCI of those investees is presented as part of the Group’s OCI. In addition,
when there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group recognises its
share of any changes, when applicable, in the statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and the associate or joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the
associate or joint venture.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss on
its investment in its associate or joint venture. At each reporting date, the Group determines whether there is objective
evidence that the investment in the associate or joint venture is impaired. If there is such evidence, the Group calculates
the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate or joint venture and its
carrying value, and then recognises the loss as ‘Share of profit of an associate and a joint venture’ in the statement of
profit or loss.
Upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate or joint
venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
Fair value measurement
The Group measures financial instruments, such as, derivatives, at fair value at each balance sheet date. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell
the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:
 in the principal market for the asset or liability, or
 in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest. A fair value measurement of a
non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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The aggregate of the Group’s share of profit or loss of an associate and a joint venture is shown on the face of the
statement of profit or loss outside operating profit and represents profit or loss after tax and non-controlling interests in the
subsidiaries of the associate or joint venture.
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All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole:
 Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
 Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
is directly or indirectly observable
 Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
is unobservable
For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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Foreign currencies
The Group’s Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in euros, which is also the parent functional currency. For
each entity the Group determines the functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. The Group uses the direct method of consolidation and has elected to recycle
the gain or loss that arises from using this method.
Transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group’s entities at their respective functional currency spot
rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency spot rates of exchange at the reporting date. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss with the exception of monetary items that are
designated as part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign operation. These are recognised in other
comprehensive income until the net investment is disposed of, at which time, the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit
or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those monetary items are also recorded in other
comprehensive income. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value is determined. The gain or loss
arising on translation of non-monetary items measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss are also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated
at the spot rate of exchange at the reporting date.
Group companies
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into euros at the rate of exchange prevailing
at the reporting date and their income statements are translated at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. The exchange differences arising on translation for consolidation are recognised in other comprehensive
income. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in profit or loss.
The principal exchange rates used to translate other currencies into Euro were as follows:
Average 2018

At December 31st, 2018

Average 2017

At December 31st, 2017

Swiss Franc

1.155

1.127

1.111

1.170

GBP

0.885

0.895

0.876

0.887

Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue “Vending”:
It represents the biggest revenue stream of the group and is connected to sales of products through automated or semiautomated vending machines. The Group applies the five steps model as follow:
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Identify the contract(s) with a customer: the custumer is the counterpart that purchases the good from the vending
machine. The contract is not written and is based on past industry practice; its content is: providing a product to
the client in exchange of a cash amount previously inserted in the vending machine.
 Identify the performance obligations in the contract: the performance obligations implied in the contracts is the
providing of the selected product to the custumer.
 Determine the transaction price: the transaction prices are represented by the cash amount exchanged in the
transaction (no other payments or exchanges occur between customer and the Group).
 Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract: the contract includes a single
performance obligation, therefore this step does not apply.
 Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation: the satisfaction of the performance
obligation occurs at a point in time (when the vending machine provides to the customer the product that he/she
haspaid for);
Due to the above-mentioned features, revenue is recognised when the products are purchased by the customer, i.e. the
moment when goods are delivered and the consideration is collected.


Revenue “Food”:
This stream represents another revenue stream of the group and is connected to sales of products to other companies.
The Group applies the five steps model as follow:
The Group did not anticipate any impact due to adoption of IFRS 15 due to this assessment under the new five steps
model:
 Identify the contract(s) with a customer: the custumer is represented by the counterpart that purchases the good.
The contract is represented by single purchase orders.
 Identify the performance obligations in the contract: the performance obligations implied in the contracts is the
providing of the selected products to the custumers.
 Determine the transaction price: the transaction prices are represented by the cash amount exchanged in the
transaction (no other payments or exchanges between customer and the group exist).
 Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract: the contract include a single
performance obligation, therefore this step does not apply.
 Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation: the satisfaction of the performance
obligation occurs at a point in time (when the customer obtains the control of the good and (a) IVS has an actual
right to payment for the asset, (b) the customer has legal title to the asset, (c) IVS has transferred physical
possession of the asset, (d) the customer has the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the asset, (e) the
customer has accepted the asset).
Due to the above listed features, revenue is recognised when the products are delivered by the customer.
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Revenue “Coin”:
This stream represents the biggest revenue stream of the Operative Segment “COIN” and is connected to management
of “metallic money” (coins), including their collection, packaging and delivery. The Group applies the five steps model as
follow:
 Identify the contract(s) with a customer: the custumer is represented by the counterpart that expects to have its
coins collected, packed and delivered. The contract is written and includes the amount of commission as a
percentage of coins managed. Commissions for each kind of activity (e.g. collection, packaging, delivering, … )
are quoted separately.
 Identify the performance obligations in the cuntract: the performance obligations implied in the contracts is the
providing of the selected services to the custumer.
 Determine the transaction price: the transaction prices are defined in the agreement and are fixed (no variable
consideration or significant financing component) and settled by cash.
 Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract: the contract can include more than
one performance obligation, but each is priced separately.
 Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation: the satisfaction of the performance
obligation occurs over time and is measured applying commission to the volume of coins managed (consistently
with condition define in the contract).
Due to the above mentioned features, revenue is recognised when the service is rendered.
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Income taxes
Current taxation
Current tax activities and liabilities of the period are carried for the amount that is expected to be recovered or paid out to
the fiscal authorities. The tax rates and the tax law used to calculate the amount are those enacted, or substantively
enacted, at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the Group operates and earns its taxable income.
Current taxes related to items recognised outside the income statement are equally recognised outside the income
statement and, therefore, in equity or in the statement of comprehensive income, consistently with the recognition of the
item they refer to. The Group periodically reviews the position taken in its tax returns in those cases when tax rules are
subject to interpretation and makes provisions, as appropriate.
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Deferred taxation
Deferred tax liabilities are calculated applying the liability method to the temporary differences between accounting and
taxable value of assets and liabilities at the reporting date.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised on all temporary taxable differences, except in the following cases:
 deferred tax liabilities result from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction which
does not constitute a business combination and does not impact the result, neither for accounting nor for tax
purposes, at the time of the transaction;
 the reversing of temporary taxable differences, on the holdings in subsidiaries, affiliates and joint ventures, is
under the control of the Group, and it is not likely to take place in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets are recognised against deductible temporary differences and unused, carried-over net tax credits and
losses, to the extent that taxable profit is likely to be available to be recognised against, except in the following cases:
 the deferred tax asset arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that does not qualify
as a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, does not impact either accounting or taxable
results;
 if there are temporary deductible differences associated to holdings in subsidiaries, affiliates and joint ventures,
deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that they are likely to be reversed in the foreseeable future
and that there will be a tax base large enough to allow their recovery.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and decreased to the extent that a tax base
large enough to allow the use of such credit, fully or in part, is unlikely to be available in the future. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it becomes likely that taxable income
will be sufficient to allow their recovery.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates that are expected to be applied in the period when the
asset is realised or the liability is extinguished, given tax rates (and tax laws) enacted, or substantively enacted, at the end
of the reporting period.
Current taxes related to items recognised outside the income statement are equally recognised outside the income
statement and, therefore, in equity or in the statement of comprehensive income, consistently with the recognition of the
item they refer to.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and the deferred taxes are levied on the same taxpaying entity by the same tax authority.
Tax benefits acquired as a result of a business combination that do not satisfy the criteria for separate recognition at the
date of acquisition may be recognised later, if necessary, when new information is received about changed facts and
circumstances. The adjustment is recognised as goodwill impairment (up to of the value of goodwill), if recognised during
the measurement period, or in the income statement, if recognised at a later time.
Indirect taxes
Costs, revenues, assets and liabilities are recognised net of indirect taxes, such as value-added tax, with the following
exceptions:
 taxes on purchase of goods or services are not deductible; these are recognised as part of the purchase cost of
the asset or as part of the cost recognised in the income statement;
 trade payables and receivables include the applicable indirect tax.
The net amount of indirect taxes to recover or to pay to the tax authorities is included in the financial statements as an
asset or else as a liability.
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recognised at historical cost, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Such cost includes the cost to replace parts of plant and equipment at the time it is incurred, if recognition criteria are met.
If periodic replacement of significant parts of property, plant and equipment becomes necessary, the Group recognises
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such parts as self-contained assets with a specific useful life and a corresponding depreciation. In the same way, after
significant adjustments, the cost is included in the carrying amount of the plant or equipment as after replacement, if
recognition criteria are met. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in the income statement when incurred.
Land and buildings are recognised at historical cost, net of depreciation on buildings and impairment losses.
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis on the basis of the expected useful life of the asset, as follows:
Ǧ property: 33 years;
Ǧ industrial and commercial equipment: 6-7 years;
Ǧ cars and vehicles: 4-5 years.
An asset is de-recognised at the time of its sale or when no future economic benefits from its use or disposal are expected.
Any loss or gain (calculated as the difference between net sale proceeds and carrying amount) is included in the income
statement at the time of de-recognition.
The residual value of the asset, its useful life and the methods of depreciation applied are reviewed at the end of each
period and adjusted prospectively, as necessary.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that
an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds. The Group did not capitalize any borrowing costs in these
Consolidated Financial Statements.
Investment property
Investment property is property held to earn rent and/or for capital appreciation, rather than to be used in the production
or delivery of goods or services. It is initially carried at the cost of purchase, including expenses that can be directly
attributed to them. Subsequently they are carried at historical cost, net of accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Intangible assets
Intangible assets that have been acquired separately are recognised initially at cost. Those acquired through a business
combination are recognised at their fair value on the date of the acquisition. After the initial recognition, intangible assets
are recognised at cost, net of accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. With the exception of
development costs, internally-produced intangible assets are not capitalised, but are immediately recognised in the income
statement.
Intangible assets may have a finite or indefinite useful life.
Intangible assets with a finite useful life are amortised over their useful life and are tested for impairment whenever there
is indication of impairment. The period and method of amortisation used for intangible assets with a finite useful life is
reviewed at least at the end of each period. Changes in the expected useful life or in the way future economic benefits
from the asset are realised are recognised by changing amortisation period or method, according to the case, and are
considered changes of accounting estimates. Amortisation charges for intangible assets with a finite useful life are
recognised in the income statement in the cost category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised, but they are tested for impairment annually, both
individually and at the level of cash-generating unit. The assessment of the indefinite useful life is reviewed annually to
establish whether such attribution continues to be warranted, and if not, the indefinite useful life is changed prospectively

51

77
Annual Report 2018 • Consolidated Financial Statements

Leases
The classification of a contractual agreement as a lease agreement (or as an agreement including a lease) is based on
the substance of the agreement and requires assessing whether the fulfilment of the agreement depends on the use of
one or more specific assets or whether the agreement transfers the right to use the assets. This assessment is carried out
at the beginning of the agreement.
Financial leases, which transfer substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of the leased asset to the Group, are
recognised as assets at the beginning of the lease term, at the lower of fair value of the leased item and present value of
lease payments. Lease payments are split between capital and interest payments so that a constant periodic rate of interest
applies on the remaining balance of the liability. Financial charges are recognised in the income statement.
Leased assets are depreciated according to their useful lives. However, if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group
will receive the ownership of the asset at the end of the contract, the asset is depreciated on the expected useful life of the
asset or the duration of the lease, whichever is shorter.
Operating lease payments are recognised as costs in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the duration of
the contract.
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to finite. The Group did not recognize any intangible assets with an indefinite useful in these Consolidated Financial
Statements (excluding goodwill).
Gains or losses arising from the disposal of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net sale
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the income statement in the period of disposal.
Research and development expenses
Research expenses are recognised in the income statement when incurred. Development expenses incurred in connection
with a specific project are recognised as intangible assets when the Group can prove:
Ǧ the technical capacity to complete the intangible asset, so that it will be available for use or sale;
Ǧ its intention to complete the development and its capacity to use it or sell the asset;
Ǧ how the intangible asset will generate future economic benefits,
Ǧ the availability of resources to complete the development;
Ǧ its ability to measure reliably the costs to be imputed to the asset during development.
After the initial recognition, the developed assets are carried at cost net of accumulated amortisation or impairment losses.
Amortisation of the asset begins when the development phase has been completed and the asset is available for use.
Assets arising from development are amortised over the period during which benefits are expected to accrue and the
corresponding amortisation charges are included in the cost of sales. During development the asset is tested annually for
impairment.
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Intangible assets useful life
Amortization of intangible assets is calculated on a straight-line basis on the basis of the expected useful life of the asset,
as follows:
Ǧ customer list arose from contracts with Grandi Stazioni S.p.A., Centostazioni S.p.A. and Rete Ferroviaria Italiana
S.p.A. to place vending machines in Italian railways: 18 years (based on the duration of the contracts);
Ǧ customer List arose from business combination with Ibervending: 14 years (based on the attrition rate)
Ǧ customer list arose from the business combination with other vending companies/business units: 10 years (based
on the churn rate historically measured);
Ǧ development expenses: from 3 to 5 years;
Ǧ industrial patent and software, intellectual property rights: 3 years;
Ǧ concessions, licences, trademarks and similar rights: 5 years;
Ǧ others intangible assets: from 6 to 12 years.

Financial instruments – initial recognition and subsequent measurement
The accounting policies detailed below (based on IFRS 9) apply for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
at December 31st, 2018, whilst for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements at December 31 st, 2017
(included as comaparives in these consolidated financial statements) reference should be made to correspondent
accounting policies (based on IAS 39) described in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements at December 31st, 2017.
i) Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss.
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient, the Group initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS 15. Refer to the accounting
policies in section Revenue from contracts with customers.
In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to give
rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This
assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level.
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The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling
the financial assets, or both.
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group commits
to purchase or sell the asset.
Subsequent measurement
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories:
1. Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
2. Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments)
3. Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon
derecognition (equity instruments)
4. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

2. Financial assets at fair value through OCI (debt instruments)
The Group measures debt instruments at fair value through OCI if both of the following conditions are met:
•

The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect contractualcash
flows and selling

•

The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding

And

For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment losses or
reversals are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial assets
measured at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised in OCI. Upon derecognition, the cumulative
fair value change recognised in OCI is recycled to profit or loss.
The Group has not debt instruments at fair value through OCI.
3. Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI (equity instruments)
Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as equity instruments designated
at fair value through OCI when they meet the definition of equity under IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are
not held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.
Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other income
in the statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established, except when the Group benefits from
such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCI.
Equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI are not subject to impairment assessment.
The Group has not equity instruments at fair value through OCI.
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1. Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
This category is the most relevant to the Group. The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if both
of the following conditions are met:
• The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows
And
• The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are subject
to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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4. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated
upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair
value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in
the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they
are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal
and interest are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be classified at amortised cost or at fair value through OCI, as described
above, debt instruments may be designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates,
or significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
This category includes derivative instruments and listed equity investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at fair value through OCI. Dividends on listed equity investments are also recognised as other income in the
statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established.
A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host and
accounted for as a separate derivative if: the economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative would meet the definition a derivative; and the hybrid
contract is not measured at fair value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the contract
that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of
the fair value through profit or loss category.
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A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial asset host is not accounted for separately The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at
fair value through profit or loss.
Derecognition
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:
•

The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired

•

The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset

Or

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
Impairment of financial assets IFRS
The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest
rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
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integral to the contractual terms. ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events
that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the
Group does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that
the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering
the contractual cash flows.
ii) Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. All
financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs. The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings
including bank overdrafts,and derivative financial instruments.
Subsequent measurement
1. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term.
This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through
profit or loss are designated at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. The Group has
not designated any financial liability as at fair value through profit or loss.
2. Loans and borrowings
This is the category most relevant to the Group. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into
account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation
is included as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss. This category generally applies to interest-bearing loans and
borrowings.
Derecognition
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires When an
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original
liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.
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The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:
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iii) Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there an intention to settle on a
net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
The accounting policies detailed below (based on IFRS 9) apply for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
at December 31st, 2018, whilst for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements at December 31 st, 2017
(included as comaparives in these consolidated financial statements) reference should be made to correspondent
accounting policies (based on IAS 39) described in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements at December 31st, 2017.
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward currency contracts, interest rate swaps and forward
commodity contracts, to hedge its foreign currency risks, interest rate risks and commodity price risks respectively. Such
derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered
into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as financial assets when the fair value is
positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value is negative.
For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:
•

Fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability or an
unrecognised firm commitment

•

Cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular
risk associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction or the foreign currency
risk in an unrecognised firm commitment

•

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation
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At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedge relationship to which it
wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge.
Before 1 January 2018, the documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or
transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the Group will assess the effectiveness of changes in the hedging
instrument’s fair value in offsetting the exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair value or cash flows attributable to
the hedged risk. Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows
and are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they actually have been highly effective throughout the financial
reporting periods for which they were designated
Beginning 1 January 2018, the documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item, the
nature of the risk being hedged and how the Group will assess whether the hedging relationship meets the hedge
effectiveness requirements (including the analysis of sources of hedge ineffectiveness and how the hedge ratio is
determined). A hedging relationship qualifies for hedge accounting if it meets all of the following effectiveness
requirements:
•

There is ‘an economic relationship’ between the hedged item and the hedging instrument.

•

The effect of credit risk does not ‘dominate the value changes’ that result from that economic relationship

•

The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item that
the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the hedging instrument that the Group actually uses to hedge that
quantity of hedged item.

Hedges that meet all the qualifying criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for, as described below:
Fair value hedges
The change in the fair value of a hedging instrument is recognised in the statement of profit or loss as other expense. The
change in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to the risk hedged is recorded as part of the carrying value of the
hedged item and is also recognised in the statement of profit or loss as other expense For fair value hedges relating to
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items carried at amortised cost, any adjustment to carrying value is amortised through profit or loss over the remaining
term of the hedge using the EIR method. The EIR amortisation may begin as soon as an adjustment exists and no later
than when the hedged item ceases to be adjusted for changes in its fair value attributable to the risk being hedged.
If the hedged item is derecognised, the unamortised fair value is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
When an unrecognised firm commitment is designated as a hedged item, the subsequent cumulative change in the fair
value of the firm commitment attributable to the hedged risk is recognised as an asset or liability with a corresponding gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss.
Cash flow hedges
The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in OCI in the cash flow hedge reserve,
while any ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss. The cash flow hedge reserve is
adjusted to the lower of the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument and the cumulative change in fair value of
the hedged item.
The Group uses forward currency contracts as hedges of its exposure to foreign currency risk in forecast transactions and
firm commitments, as well as forward commodity contracts for its exposure to volatility in the commodity prices. The
ineffective portion relating to foreign currency contracts is recognised as other expense and the ineffective portion relating
to commodity contracts is recognised in other operating income or expenses.
Beginning 1 January 2018, the Group designates only the spot element of forward contracts as a hedging instrument. The
forward element is recognised in OCI and accumulated in a separate component of equity under cost of hedging reserve.

For any other cash flow hedges, the amount accumulated in OCI is reclassified to profit or loss as a reclassification
adjustment in the same period or periods during which the hedged cash flows affect profit or loss.
If cash flow hedge accounting is discontinued, the amount that has been accumulated in OCI must remain in accumulated
OCI if the hedged future cash flows are still expected to occur. Otherwise, the amount will be immediately reclassified to
profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment. After discontinuation, once the hedged cash flow occurs, any amount
remaining in accumulated OCI must be accounted for depending on the nature of the underlying transaction as described
above.
The Group have no derivative financial instruments in hedge accounting for the years ended December 31st, 2018 and
2017.
Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories comprises all costs incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition and takes into account any write-downs due to
obsolescence or slow-moving items.
The cost of acquired finished products and goods is determined using the FIFO method.
Considering the services provided by the Group, the Consolidated Financial Statements do not include semi-finished
products.
Impairment losses on non-financial assets
At the end of each reporting period the Group assesses whether there is any indication of asset impairment. In such case,
or in those cases when an annual impairment test is required, the Group prepares an estimate of the recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the greater of the fair value of the cash-generating unit, net of the costs of sale, and its valuein-use. The recoverable amount is assessed for individual assets, except when such assets generate financial flows that
not are largely independent from those generated by other assets or asset groups. If the carrying amount of an asset is
greater than its recoverable amount, such asset is impaired and is therefore adjusted down to the recoverable amount.
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The amounts accumulated in OCI are accounted for, depending on the nature of the underlying hedged transaction. If the
hedged transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial item, the amount accumulated in equity is
removed from the separate component of equity and included in the initial cost or other carrying amount of the hedged
asset or liability. This is not a reclassification adjustment and will not be recognised in OCI for the period. This also applies
where the hedged forecast transaction of a non-financial asset or non-financial liability subsequently becomes a firm
commitment for which fair value hedge accounting is applied.
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To establish the value-in-use, the Group discounts to the current value the estimated future financial flows using a beforetax discount rate, which shows the market assessment of the current value of money and the specific risks of the asset.
To establish the fair value net of sale costs, the Group take into account recent transactions carried out on the market. If
it is not possible to identify such transactions, an appropriate valuation model is used. Such calculations are based on
appropriate valuation multipliers, quoted stock prices for affiliated companies whose securities are traded on the market,
and other available indicators of fair value.
The Group relies for its impairment test on detailed accounts and budget forecasts prepared separately for the individual
cash-generating unit individual assets are allocated to. These accounts and budget forecasts cover usually a period of
three years. For longer periods, a long-term growth rate is calculated and used to project the future cash flows beyond the
third year.
Impairment losses of working assets, including impairment losses of inventories, are recognised in the income statement
in the categories of cost consistent with the destination of the impaired asset. This does not apply to previously revalued
fixed assets, if the revaluation was recognised in the statement of comprehensive income and classified as revaluation
reserve. In these cases the impairment itself is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income up to the value of
the prior revaluation.
For assets other than goodwill, at the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses whether there are indications that
previously recognised impairment losses have ceased (or decreased) and, if such indications are found, it estimates the
recoverable amount. The value of an asset previously devalued can be restored only if there have been changes in the
assumptions upon which the calculation of the recoverable amount was based, after recognition of the last impairment.
The recovery of charge-offs cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been assessed, net of amortisation, if no
impairment had been recognised in previous periods. This recovery is recognised in the income statement unless the fixed
asset is not recognised at its revalued value, in which case the recovery is treated as a revaluation surplus.
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Goodwill is tested for impairment at least once a year (on December 31st) and more frequently when circumstances suggest
that the recognised value might be impaired.
The impairment of goodwill is established by estimating the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (or cashgenerating unit group) which goodwill was allocated to. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than
the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit, impairment is recognised. The decrease in the value of goodwill cannot
be restored in future periods.
Cash and short-term deposits
Cash and short-term deposits include cash in hand plus sight and short-term deposits with maturity not beyond three
months.
For the purposes of recognition in the consolidated cash flows statement, the cash and cash equivalents are represented
by cash as defined above.
Treasury shares
Buy-backs of own equity instruments (treasury shares) are recognised at cost and deducted from equity capital. The
purchase, sale, or cancellation of treasury shares does not originate any profit or loss in the income statement. The
difference between the purchase value and the consideration is recognised in the share premium reserve. Voting rights
for treasury shares as well as the right to receive dividends are revoked. Stock options exercised during the period are
allocated treasury shares.
Provisions for risks and charges
Provisions for risk and charge funds are carried out when the Group must meet a current legal or constructive obligation
arising from a past event, an outflow of resources to meet such obligation is likely to occur and it is possible to obtain a
reliable estimate of its amount. Where a provision for contingent charges is expected to be reimbursed, fully or in part, for
example for risks covered by insurance policies, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset when, and only
when, it becomes virtually certain. In this case, in the income statement, the expense relating to a provision is presented
net of the amount recognised for the reimbursement.
Pension funds and other post-employment benefits
The Group has set up a defined-benefit pension plan, as well as contributing to the Italian post-employment benefit plan.
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Gains and losses from actuarial calculations for both defined-benefit plans are fully recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income in the period they are realised. These actuarial gains and losses are classified immediately as
retained earnings and are not reclassified in the income statement in subsequent periods.
Past service costs are recognised as costs on a straight-line basis on the average accrual period of the right to benefits. If
the benefits accrue immediately after introducing or changing the plan, past service costs are recognised immediately.
The liability for the defined benefits includes the current value (which uses a discount rate based on high quality bonds) of
the defined-benefit obligation, less any costs not recognised for past service, subtracted the fair value of the assets
servicing the plan to be used to directly discharge the obligations.
6 - Group information
The Consolidated Financial Statements comprise the financial statements of the parent company IVS Group S.A. and
those of the companies over which it exercises control, directly and indirectly (through its subsidiary and associated
companies). Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.
The financial statements of the parent company (IVS Group S.A.) and of its subsidiaries are prepared as of December
31st, 2018.
The table below lists the companies in which the Parent directly or indirectly holds an investment, indicating the
consolidation method adopted.

IVS Italia S.p.A.
S.Italia S.p.A.
Fast Service Italia S.p.A.
Eurovending S.r.l.
DDS S.p.A.
DAV S.L.
DAV S.L.
20.10 Vending S.r.l.
CE.DA S.r.l.
Golden Service S.r.l.
Commerciale Distributori S.r.l.
IVS France SAS
IVS France SAS
Ciesse Caffè S.r.l.
Universo Vending S.r.l.
Caybe 2 Sl
Maquinas Automaticas Blasco SA
IVS Sicilia S.p.A.
Sci +39
Sci +39
Time Vending S.r.l.
IVS Group Swiss S.A.
S.D.A. S.r.l.
Ge.O.S. Sicilia S.r.l.
Cialdamia S.r.l.
MB WEB S.a.s.
CSH S.r.l.
Venpay S.p.A.
Coin Service S.p.A.
Coin Service Nord S.p.A.
Coin Service Nord S.p.A.
Centy S.r.L.
Auto-bar S.r.l.
Demomatic S.A.
N-uno S.r.l.
Wefor S.r.l.
Wefor S.r.l.
IberVending S.A.
Quick Food Vending S.L.
BSL Vending S.L.
Exmatic S.L.
Contratas Rehabilitacion y Servicion S.L.
IVS Holland BV
IVS Vending UK Ltd

Parent
IVS Group S.A.
IVS Group S.A.
IVS Group S.A.
IVS Italia S.p.A.
IVS Italia S.p.A.
IVS Italia S.p.A.
IVS Group S.A.
IVS Italia S.p.A.
IVS Italia S.p.A.
IVS Sicilia S.p.A.
IVS Italia S.p.A.
IVS Italia S.p.A.
IVS Group S.A.
IVS Italia S.p.A.
IVS Italia S.p.A.
Dav S.L.
Dav S.L.
IVS Italia S.p.A.
IVS France SAS
IVS Italia S.p.A.
IVS Italia S.p.A.
IVS Group S.A.
IVS Italia S.p.A.
IVS Italia S.p.A.
IVS Italia S.p.A.
IVS France SAS
IVS Group S.A.
CSH S.r.l.
Venpay S.p.A.
Venpay S.p.A.
Coin Service S.p.A.
Venpay S.p.A.
IVS Group S.A.
IVS Group S.A.
IVS Italia S.p.A.
N-uno S.r.l.
IVS Italia S.p.A.
Dav S.L.
IberVending S.A.
IberVending S.A.
Quick Food Vending S.L.
BSL Vending S.L.
IVS Group S.A.
IVS Group S.A.

December 31st, 2018
Investment %
Country of
incorporation
direct
Italy
100.0%
Italy
100.0%
Italy
100.0%
Italy
70.0%
Italy
91.4%
Spain
75.0%
Spain
25.0%
Italy
100,0%
Italy
100,0%
Italy
N.A.
Italy
100.0%
France
87.0%
France
13.0%
Italy
5%
Italy
33.3%
Spain
100.0%
Spain
100.0%
Italy
100.0%
France
99.0%
France
1.0%
Italy
50.0%
Switzerland
90.0%
Italy
100.0%
Italy
20.0%
Italy
50.0%
France
80.0%
Italy
100.0%
Italy
60.0%
Italy
94.8%
Italy
46.7%
Italy
53.4%
Italy
15.0%
Italy
0,0%
Switzerland
80.0%
Italy
100.0%
Italy
52.9%
Italy
47.1%
Spain
100.0%
Spain
100.0%
Spain
100.0%
Spain
100.0%
Spain
100.0%
Netherlands
100.0%
United Kingdom
100.0%

%
Reference
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
70.0%
91.4%
75.0%
25.0%
100.0%
100.0%
N.A.
100.0%
87.0%
13.0%
5%
33.3%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
99.0%
1.0%
50.0%
90.0%
100.0%
20.0%
50.0%
80.0%
100.0%
60.0%
56.9%
28.0%
30.3%
9.0%
90.0%
80.0%
100.0%
52.9%
47.1%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%

Treatment
Consolidated
Consolidated
Consolidated
Consolidated
Consolidated
Consolidated
Consolidated
Consolidated
Consolidated
N.A.
Consolidated
Consolidated
Consolidated
Not consolidated
Equity-accounted
Not consolidated
Not consolidated
Consolidated
Consolidated
Consolidated
Equity-accounted
Consolidated
Consolidated
Equity-accounted
Equity-accounted
Consolidated
Consolidated
Consolidated
Consolidated
Consolidated
Consolidated
Not consolidated
Consolidated
Consolidated
Consolidated
Consolidated
Consolidated
Consolidated
Consolidated
Consolidated
Consolidated
Consolidated
Consolidated
Consolidated

December 31st, 2017
%
Treatment
Reference
100.0%
Consolidated
100.0%
Consolidated
100.0%
Consolidated
70.0%
Consolidated
91.4%
Consolidated
75.0%
Consolidated
25.0%
Consolidated
100.0%
Consolidated
100.0%
Consolidated
100.0%
Consolidated
100.0%
Consolidated
87.0%
Consolidated
13.0%
Consolidated
5%
Not consolidated
33.3%
Equity-accounted
100.0%
Not consolidated
70.0%
Not consolidated
100.0%
Consolidated
99.0%
Consolidated
1.0%
Consolidated
50.0%
Equity-accounted
70.0%
Consolidated
100.0%
Consolidated
20.0%
Equity-accounted
50.0%
Equity-accounted
40.0%
Equity-accounted
100.0%
Consolidated
60.0%
Consolidated
56.9%
Consolidated
28.0%
Consolidated
30.3%
Consolidated
N.A.
N.A.
90.0%
Consolidated
80.0%
Consolidated
100.0%
Consolidated
N.A.
N.A.
N.A.
N.A.
100.0%
Consolidated
100.0%
Consolidated
100.0%
Consolidated
100.0%
Consolidated
100.0%
Consolidated
100.0%
Consolidated
100.0%
Consolidated

Companies that are not consolidated are dormant. The carrying amounts of their holdings are reported under "Interests in
other entities", for a total value of EUR 340 thousand.
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The main changes in the composition of the IVS Group with respect to December 31st, 2017 are:
- On April 17th, 2018 the subsidiary IVS Italia S.p.A. has acquired the entire share of G.M. Vending S.r.l. an Italian
company whose vending business unit had already been leased to IVS Italia S.p.A. since about two years ago;
- On August 1st, 2018 IVS Italia S.p.A. incorporated a new company, Wefor S.r.l. in order to move Nespresso®
Professional Line OCS operations in a sole company. During 2018 three transfers has been made with effect
from October 1st, 2018, December 1st, 2018 and January 2nd, 2019;
- On December 12th, 2018 IVS Group S.A. bought 20% of shares of IVS Group Swiss S.A. from minority;
- On December 26th, 2018 IVS IVS Group, through its subsidiary IVS France S.A.S., has acquired from the JV
Cialdamia 80% of shares of MB WEB.
The holding company
The next senior and the ultimate holding company of the IVS Group S.A. is IVS Partecipazioni S.p.A. which is based in
Italy.
Associates
The Group has the following associates:
- Ciesse Caffè S.r.l.
- Universo Vending S.r.l.
- Ge.O.S. Sicilia S.r.l.
For more details, refer to Note 13.
Joint venture in which the Group is a joint venturer
The Group has a 50% interest in Time Vending S.r.l. and Cialdamia S.r.l.
For more details, refer to Note 13.
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Significant transactions and events
7 - Business combinations
On January 8th, 2018, IVS Group, through its subsidiary IVS Italia S.p.A., in order to accelerate the transfer of the service
to all of the clients included in the agreement entered into between IVS Italia S.p.A. and Nespresso Italiana S.p.A., signed
the acquisition agreement of the Nespresso Professional Line unit of Enopanorama S.r.l. (active in Lazio - Rome - and in
the following regions: Abruzzo and Umbria). The consideration transferred is equal to EUR 7,155 thousand. After this new
acquisition, now the partnership between IVS and Nespresso covers the largest part of the Italian territory.
On September 11th, 2018 the subsidiary IVS Italia S.p.A. has acquired the business of Chicchecaffè S.r.l. active in the
vending sector in Italian Emilia Romagna region, with a provisional consideration trasferred of EUR 2,000 thousand.
In addition to the above, since January 1st, 2018 the IVS Group, through its subsidiary IVS Italia S.p.A. has finalized five
acquisitions of business units and shares, located in Italian regions Campania, Calabria, Sicilia, Emilia Romagna, with a
total consideration transferred of EUR 4,458 thousand (of which EUR 1,350 thousand still provisional). In particular, the
acquisition of business unit and share finalized in Calabria region on April 17th, 2018 is related to a business unit leased
by the subsidiary IVS Italia S.p.A. since the last quarter of 2015.
On July 17th, 2018 IVS Group, through its subsidiary IVS France S.A.S., has acquired a vending business located in
Montpellier, with a consideration transferred of EUR 480 thousand.
On December 26 , 2018, IVS Group, through its subsidiary IVS France S.A.S., has acquired from the JV Cialdamia, MB
WEB, with a consideration transferred of EUR 540 thousand. The difference between the carrying amount previolsly equity
accounted by IVS Group for MB-WEB and the transaction price resulted in a gain equal to EUR 298 thousand reported
within the caption “Result of companies valued at net equity”.
All these acquisitions were recorded using the acquisition method of accounting. Therefore, the Consolidated Financial
Statements as of December 31st, 2018 include the results of the aforementioned business from the date of acquisition of
control.
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The aim of the business segments acquisition to acquire business in strategic locations that improve the vending machine
density and integrating them into Company’s network to achieve operating and pricing synergies. The Group obtained the
controls of these business segments acquiring from competitors a portion of their enterprise mainly composed from
vending machines installed and active on customers locations. The consideration transferred is paid through cash.
The goodwill acquired in these acquisitions consists largely of the synergies and economies of scale expected from
combining the operations of IVS and these subject business segments. In particular, the synergies and economies of scale
are connected to increase density of vending machines operating and pricing synergies (small competitors lack economies
of scale and are hindered by limited pricing power and margin pressure).
The fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed of this companies, as at the date of acquisition
were the following:
FOOD SERVICE
357
(109)
527
775

ENOPANORAMA
8,675
925
(2,260)
(185)
7,155

MB WEB
1

775
775

7,155
7,155

(211)
540

2
251
(309)
595
540

329

With reference to the other business combinations, their assessment of the fair value is still provisional since the Group
has not yet completed the valuation of the consideration transferred and net asset acquired:

(in thousands of Euro)
Net fixed assets
Deferred tax assets

Provisional assessment of the fair value
SAIDA
CHICCHECAFFE'
276
762

-

Other non-current assets
Current assets
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities

(62)

-

Non controlling interest
Goodwill
Price
Analysis of cash flows of the acquisition:
Net cash acquired (included in cash flows from investing activities)
Contractual price
Outstanding amount as of 31st December 2018
Net cash flow for the acquisition

GDL TOSCANA
133

AROME DIFFUSION
263

(129)
(26)

(20)
(3)

(18)

-

-

-

-

-

766
980

1,393
2,000

260
370

235
480

980
120
860

2,000
500
1,500

370
185
185

480
480

The main intangible assets recognized in connection to these business combinations are “Customer list” (EUR 9,445
thousand), which fair-value has been estimated though a statistical approach based on the the Multi Period Excess
Earnings Method, that it has been deemed as the most appropriate methodology as it reflects the present value of the
operating incomes generated by the customer portfolio over their term (10 years and 14 years for Ibervending Group).
From the date of acquisitions the new business units and subsidiaries have contributed EUR 5,600 thousand to Group
revenues.
(in thousands of Euro)
Vending Revenues

Italy
5,289

France
311

Total
5,600

The goodwill recognised is attributable to synergies and other economic benefits deriving from the aggregation of
commercial operations of business segments acquired with those of the Group and has been allocated to the respective
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Final assessment of the fair value
GM VENDING DORANDO
(in thousands of Euro)
Net fixed assets
581
224
Deferred tax assets
Other non-current assets
Current assets
333
Non-current liabilities
(77)
(28)
Current liabilities
(65)
Non controlling interest
Goodwill
959
406
Price
1,731
602
Analysis of cash flows of the acquisition:
Net cash acquired (included in cash flows from investing activities)
Contractual price
1,590
602
Outstanding amount as of 31st December 2018
Net cash flow for the acquisition
1,590
602
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CGU. The goodwill is not deductible for income tax purposes, with the exception of that acquired from business units
acquisition.
Information on acquisition carried out in previous year
The Group recorded in the prior year the following business combinations, which assessments of fair values were still
provisional in the consolidated financial statement as of December 31st, 2017 and have been finalized in these financial
statements:
(in thousands of Euro)

RIRI

Net fixed assets
Deferred tax assets
Other non-current assets
Current assets
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Non-controlling interest
Goodwill
Price
Analysis of cash flows of the acquisition:
Net cash acquired (included in cash flows from investing activities)
Contractual price
Outstanding amount as of 31st December 2018
Net cash flow for the acquisition

108
(18)
(34)
766
822
822
822

WORLD
YOURVOICE
DRINK
51
488
5
(97)
74
572
125
968
125
125

PRONTO
COFFEE
639
(70)
(78)
523
1,014

968
175
793

1,014
299
715

FACCHINETTI
CI.ELLE BIOMATIC
VENDING
678
72
24
(8)
(23)
1,342
166
53
2,020
207
77
2,020
2,020

207
49
158

77
7
70

Other information
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It should be noted that as of December 31st, 2018 the outstanding amount for the acquisition of such investments and
business units (and for the acquisitions carried out in previous years) amounted to EUR 1,949 thousand in total, broken
down as follows:
Ǧ Chicchecaffè (EUR 500 thousand)
Ǧ EVS (EUR 459 thousand)
Ǧ MI Group (Eur 214 thousand)
Ǧ IVS Sicilia S.p.A. (EUR 56 thousand);
Ǧ Italdrink S.r.l. (EUR 233 thousand);
Ǧ ODA S.r.l. (EUR 14 thousand);
Ǧ Other business units for a total amount of EUR 473 thousand (of which EUR 267 thousand related business units
acquired in previous years).
Transaction costs arising from these transactions were charged to the income statement under the caption “Cost of
service" and were included in the cash flows from operating activities in the statement of cash flows.
8 - Acquisition of non-controlling interests in subsidiary companies
On December 12nd, 2018 IVS Group S.A. bought 20% of shares of IVS Group Swiss S.A. from minority .
The table below summarises the effect on shareholders’ equity related the acquisition of non-controlling interest:
(in thousands of Euro)

IVS Group Swiss

Value of equity attributable to non-controlling interests at the date of acquisition/transfer
Price paid / Contingent Consideration
Effect on shareholders’ equity attributable to the parent as of December 31st, 2018

4
(18)
(22)

It should be noted that as of December 31st, 2018 the fair value of outstanding amount for the acquisition of minorities
carried out in current and previous years, amounted to EUR 459 thousand in total related to E.V.S. S.r.l. minority interest.
9 - Operating segments
For operating purposes, the Group is organised in business units based on supplied products and services and has five
operating segments, described below:
 the Italy segment, which comprises the sale and supply of goods, food and beverages via automated and
semiautomated vending machines in Italy;
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the France segment, which comprises the sale and supply of goods, food and beverages via automated and
semiautomated vending machines in France;
the Spain segment, which comprises the sale and supply of goods, food and beverages via automated and
semiautomated vending machines in Spain;
the Swiss segment, which comprises the sale and supply of goods, food and beverages via automated and
semiautomated vending machines in Switzerland;
the Coin segment, which comprises the collection and distribution of coins (coin management), counting of coins
for third parties and cash-in-transit services.

The directors examine the results achieved by each business unit separately when making decisions on the allocation of
resources and assessment of performance. Assessment of the performance of a segment is based on its net operating
income which, as explained in the table below, is measured differently from the net operating income in the Consolidated
Financial Statements. The Group's financial activities (such as costs and revenues on loans) and income taxes are
managed at Group level and are not allocated to operating segments.
Transfer prices between operating segments are negotiated internally, using a procedure similar to transactions with
independent parties.
The table below shows segment figures for revenue, net income and other items as of December 31st, 2018 and 2017:
December 31st, 2018
Revenue from third parties
Inter-segment revenue
Total revenue
Depreciation charge

Italy
338,698
10,235
348,933
(37,264)

France
26,962
26,962
(2,507)

Spain
47,929
47,929
(4,326)

Switzerland
3,354
3,354
(606)

Coin
17,414
5,306
22,720
(1,426)

384

(70)

-

-

Segment result

37,271

1,165

2,624

Operating assets

638,012

40,493

90,994

3,734

Share of profit or loss of associates

Operating liabilities
(in thousands of Euro)
December 31st, 2017
Revenue from third parties
Inter-segment revenue
Total revenue
Depreciation charge

Adjustments
and
eliminations

(15,541)
(15,541)
-

Consolidated
434,357
434,357
(46,129)

-

-

314

139

3,747

1

44,947

58,489

5,565

27,842

44,061

814,462

6,700

(660)

5,387

(1,272)

104,883

Adjustments
and
eliminations

Italy
315,790
9,588
325,378
(34,726)

France
26,531
26,531
(2,662)

Spain
47,245
47,245
(4,504)

Switzerland
3,162
3,162
(353)

Coin
16,379
2,794
19,173
(1,183)

63

(68)

-

-

-

(12,382)
(12,382)
(1)

Segment result

32,221

1,503

2,077

(217)

4,106

-

39,690

Operating assets

607,584

37,738

60,829

6,302

17,470

41,539

771,462

Operating liabilities

107,492

3,739

12,853

171

5,150

(3,639)

125,766

Share of profit or loss of associates

Consolidated
409,107
409,107
(43,428)
(6)

Adjustments and eliminations
Financial income and expenses, gains and losses from variations in the fair value of financial assets are not allocated to
any individual segment given that the underlying instruments are managed and administered at Group level.
Income tax and certain other financial assets and liabilities are also not allocated to the individual segments as these too
are managed centrally at Group level.
Reconciliation of profit

December 31st, 2018

Segment profit
Adjustments to value of financial assets
Financial income
Financial expenses
Net exchange differences and variations in fair value of derivatives
Result of companies valued at net equity
Inter-segment eliminations
Group profit before tax

44,947
350
(13,592)
304
314
1
32,324

63

December 31st, 2017
39,690
3,317
(13,952)
21
(6)
29,070
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Reconciliation of Assets

December 31st, 2018

Segment operating assets
Equity investments
Loans and receivables
Deferred tax assets
Tax assets
Current financial assets
Inter-segment eliminations
Group Operating Assets
Reconciliation of Liabilities

December 31st, 2017

770,401
3,284
723
10,566
376
129
44,061
829,540

729,923
2,469
2,095
9,959
1,405
1,440
41,539
788,830

December 31st, 2018

December 31st, 2017

106,155
43,736
22,890
238,287
101,617
996
(1,272)
512,409

129,405
37,958
20,082
237,584
61,537
2,817
(3,639)
485,744

Segment operating liabilities
Medium/long term loans payable
Deferred tax liabilities
Due to bondholders
Short-term loans payable
Derivatives
Tax liabilities
Inter-segment eliminations
Group Operating Liabilities

In terms of revenues earned from major customers, considering the nature of its business, IVS Group has no customers
in the years ended December 31st, 2018 and 2017 who accounted for over 10% of consolidated Revenue from third parties.

Notes to the main captions of the statement of financial position
10 - Intangible assets
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The table below shows the movements in historical cost and in accumulated amortisation of intangible assets during the
period:
(in thousand Euro)

Cost at January 1st, 2018
Purchases
Disposals
Business combination
Exchange rate difference
movements
Devaluation
Reclassification
Cost at December 31st,
2018
Accumulated Amortization
at January 1st, 2018
Amortization
Disposals
Business combination
Exchange rate difference
movements
Devaluation
Reclassification
Accumulated Amortization
at December 31st, 2018
Carryng amount
At January 1st, 2018
At December 31st, 2018

Development
expenses

378
229
-

Industrial patent and
soft./intellectual property
rights

6,835
307
(15)
-

Concessions, licences,
trademarks and similar
rights

Customer
list

643
1
-

79,293
9,445

Other
intangible
assets

Intangible under
construction

Total

2,461
69
(137)
-

-

89,610
606
(152)
9,445

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(3)

224

11

-

-

-

232

604

7,351

655

88,738

2,393

-

99,741

(301)

(5,791)

(632)

(33,919)

(1,835)

(100)
-

(607)
15
-

(4)
-

(5,467)
-

(168)
121
-

-

- (42,478)
(6,346)
136
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

8

(319)

-

-

-

-

(311)

(393)

(6,702)

(636)

(39,386)

(1,882)

77
211

1,044
649

11
19

45,374
49,352

626
511

- (48,999)
-

47,132
50,742

The increase of the Customer list caption is due to acquisitions and business combinations made during the year which
as of December 31st, 2018 was accounted for as a net increase of approximately EUR 9,445 thousand in total.
The following table summarizes the changes arising from the aforementioned transactions:
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(in thousands of Euro)
Transaction
Acquisition of business units by N-Uno Srl
Acquisition of business units by CE.DA. S.r.l.
Acquisition of business units by 20.10 Vending Srl
Acquisition of business units by IVS Italia S.p.A.
Acquisition of business units by Ivs France SAS
Exchange rate difference movements (Switzerland)
Total

Amount
8,101
786
298
166
69
25
9,445

11 - Goodwill and Impairment Test
The following table shows variations in goodwill at December 31st, 2018 compared to the previous year:
December 31st, 2018
379,430
74
5,141

(in thousands of Euro)
Net book value at 1st January
Additions
Disposals
Write-downs
Reclassification
Exchange rate difference movements
Business combinations
Net book value

384,645

December 31st, 2017
356,531
(80)
22,979
379,430

The item “Business Combinations” of EUR 5,141 thousand relates to operations described in Note 7 above.

The goodwill recognised from the acquisition of new subsidiaries and Italian, French, Spanish and Swiss business units is
attributable to the synergies and other economic benefits resulting from combination of assets and commercial transactions
with those of the Group and was allocated to the respective CGU.
Goodwill allocated to each CGU is detailed below:
(in thousands of Euro)
Transaction
CGU Spain
CGU France
CGU Switzerland
CGU Italy
CGU Coin
Total

December 31st, 2018

December 31st, 2017

25,251
19,311
2,326
327,949
9,808
384,645

25,274
18,481
2,239
323,627
9,808
379,429

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined considering their value in use, from the point of view of the entity
that carries out the business, for which it assumes a value proportionate to the expected cash flows arising from its
continued use and disposal at the end of activities. The Group used the projected cash flows included in the Parent’s 20192021 business plan to calculate the value in use of the five CGUs and extrapolated the cash flows after three years in
perpetuity assuming cash flows in line with those of the business plan’s third year.
Specifically, these flows were the sum of: (i) adjusted forecast NOPLAT (net operating profit less adjusted taxes) for 2021
(adjusted by considering the Group’s scheduled depreciation plan), (ii) investments equal to the maintenance amortization.
No changes in working capital were foreseen in the calculation of the Terminal Value. The resulting cash flow was projected
to grow by factor g equal to 1%.
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The goodwill acquired through business combinations was allocated for impairment test purposes to five cash generating
units (‘CGU’), which coincide with the operating segments for which disclosure is provided, as follows:
 CGU Italy
 CGU France
 CGU Spain
 CGU Switzerland
 CGU Coin

Consolidated financial statements as of December 31st, 2018
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The discount rate applied to the projected cash flows is the same for all the CGUs since debt is managed at Group level.
Calculation of the rate is shown in the table below; it was determined using the expected average indebtedness:
WACC components
Risk free rate
Market risk premium
Unlevered Beta
Cost of equity
Cost of debt
Tax effect
Cost of debt after tax
Weight D/(D+E)
Weight E/(D+E)
WACC

December 31st, 2018
2.62%
5.5%
0.61
8.7%
4.0%
24.0%
3.0%
22.2%
77.8%
7.4%

December 31st, 2017
2.1%
5.5%
0.61
8.0%
3.4%
24.0%
2.6%
20.0%
80.0%
6.9%

The yield rate for 10-year government bonds at the start date of the business plan was used as the risk free rate.
An unlevered Beta of 0.61 was used, recalculated considering a leverage effect based on the sector’s average debt-toequity ratio.
The business plan assumptions include an increase in turnover over the three years from 2019 – 2021 and take into
consideration the management estimation of effects on sales and costs relating to 2018 acquisitions. Operating costs are
expected to increase in line with the Group’s forecast growth.
The Group determined the recoverable amount using the Unlevered Discounted Cash Flow model. For goodwill
impairment test purposes, the recoverable amount was assumed to be equal to the relevant enterprise value, which is the
mathematical sum of the present value of the cash flows generated by ordinary operations (“operating value”).

Annual Report 2018 • Consolidated Financial Statements

92

No need for the recognition of impairment losses has emerged from the comparison of the carrying and recoverable
amounts.
Sensitivity analysis
The Group performed a sensitivity analysis of the estimated recoverable amount considering the current and forecast
economic situation and the results of the impairment tests for 2018.
At December 31st, 2018, assuming a “g” rate constant at 1%, a 0.5% increase in WACC would not lead to the carrying
amount exceeding the recoverable amount for any CGU excluding Italy and France. The same result would be caused by
a deterioration of 5% in cash flows or in number of vends (in comparison to those included in the 2019-2021 business
plan).
The discount rates that make the CGUs’ recoverable amounts equal to their carrying amounts are set out in the following
table:
CGU Spain
CGU France
CGU Italy
CGU Switzerland
CGU Coin

December 31st, 2018
7.91%
7.44%
7.71%
11.92%
21.92%

December 31st, 2017
8.65%
7.27%
7.69%
7.48%
20.30%

To review its impairment indicators the Group takes into consideration the relationship between its market capitalization
and its carrying amount, among other factors. At December 31st, 2018, the Group’s market capitalization (EUR 407.3
million) was higher than the carrying amount of shareholders’ equity (EUR 317.0 million), a situation which wouldn’t indicate
a potential impairment of goodwill and operating segment assets.
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12 - Property, plant and equipment
The table below shows the movements in historical cost and in accumulated depreciation during the period:

Cost at January 1st, 2018
Purchases
Disposals
Business combination
Exchange rate difference
movements
Devaluation
Reclassification
Cost at December 31st, 2018
Depreciation at Jan.1st, 2018
Depreciation
Disposals
Business combination
Exchange rate difference
movements
Devaluation
Reclassification
Depreciation at Dec. 31st,
2018
Net carrying amount
At January 1st, 2018
of which leased
At December 31st, 2018
of which leased

Land and
buildings

53,477
769
(84)
-

Plant and
machinery

14,310
776
(58)
-

Industrial and commercial
equipment

424,229
41,099
(7,713)
1,804

Other
assets

71,802
6,489
(1,849)
40

Assets under
construction

539
808
-

-

-

169

13

-

223
54,385
(14,859)
(1,352)
24
-

18
15,046
(10,447)
(1,196)
32
-

32
459,620
(305,950)
(31,052)
4,816
-

231
76,726
(52,388)
(6,146)
1,645
-

(477)
870
-

Investment
Property

Total

1,481
-

565,838
49,941
(9,704)
1,844

-

182

27
1,481 608,128
(558) (384,202)
(37) (39,783)
6,517
(44)

-

-

(39)

(5)

(202)

(9)

773

(509)

-

(16,389)

(11,620)

(331,452)

(57,403)

-

38,618
11,389
37,996
11,403

3,863
3,426
-

118,279
160
128,168
210

19,414
756
19,323
145

539
870
-

-

53

(595) (417,459)
923
886
-

181,636
12,305
190,669
11,758

In the year ended December 31st, 2018 capital expenditure mainly involved industrial and commercial equipment, in which
category all purchases of automated vending machines are classified. This expenditure is part of the Group’s normal
renewal of its machines, an increase in its business and part of the vending activity.
The net carrying amount of property, plant and equipment under finance lease or rented, under leases that qualify as
finance leases as per IFRS, is EUR 11,758 thousand. Such assets are mainly property, industrial and commercial
equipment and other assets.
“Other assets” include vehicles, cars, office electronic equipment and furnishings and fittings.
Capitalized internal costs as part of revamping activities (for automatic vending machines) totaled EUR 9,596 thousand
(EUR 9,256 thousand in prior year).
Management believes that the fair value of the investment property is in line with its carrying amount. The fair value of the
investment property is considered to be the value of the individual assets on the reporting date, assuming that they were
to be sold in arms-length transactions between market operators at market conditions.
13 - Equity Investments
This caption includes the Group’s share of equity (including goodwill) of the equity-accounted associated of joint ventures.
The following table provides a list of the main investments:
(in thousands of Euro)
Universo vending S.r.l.
Time Vending Srl
GE.O.S Sicilia S.r.l.
Cialdamia S.r.l.
MB Web S.A.
Interests in other minor entities

Total
Total

December 31st, 2017
Consolidated
carrying amount
509
1,519
246
2,274
195
2,469

Share or profit
(loss)
115
340
15
(86)
(70)
314
314

67

Distribution
received

(290)
(290)
(290)

December 31st, 2018
Additions /
Reclassification
Disposal
890
(294)
256
(186)
1,146
(480)
125
1,271
(480)

Consolidated
carrying amount
624
1,569
261
510
2,964
320
3,284
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(in thousands of Euro)
Universo vending S.r.l.
Espresso Service Proximitè
Time Vending Srl
GE.O.S Sicilia S.r.l.
Cialdamia S.r.l.
MB Web S.A.
Interests in other minor entities carried at cost

Total
Total

December 31st, 2016
Consolidated
carrying amount
568
2,695
1,226
236
4,725
195
4,920

Share or profit
(loss)
205
110
293
10
(445)
(179)
(6)
(6)

Distribution
received
(264)
(359)
(623)
(623)

December 31st, 2017
Additions /
Reclassification
Disposal
(2,446)
800
(355)
179
(1,646)
(176)
(1,646)
(176)

Consolidated
carrying amount
509
1,519
246
2,274
195
2,469

The share of profit included in the equity investments derives from the most recent financial statements available of these
entities (December 31st, 2018).
On April 18th, 2018 IVS Group, through its subsidiary Venpay S.p.A. participated at the public call to increase of capital of
Centy S.r.l (a little Italian start-up company focused on the retail service, enabling the expendability of small value metallic
Euro cents) thus acquiring the 15% of the company. The cash contributed to this new entry is equal to EUR 125 thousand.
The following table gives details of the main financial highlights of the companies consolidated with the equity method:
(in thousands of Euro)
Universo Vending S.r.l.*
Time Vending S.r.l.*
GE.O.S Sicilia S.r.l.*
Cialdamia S.r.l.*
MB Web S.A.*
Total

Total assets
December 31st, 2018 December 31st, 2017
7,870
7,913
1,464
1,544
3,991
4,002
2,403
2,723
368
15.728
16,550

Revenue
December 31 st, 2018 December 31 st, 2017
18.352
17,086
1.599
1,232
8.115
8,694
1.818
3,185
1,033
29.884
31,230

Profit (loss)
December 31 st, 2018 December 31 st, 2017
344
243
689
587
127
53
(220)
(890)
(247)
940
(254)

n.a. not available at the date of approval of the IVS Group’s 2018 Consolidated Financial Statements
* most recent financial statements available at December 31st, 2018, not yet authorised for issue.
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14 - Current and non-current financial assets
Non-current financial assets are mainly composed of:
- loan of IVS Italia S.p.A. to the joint venture Cialdamia S.r.l. for EUR 0 thousand (EUR 90 thousand in 2017).
During the year has been registrated an increase of EUR 800 thousand and the decrease of EUR 890 thousand
related to recapitalization of the entity by waiver of its liability toward its sharesholders;
- loan of IVS Italia S.p.A. to Consorzio Internazionale del Vending for EUR 162 thousand (EUR 1,380 thousand in
2017);
- receivable for a life insurance policy for one of the directors of Fast Service Italia S.p.A. to be paid to the company,
totaling EUR 544 thousand.
Current financial assets are principally composed of:
- financial receivables totalling EUR 128 thousand, for coins delivered to customers whose value at the reporting
date had not been collected by Coin Group companies;
15 - Inventories
The following table shows inventories at December 31st, 2018 and 2017:
(in thousands of Euro)
Raw materials, supplies and consumables
New automated vending machine
Devaluation on vending machine
Food products
Spare parts

December 31st, 2018
76
8,562
(185)
23,067
4,690
36,210

Total

December 31st, 2017
76
7,671
19,348
4,793
31,888

Variation
891
(185)
3,719
(103)
4,322

No provision for inventory write-down has been made as the obsolescence risk is zero, given the high turnover rate of the
goods and ongoing monitoring of the shelf life of products in the warehouse as per the Group’s plan which complies with
HACCP requirements.
The increase in Food products is mainly attributable to Nespresso business line.
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16 - Trade receivables
The following table gives a breakdown of trade receivables and the related allowance for impairment at December 31 st,
2018 and 2017:
(in thousands of Euro)
Customers
Associates
Parent
Allowance for doubtful accounts

Total

December 31st, 2018
30,023
115
19
(1,566)
28,591

December 31st, 2017
27,080
128
6
(1,158)
26,056

Variation
2,943
(13)
13
(408)
2,535

The group companies do not have significant risk concentration at the reporting date. Trade receivables, due within one
year, do not usually bear interest and are generally paid after 30 to 60 days.
The receivables are reported net of an allowance for impairment, totaling EUR 1,566 thousand; annual allowances are
made by each Group company identifying in detail the receivables to write down and thus reflect a specific impairment.
In terms of ageing of trade receivables at December 31st, 2018 and 2017, the following should be noted:
December 31st, 2018

Inc %

December 31st, 2017

Inc %

17,588
3,236
1,362
644
7,193
30,023

59%
11%
5%
2%
24%
100%

13,918
4,212
1,309
486
7,155
27,080

51%
16%
5%
2%
26%
100%

Total

17 - Tax assets and liabilities
Tax assets are amounts due to the group companies by the tax authorities of the countries in which they reside for direct
taxes which should be recovered in a reasonable timeframe. They amount to EUR 376 thousand at the reporting date
(EUR 1,405 thousand at December 31st, 2017).
Tax liabilities relate to unpaid current taxes for the year due by the group companies to tax authorities. They are calculated
using the rates enacted or substantially enacted in the respective Countries in which the companies reside and amount to
EUR 996 thousand at the reporting date (EUR 2,817 thousand at December 31st, 2017).
18 - Other current assets
The following table shows other current assets at December 31st, 2018 and 2017:
(in thousands of Euro)
Receivables from others due within one year
Accrued income
Prepayments
Tax assets unrelated to income taxes

December 31st, 2018
6,183
13
5,783
14,291
26,270

Total

December 31st, 2017
5,659
20
5,934
13,378
24,991

Variation
524
(7)
(151)
913
1,279

Receivables from others at December 31st, 2018 are mainly related to advance for acquisitions of business units for EUR
535 thousand (EUR 1,020 thousand at December 31st, 2017), and other guarantee deposits and advances to suppliers.
Prepayments and accrued income refer to costs incurred in advance, such as bank fees, maintenance installments,
utilities, sundry services, insurance, lease, automated vending machine location and slotting fees for automated vending
machines, etc.
Tax assets unrelated to income taxes mostly consist of VAT assets which do not bear interest until their reimbursement
has been formally claimed. They are usually settled on a quarterly basis with the relevant tax authorities. It is possible that
reimbursements by the tax authorities take even more than 365 days from the day on which the respective claim is filed.
19 - Cash and cash equivalents
The following table shows cash and cash equivalents at December 31st, 2018 and 2017:
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(in thousands of Euro)
Customers
Current
Less than 30 days
Overdue by 30 to 60 days
Overdue by 61 to 90 days
Overdue by more than 91 days
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(in thousands of Euro)
Ordinary bank and postal accounts
Cash-in-hand and cash equivalents
Current accounts - Coin Group Coin Clearing
Coin Group coin deposit
Total

December 31st, 2018
41,335
19,476
12,663
23,454
96,928

December 31st, 2017
23,944
19,438
16,139
19,569
79,090

Variation
17,391
38
(3,476)
3,885
17,838

Ordinary bank deposits are mainly available on sight and bear interest at floating rates.
Cash-in-hand and cash equivalents are composed of cash collected from the sale of food and beverages from vending
machines not yet deposited at banks at the reporting date.
Clearing current accounts are composed of current accounts used by the Coin Group to pay and collect the corresponding
amount of pick-ups and deliveries of coins to customers.
The coin deposit totalling EUR 36,117 thousand is represented by coins stored in the vault of the Coin Group companies
which as of the reporting date, based on pick-ups from customers, was completely available to the Group.
20 - Net financial indebtedness
The Group’s net financial indebtedness at December 31st, 2018 and 2017 is as follows:
(in thousands of Euro)
Current Securities
Cash and cash equivalents
Derivatives

Short-term loans payable
Liabilities towards bond holders
Derivatives
Medium/long term loans payable
Liabilities towards bond holders

Annual Report 2018 • Consolidated Financial Statements

96

Other investments – fixed income
Non-current loans (financing)
Other non-current assets (financing)

December 31st, 2018
129
96,928
97,057
(101,617)
(612)
(102,229)
(43,736)
(237,675)
(281,411)
(286,583)
544
179
407
(285,453)

Cash and current financial assets

Current financial debt
Non-current financial debt
Net financial indebtedness (*)

Net financial position

December 31st, 2017
1,440
79,090
80,530
(61,537)
(647)
(62,184)
(37,958)
(236,937)
(274,895)
(256,549)
607
1,488
387
(254,067)

(*) Pursuant to ESMA update of the CESR recommendations “The consistent implementation of Commission Regulation (EC) No 809/2004 implementing the Prospectus Directive”

The financial liabilities for bank loans are related to nine medium-long term loan agreements with floating rate index to
Euribor signed during the years ended December 31st,2017 and 2018 (of which EUR 35,000 thousand undrawn), and a
loan signed in 2016 having a residual of around EUR 6.2 million.
It should be noted that several loans require compliance with certain financial covenants measured at December 31st, and
fully satisfied at December 31st, 2018.
The Group’s net financial indebtedness includes the following items related to the Coin operating segment, in addition to
cash items mentioned in Note 10:
- finance lease contracts for purchasing equipment and buildings for EUR 100 thousand;
- liabilities to customers totalling EUR 35,638 thousand, from coins picked up and lodged with the company’s coin
counting rooms and banks whose value as of the reporting date had not been returned to the customer;
- trade financial receivables totalling EUR 123 thousand, for coins delivered to customers whose value at the
reporting date had not been collected by Coin Group companies;
- short term loan agreement totalling EUR 8,000 thousand.

21 - Shareholders' equity
Share Capital
The table below shows the composition of the capital underwritten and paid up and a reconciliation of the number of shares
outstanding at December 31st, 2018 and 2017:
Ordinary shares issued
Own shares
Total shares outstanding
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December 31st, 2018
38,952,491
(2,130,024)

December 31st, 2017
38,952,491
(2,130,024)

36,822,467

36,822,467
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These shares, without par value, amount to a total of EUR 363,558 and, with the exception of treasury shares, have normal
dividend rights.
Dividend rights
Shares all enjoy equal dividend rights.
Voting rights
The extraordinary operation foreseen by the Company Statute having been completed, ordinary shares all enjoy equal
voting rights.
Dividends paid and proposed
The table below gives details of dividends declared and paid by Parent:
(in thousands of Euro)
Dividends on ordinary shares declared or paid:
Final dividend for 2017: 0.28 (2016: 0.24)

2018
10,907
10,907

2017
9,438
9,438

Share premium reserve
This comprises mainly the share premium reserve present in Italy1 Investment S.A. at January 1st, 2012, increased by
EUR 219,788 thousand for the effects present in the separate financial statements of the Parent following the merger by
incorporation of fiscal year 2012 of IVS Group Holding S.p.A. in Italy1 Investment S.A.

Shareholders' equity attributable to non-controlling interests
The shareholders' equity attributable to non-controlling interests increase from EUR 8,559 thousand at December 31st,
2017 to EUR 9,774 thousand at December 31st, 2018 mainly as a result of the following:
 Increase for the total result of the period for EUR 1,400 thousand;
 Increase for acquisition of non-controlling interest IVS Group Swiss (EUR 4 thousand);
 Decrease for acquisition of MB WEB (EUR 13 thousand);
 Payment of dividends (EUR 230 thousand).
Total non-controlling interest at December 31st, 2018 primarily related to the 40% interest held in Venpay S.p.A. (EUR
8,094 thousand).
22 - Employee benefits
This caption amounts to EUR 8,838 thousand at the reporting date (EUR 8,788 thousand in 2017).
As disclosed in the section on the accounting policies, the Group has defined contribution and defined benefit plans for its
Italian and French employees.
(in thousands of Euro)
Italian plan
French plan
Total

December 31st, 2018
8,417
421
8,838

December 31st, 2017
8,345
443
8,788

Italian employee severance indemnity (TFR)
Italian employee severance indemnity or Trattamento di fine rapporto, abbreviated to “TFR”, relates to the amounts that
employees in Italy are entitled to receive when they leave the company and is calculated based on the period of
employment and the taxable earnings of each employee.
Under certain conditions the entitlement may be partially advanced to an employee during the employee’s working life.
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Other reserves
These comprise the other capital reserves, relative to the impact on shareholders' equity of operations not reflected in the
changes in share capital and in share premium reserve. At December 31st, 2018 this reserve shows a positive balance of
EUR 9,401 thousand.
Details of the composition of and variations in shareholders' equity are shown in the relative Statement of changes in
Shareholders' equity.
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The Italian legislation regarding this scheme was amended by Law 296 of 27th, December 2006 and subsequent decrees
and regulations issued in the first part of 2007. Under these amendments, companies with at least 50 employees are
obliged to transfer the TFR to the “Treasury fund” managed by INPS (Italian Social Security Institution) or to supplementary
pension funds. Prior to the amendments, accruing TFR for employees of all Italian companies could be managed by the
company itself. Consequently, the Italian companies’ obligation to INPS and the contributions to supplementary pension
funds take the form, under IAS 19, of “Defined contribution plans” whereas the amounts recorded in the provision for
employee severance pay retain the nature of “Defined benefit plans”. Accordingly, the provision for employee severance
indemnity in Italy consists of the residual obligation for TFR until December 31st, 2006. This is an unfunded defined benefit
plan as the benefits have already been almost entirely earned, with the sole exception of future revaluations.
Since 2007 the scheme has been classified as a defined contribution plan, and the Group recognizes the associated cost
over the period in which the employee renders service.
The assumptions used to calculate the Group’s obligations in respect of the long-term benefits are set out below:
Calculation date
Mortality rate
Invalidity rate
Personnel turnover rate
Discount rate
Management salary increase rate
Junior management salary increase rate
White collar salary increase rate
Blue collar wage increase rate
Advance rate
Inflation rate
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December 31st, 2018
RG48 charts
INPS charts
3.00%
1.57%
1.00%
1.00%
1.00%
1.00%
2.00%
1.50%

December 31st, 2017
RG48 charts
INPS charts
3.00%
1.30%
1.00%
1.00%
1.00%
1.00%
2.00%
1.50%

The discount rates used for the measurement of the Italian TFR obligation are based on yields of high-quality (AA rated)
fixed income securities for which the timing and amounts of payments match the timing and amounts of the projected
benefit payments.
Changes in the present value of defined benefit obligations are as follows:
(in thousands of Euro)
Initial defined benefit obligations
Post-employment benefits acquired from other companies
Service cost
Interest cost
Paid out/advanced
Actuarial gain/losses
Final defined benefit obligations

December 31st, 2018
8,788
244
548
114
(556)
(300)
8,838

December 31st, 2017
8,724
367
290
119
(662)
(50)
8,788

Sensitivity Analysis
Sensitivity analysis of the main evaluation parameters on the Italian plan as of December 31st, 2018:
(in thousands of Euro)
Variation of the assumptions

+1%
8,350

Turnover

-1%
8,459

+1/4%
8,558

Inflation

-1/4%
8,248

Discount rate
+1/4%
-1/4%
8,178
8,633

The expected benefit payments for defined benefit obligations are as follows:
(in thousands of Euro)
2019
2020
2021
2022

Amount
684
540
559
528

The average duration of the Italian TFR is approximately 15.8 years.
The expected contributions to the plan for the next annual reporting period are EUR 559 thousand.
23 - Provisions for risks and charges
This caption relates to the provisions for risks and charges and comprises:
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(in thousands of Euro)
Tax
Provision for loss replenishment in associate/joint venture companies
Legal contingencies
Others
Total Provision – Non current
Legal contingencies
Total Provision – Current

Increase/
December
Reclassification Payments
31st,2017
(Decrease)
119
480
(480)
(455)
455
1,417
(455)
(26)
21
1,561
(480)
(26)
21
124
124
-

Business
Combination

-

December
31st, 2018
119
957
1,076
124
124

Legal contingencies with Italian Antitrust Authority (IAA) have been reclassified in 2017 from provisions for risks and
charges to other liabilities (note 27). In 2018 the remaining legal contingencies have been reclassified in the category
Others.
The other provisions include the estimated or probable liabilities, mainly related to civil and/or labour pending disputes.
Disclosure on potential liabilities at the reporting date is provided on Note 28.
There are no other potential liabilities at the reporting date other than those provided for in this caption, considering their
respective risk level.
24 - Deferred tax assets and liabilities
The following table provides a breakdown of the temporary differences giving rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities:
December 31st, 2017

262
119
4,000
(15,178)
158
(2,531)
638
2,407
(10,125)

Result
170
(23)
45
584
17
(234)
151
(319)
391

Other changes

(2,590)
(2,590)

December 31st, 2018

432
96
4,045
(17,184)
175
(2,765)
789
2,088
(12,324)

Deferred tax liabilities total EUR 22,890 thousand (Euro 20,082 thousand at December 31st, 2017), while deferred tax
assets amounted to EUR 10,566 thousand (EUR 9,959 thousand at December 31st, 2017).
Deferred tax assets are recognised when their recoverability is deemed probable based on the business plan approved
by the Parent’s board of directors.
No deferred tax liabilities were recognised at the reporting date for taxes on undistributed profit of the subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures. The Group evaluated that undistributed profit of its subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures
will not be distributed in the foreseeable future. The temporary differences associated with investments in foreign
subsidiaries for which a deferred tax liability has not been recognised, aggregate to EUR 16,804 thousand.
25 - Financial liabilities
The following table gives a breakdown of financial liabilities split between current and non-current and by category:
(in thousands of Euro)
Due towards banks for loans
Due towards leasing companies
Due towards other providers of finance
Due towards other providers of finance (Coin Division)
Liabilities towards debenture holders
Current account overdrafts
Fair value of derivative instruments

December 31st, 2018
Non-current
Current

Total

34,675
9,061
237,675
281,411
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64,725
867
350
35,672
612
3
102,229

Total

99,400
9,928
350
35,672
238,287
3
383,640

December 31st, 2017
Non-current
Current
28,194
9,764
236,937
274,895

23,175
865
830
36,281
647
386
62,184

Total

51,369
10,629
830
36,281
237,584
386
337,079
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(in thousands of Euro)
Untaxed provisions
Impairment losses on intangible assets
Carry forward of tax losses
Carry forward of interest expense
Carry forward of ACE
Fixed assets
Customer list
Employee benefits
Leased assets
Other
Consolidation adjustments
Net amount

Consolidated financial statements as of December 31st, 2018

________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

The financial liabilities for bank loans are related to nine medium-long term loan agreements with floating rate index to
Euribor. In addition the group at December 31st, 2018 has undrawn medium-term loan for EUR 160,000 thousand.
At December 21st, 2018 a new loan facility has been assigned by BNP Paribas as Global Coordinator e Bookrunner, with
the participation of BNL, Banca MPS e Rabobank (a leading Dutch bank) as Mandated Lead Arrangers. The facility,
undrawn at December 31st, 2018 and with an availability period of 18 months, is split in two tranches: trance “A” amounting
to EUR 50 million, aimed to refinancing existing loans, and tranche “B” amounting to EUR 100 million, aimed to fund future
acquisitions. Both the trances will be reimbursed on October 15th, 2022. These new loans agreements require the comply
with some financial covenants and the obligation for the Group to meet certain financial ratio levels, which are in line with
the other requirement and ratio already included in the Senior Unsecured Bond and in the other existing loan agreements.
The term-loan facility agreement includes, among other market standard provisions, a clause that shall allow the
lenders to ask for the early repayment of the outstanding facility in case of change of control on the part of the
Company. Based on the availability of this new loan facility, the Group reclassified as “current” the outstanding amount of
the facilities not contractually due in 2019 but that has been refinanced in the first quarter of 2019 to increase duration of
Group financing.
Some of the Group’s loan agreements require the satisfaction of financial covenants and the obligation for the Group to
meet certain financial ratio levels. In detail, the following covenants and relevant thresholds are to be complied with:
• Consolidated Net Leverage Ratio (Consolidated Net Indebtedness / Consolidated EBITDA) ≤3.85;
• Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (Consolidated EBITDA / Fixed Charges) ≥ 3.0.
The financial covenants and fully satisfied at December 31st, 2018.
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Definitions of these terms can be found in the Prospectus dated October 23rd, 2015 predisposed in connection with the
issue of the 4.5% senior unsecured notes issued on November 5th, 2016 and available at Company’s premises upon
request as well as at the following internet address: www.ivsgroup.lu.
If the covenants are not met, the lenders can request early repayment of the relevant loan. The value of the covenants is
monitored at the end of each quarter. At December 31st, 2017 these ratios were met by the Group.
A breakdown of liabilities (excluding fair value of derivatives instruments and current financial liabilities connected to the
Coin business) is as follows:
(in thousands of
Euro)
Type of Liabilities

Subsidiary

Loan - BNL
Loan - Banco
Popolare
Loan - Banco di
Desio
Loan - Banco
Popolare di Milano
Loan - UBI
Loan - MPS
Loan - MPS
Loan - BNL
Loan - BNL
Loan - Deutsche
Bank

IVS Italia S.p.A.

Outstanding
Amount as
of December
31st, 2018
Floating
4,114

IVS Italia S.p.A.

Floating

IVS Italia S.p.A.

Floating

IVS Italia S.p.A.
IVS Italia S.p.A.
IVS Italia S.p.A.
IVS Italia S.p.A.
IVS Group S.A.
IVS Group S.A.
Coin Service
S.p.A.
Coin Service
S.p.A.
Coin Service
S.p.A.
DDS S.p.A.

Floating

1,742

2,662

95

98

101

103

107

110

1,128

1,647

SCI +39

Floating

5,341

8,338

476

491

507

524

541

559

2,243

4,865

DAV S.L.

Floating

2,493

3,500

167

172

176

182

187

192

1,417

2,326

185

612

44

47

49

45

Loan -MPS
Loan -Credem
Leasing - Unicredit
Leasing Sogefimur/Finamur
Leasing - Banco
Sabadel
Leasing - Credem

Ivs Sicilia Spa

Rate

Original
Amount

2019

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024

Beyond

Total
Noncurrent

21,197

4,114

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4,996

10,000

2,504

2,492

-

-

-

-

-

2,492

2,227

2,500

548

551

560

568

-

-

-

1,679

Floating

7,541

10,000

1,978

1,988

2,031

1,544

-

-

-

5,563

Floating
Floating
Floating
Floating
Floating
Fix
1.2%

10,008
10,016
7,397
19,855
25,030

10,000
10,000
9,250
20,000
25,000

10,008
10,016
2,467
25,030

2,464
9,882
-

2,466
4,981
-

4,992
-

-

-

-

4,930
19,855
-

217

300

60

60

61

36

-

-

-

157

Fix

6,000

6,000

6,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Fix

2,000

2,000

2,000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Fix
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Senior Unsecured
Notes 4.5% due 2022
Loan - Time Vending
Bank Overdraft
(Other)
Other providers of
finance and leasing
companies
Total

IVS Group S.A.
IVS Italia S.p.A.
Various
subsidiaries
Various
subsidiaries

Fix
4.5%
Fix

238,287

240,000

612

-

-

237,675

-

-

- 237,675

350

350

350

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Floating

3

N.A.

3

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Floating

166

-

85

65

15

1

-

-

-

81

347,968

381,709

66,557

18,310

10,947

245,670

835

861

4,788 281,411

The floating interest rate is linked to Euribor 3M/6M plus spread.
26 - Financial Instruments
Carrying amounts and fair values of financial instruments as of December 31st, 2018 are shown below:
(in thousands of Euro)

Carrying amount

Fair value

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Fair value through proit or loss
Corporate Bond
Amortized cost

Other financial assets (current and non-current)
Trade receivables
Other non-current assets
Other current assets
Available-for-sale financial assets

Total

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:
Derivatives over own equity instruments (warrant)
Put-option over NCI (Contingent Consideration)
Other financial liabilities:
Senior Unsecured Notes 4,50% (current and non-current)
Interest bearing loans and borrowings (current and non-current)

Trade payables
Other current liabilities

Total

96,928

96,928

63

63

789
28,591
407
26,270
153,048

789
28,591
407
26,270
153,048

-

-

-

238,287
145,353
68,034
26,811
478,485

245,376
145,353
68,034
26,811
485,574

245,376

63

-

245,376

63

-

-

145,353
145,353

-

The Group uses the following fair value hierarchy based on different valuation techniques to determine and document the
fair value of financial instruments:
 level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
 level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices);
 level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.
Cash, trade receivables, trade payables, other payables and receivables have been measured at their carrying amounts,
inasmuch as this is believed to approximate fair values.
The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:
Ǧ quoted bonds and derivatives based on price quotations at the reporting date;
Ǧ contingent considerations are determined using DCF method. Significant valuation inputs of the undiscounted
amount are linked – among other - to profitability of the entity and its net financial position.
No transfers from level 1 to level 2 or vice versa took place during the period.
With reference to the financial instruments measured at amortised costs the level of fair values above, refers to the fairvalue reported in this Note for disclosure purposes.
With reference to the fair-value of intangible assets measured on a non-recurring basis and acquired as part of business
combinations (level 3), more details can be found in Note 7.
27 - Other non-current and current liabilities
The following table shows other current liabilities at December 31st, 2018 and 2017:
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(in thousands of Euro)
Legal contingencies IAA non-current
Legal contingencies IAA current
Other liabilities
Accrued expenses
Deferred income
Social security charges payable
Tax liabilities (excluding income taxes)

Total Other non-current liabilities

Total Other current liabilities

December 31st, 2018
3,196
14,888
553
317
5,843
2,014
26,811

December 31st, 2017
3,196
3,196
12,760
19,323
597
265
5,436
2,097
40,478

Variation
(3,196)
(3,196)
(9,564)
(4,435)
(44)
52
407
(83)
(13,667)

The change is mainly due to legal contingencies with Italian Antitrust Authority (IAA) (note 22).
The change in Other liabilities is mainly due to amounts to be paid for the acquisition of equity investments and business
units, that decreased from EUR 6,787 thousand as of December 31st, 2017, to EUR 1,949 thousand as of December 31st,
2018.
Similarly to prior year, Other liabilities also include payables to employees for December 2018 remuneration (EUR 5,480
thousand), paid in January 2019, unpaid accrued holidays and leave (EUR 4,096 thousand), deposits received from
holders of charge keys used to purchase food and beverages from the vending machines (EUR 3,237 thousand).
Social security charges payable include amounts due to the relevant institutions for the annual contributions in line with
the different legislation ruling in the countries in which the Group is based (Italy, France, Spain and Switzerland).
Other tax liabilities, part of which is due within one month, mainly consist of withholdings on wages and salaries of the
Italian employees.
28 - Contingencies, commitments and restrictions on the distribution of profits
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Legal contingencies
On July 27th, 2017, following the hearing held on June 7th, 2017, the Regional Administrative Court (TAR) of Lazio decided
on the appeal filed by IVS Italia S.p.A., other 13 Italian companies active in the vending industry and CONFIDA (the
association of operators in the vending industry) against the decision of the Italian Antitrust Authority (IAA) which held that
the parties involved in the investigation (including IVS Italia S.p.A.) in the period 2011-2014 have made agreements aimed
at restricting competition in the Italian vending sector.
As regards IVS Italia S.p.A., on July 28th, 2017 the TAR confirmed the fine of EUR 31,918 thousand and offset the legal
expenses of either parties due to the novelty and difficulty of the issues dealt in the proceeding. The IAA has authorized
IVS Italia S.p.A. to pay the fine by 30 instalments starting from October 2016 (therefore 27 instalments have been paid at
December 31st, 2018).
Against the TAR decision, on November 27th, 2017 IVS Italia S.p.A. filed an appeal in front of the State Council (Consiglio
di Stato).
Notwithstanding IVS management deems that the TAR has not adequately evaluated the several and well-documented
grounds of appeal submitted by IVS Italia S.p.A., it accrued during the past years a provision of EUR 31,918 thousand. The
outstanding liability, as of the date of these Annual Report and net of instalments already paid, amounts to EUR 3,196
thousand.
Fiscal contingencies
The claim of the Italian Tax Authority concerning the offset by S.Italia S.p.A. (Company) of a VAT credit led in the year
2011 regarding fiscal year 2010 is still in progress: in March 2016, the Italian Second Degree Tax Judge (Commissione
Tributaria Regionale-CTR) partly upheld the Italian Tax Authority opposition against the decision of the First Degree Tax
Judge (Commissione Tributaria Provinciale-CTP) that was totally in favour of S.Italia S.p.A., and therefore confirmed that
no VAT was due but nonetheless condemned the Company to pay the penalties solely (EUR 154 thousand). On October
20th, 2016 the Company appealed against the CTR decision in front of the Italian Supreme Court (Corte di Cassazione).
Meanwhile, on October 7th, 2016 the arbitrators, appointed to decide the claim for indemnification filed by IVS Group
against Selecta AG, based on the purchase agreement of S.Italia S.p.A., issued a partial decision: the arbitrators (i) have
held that Selecta AG has breached the Sellers’s representations and warranties under the share purchase agreement and
therefore is responsible of the losses already suffered by the Company, i.e. EUR 82 thousand, (ii) has reduced by the
same amount the contractual basket of EUR 250 thousand, (iii) has adjourned the arbitral proceeding until the end of the
tax proceeding in order to definitively assess the losses suffered by the Company and possibly condemn Selecta AG to
indemnify the Company for the sum exceeding the basket. An application of the Company to the Italian Ombudsman for
taxation (Garante del Contribuente) for relief from the penalty of EUR 154 thousand was rejected on November 11th, 2016.
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On October 31st, 2016 the Company paid the penalty of EUR 154 thousand without prejudice of the ongoing appeal
proceedings. The Italian Supreme Court has not fixed the hearing for discussion of the case yet.
On October 24th, 2018 the Italian Financial Police (Guardia di Finanza) ended a general tax inspection on IVS Group SA,
IVS Italia S.p.A. and IVS F S.p.A. (merged into CSH S.r.l. in 2016), notifying some findings related to direct and indirect
taxes with reference to previous fiscal years. The management, with the support of its tax and legal advisor, believes that
there are solid arguments in favour of the Company to challenge the reports send by Guardia di Finanza to Italian fiscal
Authority. At the date of the approval of this Annual Report the Group has not yet recipt any notification from the Italian
Fiscal Authority (Agenzia delle Entrate) related to such findings, and therefore it’is still currently assessing , with the support
of its external advisors, the likelihood and exposure connected to this risk.

Other Contingencies
In May 2016 the Italian National Social Security Authority (“INPS”) sent to IVS Italia S.p.A. a communication about the
criteria applicable for the calculation of social security contributions applied in previous years.
The INPS request is due to changes in law consequent to Law 92/2012 and the applicability of CIGS contribution to our
business. IVS management and its advisor worked to address this complex matter, which resulted from uncertainties on
the underlying administrative regulation. INPS has not yet formally requested the payment of these contributions, so the
appropriate provision remain unchanged.
Guarantees
Existing guarantees at the reporting date were mostly given for loans granted by third parties to Group companies or for
their participation in public tenders.

Operating leases
The Company has operating leases for cars, buildings and other minor goods. The total of future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases can be summarized as follows (no lease agreement is evaluated as “significant”
or includes contingent rents / sublease payments):
(in thousands of Euro)

Future minimum lease payments

December 31st, 2018

Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years

5,801
20,771
10,079

Restrictions on the distribution of profits
As of December 31st, 2018, equity as defined under Luxembourg law and regulations consisted of:
(in thousands of Euro)
Share capital
Share Premium
Legal Reserve
Treasury shares reserve
Retained earnings including net result for the year ended December 31st, 2018
Total
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December 31st, 2017

5,874
21,606
16,050

Amount
364
329,336
39
20,895
2,712
353,346
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The following should be noted:
- at December 31st, 2018 the vaults of the Coin Group contained coins belonging to third parties for a total of EUR
18,778 thousand, for which the company has underwritten specific insurance contracts;
- the subsidiary Fast Service Italia S.p.A. has pledged to Credito Valtellinese the policies stipulated with La Venezia
Assicurazioni and Allianz Subalpina for a total insured capital of EUR 544 thousand corresponding to premiums
paid and recorded in the financial statements under the heading “Non-current financial assets”;
- the subsidiary IVS Italia S.p.A. has declared guarantor for Ge.O.S. Sicilia S.r.l. in favour of the Banca Nuova
S.p.A. for a total amount of EUR 200 thousand and in favour of Cofincaf for a total amount of EUR 66 thousand.
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At least 5% of the Company’s net income per year, as calculated in accordance with Luxembourg law and regulations,
must be allocated to the creation of a legal reserve equivalent to 10% of the Company’s share capital. As of December
31st, 2018, this reserve is EUR 38,689.
Dividends may not be paid out of the legal reserve.
Among other conditions, the Company may pay dividends to the extent, that it has distributable retained earnings
calculated in accordance with Luxembourg law and regulations and covenants described in the Indenture of its Senior
Secured Notes.
At December 31st, 2018, distributable amount under Luxembourg law totals EUR 332,051 thousand, as detailed below:
(in thousands of Euro)
Retained earnings at December 31st, 2018 under Luxembourg law
Share Premium
Legal Reserve (in excess respect the 10% of Share Capital)
Distributable amount at December 31st, 2018 under Luxembourg law

Amount
2,712
329,336
3
332,051

Notes to the main income statement captions
29 - Revenue from sales and services
The following table shows changes in this caption and a breakdown by geographical segment:
(in thousands of Euro)
Italy Operating Segment
France Operating Segment
Spain Operating Segment
Switzerland Operating Segment
Coin Operating Segment
Revenue from sales and services

Annual Report 2018 • Consolidated Financial Statements

104

December 31st, 2018
321,240
25,672
45,697
3,243
16,732
412,584

December 31st, 2017
303,750
25,601
44,976
3,062
16,288
393,677

Variation
17,490
71
721
181
444
18,907

Var %
5.8%
0.3%
1.6%
5.9%
2.7%
4.8%

In terms of the Italy, France, Spain and Switzerland operating segments, revenue is earned on “supplies”, i.e., amounts
collected for sales of food and beverages directly from the automated vending machines, “sales with invoices”, i.e., revenue
from the sale of products delivered directly to customers and revenue from the sale of automated vending machines.
Revenue from the Coin segment regards revenue for providing pick-up, delivery, transport, counting and blister packing
of coins.
30 - Other revenue and income
The following table shows variations in this caption:
(in thousands of Euro)
Other operating revenue and income

December 31st, 2018
(21,773)

December 31st, 2017
(15,430)

Variation
(6,343)

Var %
41.1%

The caption includes revenue mainly from the Italy segment and from the sale of goods, spare parts, equipment and
material to third parties, revenue related to the provision of technical assistance performed on vending machines owned
by third parties.
It also comprises income from the reimbursement of costs, lease income, compensation for damage and prior year gains
generated by the group companies’ operations.
31 - Cost of raw materials, supplies and consumables
The cost of procuring raw materials, consumables, supplies and goods, related to different types of food and beverages,
underwent the following changes from 2017 to 2018:
(in thousands of Euro)
Raw materials, consumables
Change in inventories
Total

December 31st, 2018
106,883
(3,186)
103,697

December 31st, 2017
102,053
(3,614)
98,439

Variation
4,830
428
5,258

Var %
4.7%
(11.8%)
5.3%

This caption is shown net of premiums, discounts and rebates granted by the key suppliers on special deliveries or when
set turnover levels and/or total quantities purchased are met.
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32 - Cost of services
The following table shows changes in this caption:
((in thousands of Euro)
Cost of services
Use of third party assets
Total

December 31st, 2018
37,441
6,767
44,208

December 31st, 2017
37,508
7,845
45,353

Variation
(67)
(1,078)
(1,145)

Var %
(0.2%)
(13.7%)
(2.5%)

This caption includes directors’ fees (see note 44), maintenance services, electricity and utilities (e.g., water, telephone,
etc.), transportation, administrative, legal and commercial services.
33 - Personnel costs
This caption of EUR 115,995 thousand includes the cost of filling the vending machines by third party personnel for Group
companies of EUR 13,186 thousand (the cost of which can thus be considered as normal personnel expenses).
(in thousands of Euro)
Wages and salaries
Social security contributions
Employee benefits
Other personnel expenses
Third parties personnel costs
Total

December 31st, 2018 December 31st, 2017
74,260
70,287
21,379
19,952
4,121
3,839
3,049
3,049
13,186
12,923
115,995
110,050

Variation
3,973
1,427
282
263
5,945

Var %
5.7%
7.2%
7.3%
2.0%
5.4%

The increase of EUR 5,945 thousand include the impact of the acquisitions finalized during the year that contribute to this
caption with EUR 427 thousand, as showed in the table of management report. Without this impact the personnel cost
would have increased of EUR 5,518 thousand.The increase is mainly due to increases relate to CGU Italy (EUR 4,003
thousand) mainly due to the additional cost occurred in January for the renewal of Italian Labor Contract (EUR 1,021
thousand).

December 31st,2018
3
43
668
2,067
18
2,799

(numbers of employees)
Executives
Managers
Employees
Workers
Trainees
Total

December 31st,2017
3
38
652
2,008
5
2,706

34 - Other operating income and expenses
This caption may be analysed as follows:
(in thousands of Euro)
Impairment losses on current assets and provision for risks
Redevances
Fuel cost
Other operating costs
Total other operating costs

December 31st, 2018
197
57,453
6,174
14,537
78,361

December 31st, 2017
1,038
49,677
5,527
15,083
71,325

Variation
(841)
7,776
647
(546)
7,036

Var %
(81.0%)
15.7%
11.7%
(3.6%)
9.9%

The caption “Other operating costs” includes:
 EUR 204 thousand mainly related to the accrual of provision for risk in connection to devaluation of stock
 costs for spare parts of EUR 5,577 thousand;
 costs for various material and consumables and other operating costs of EUR 7,056 thousand;
 other miscellaneous tax (excluding income taxes) of EUR 1,931 thousand.
35 - Net gains on the sale of assets
The following table gives a breakdown of non-recurring income and expense, showing those arising on the sale of noncurrent assets:
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The table below shows the number of employees on the job on December 31st, 2018 compared to the previous year:
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(in thousands of Euro)
Gains on the sale of assets
Losses on the sale of assets
Net gains on the sale of assets

December 31st, 2018
1,006
(2,026)
(1,020)

December 31st, 2017
697
(1,519)
(822)

Variation
309
(507)
(198)

Var %
44.3%
33.4%
24.1%

36 - Financial income and expenses
The table below shows the breakdown of financial income and expenses:
(in thousands of Euro)

Income

Bank interest
Interest on financial lease
Interest on bank loans
Interest on shareholders’ loan
Interest on bonds
Other interest
ESP capital gain
Financial income/expenses for IAS 19

Total financial income (expense)
Net loss on interest rate speculative derivatives (flows)
Net loss on interest rate hedging derivatives (flows)
Other Financial charges
Foreign exchange difference
Net fair value gains on interest rate speculative derivatives (∆ MTM)
Net gains(losses) on derivative
Net financial income (expense) and net loss on derivatives
Foreign exchange differences and variations in derivatives fair value, net
Total financial income (expenses)
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December 31st, 2018
Expenses
9
(11)
(229)
(869)
(11,503)
341
(870)
(110)
350
(13,592)
105
(50)
250
355
(50)
305
705
(13,642)

December 31st, 2017
Income
Expenses
46
(15)
(242)
(952)
(11,469)
227
(1,159)
3,044
(115)
3,317
(13,952)
27
(6)
27
(6)
21
3,344
(13,958)

As of December 31st, 2018 net finance costs amounted to EUR 12,937 thousand, against EUR 10,614 thousand in the
corresponding period of the previous year. The variation is principally due to the negative effect of EUR 3,044 thousand
of capital gain for the sale of Espresso Service Proximité S.A. and the positive effect of the gain on interest rate derivative
(250 thousand).
37 - Result of companies valued at net equity
The total of the caption is positive for EUR 314 thousand (negative for EUR 6 thousand in 2017). For further details please
refer to Notes 13.
38 - Income taxes
This is comprised as follows:
(in thousands of Euro)
Current taxation
Deferred tax liability
Deferred tax assets

Total

December 31st, 2018
(8,084)
(299)
691
(7,692)

December 31st, 2017
(6,326)
892
(2,767)
(8,201)

Variation
(1,758)
(1,191)
3,458
509

Var %
28.0%
(133.5%)
(125.0%)
(6.2%)

It should be noted that IVS Group S.A. has its registered offices in Luxembourg, while its administrative and main
operations are located in Italy. Consequently, for 2018, as well as for the previous years, the Company is resident for fiscal
purposes in Italy, and taxes were calculated accordingly.
Note 24 provides details of the captions that lead to the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities.
The percentage of tax on the profit for the year before taxes is equal to 23,80% (28.2% in 2017) compared to a statutory
tax rate of 25.43% (25.12% in 2017) from applying the rates required by tax laws of Italy 27.5% (IRES), Spain 30% (ISS),
France 33.33% (IS) and Switzerland 17.92% (F/C/C-T).
The table below shows the difference between the statutory and effective tax rates for the compared periods:
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(in thousands of Euro)
Profit / (loss) before tax
Theoretical tax
Permanent differences and effect of change in tax rate
France effect of change in tax rate
Ammount of the benefit arisinf from unrecognized Swiss DTA
Spain tax effect
Tax Incentive (iper/super depreciation)
Tax Incentive (ACE)
Non-deductible expenses for tax purposes/non taxable income:
Provision for risk and charges
Treasury shares capital gain
Other tax-free income
ESP capital gain
IRAP
Total tax burden

December 31st, 2018
32,324
(8,219)
(76)
253
17
(63)
1,532
1,018
399
(2,553)
(7,692)

December 31st, 2017
29,070
(7,302)
(79)
449
1,091

25.4%
0.2%
(0.8%)
(0.1%)
0.2%
(4.7%)
(3.1%)
(1.2%)
7.9%
23.8%

(802)
(67)
44
860
(2,395)
(8,201)

25.1%
0.3%
(1.5%)
(3.7%)
2.76%
0.3%
(0.2%)
(3.0%)
8.2%
28.2%

On June 21st, 2017 the Italian law amended the ACE tax rate (from 1,60% to 1,50%), therefore impact of ACE incentive
on ETR decreased consequently.
The decrease in the tax rate is mainly due:
-

the benefit arising from the “Industry 4.0” decree. For the year ended December 31st, 2018, the effect amounts
to EUR 1,027 thousand;

-

the mechanism of the Italian tax incentive “ACE” (Aid to Economic Growth), that allowed a deduction calculated
by applying a notional rate to the equity of entity (and therefore a fixed deduction not proportional to the profit
before tax). On December 31st, 2018, the effect amounts to EUR 1,018 thousand.

-

the additional accrual on June 30th, 2017 for IAA provision, that represents a non-deductible expense.

The effective tax rate of the Group - without giving effect to such effects – for the six month period ended December 31st,
2018 would have been 28.12%.

39 - Earnings per share
Base earnings per share
Base earnings per share at December 31st, 2018 were calculated on a net profit attributable to the Group of EUR 23,232
thousand (net profit of EUR 19,506 thousand at December 31st, 2017) and on an average number of outstanding shares
during the period of 36,822,467 (38,108,577 at December 31st, 2017), calculated as follows:
December 31st, 2018
Number of Share in existence as of 1 January (net of treasury share)
Buy-back Program/Other
Weighted average shares in circulation

December 31st, 2017

36,822,467

38,986,074

-

(2,163,607)

36,822,467

38,108,577

Diluted earnings per share
At December 31st, 2018 there are no instrument issued which may involve a dilutive effect and therefore diluted earnings
per share correspond to base earnings per share.

Other information
40 - Cash flow disclosures

(in thousands of Euro)
Cash flows from interests received and paid
Interest received
Interest paid
Changes in working capital
Inventories
Trade receivables
Other current assets
Other liabilities
Trade payables

December 31st, 2018

December 31st, 2017

Total

303
(12,583)
(12,280)

251
(12,741)
(12,490)

Total

(3,437)
(3,252)
(1,479)
(344)
(2,189)
(10,701)

(4,014)
(3,351)
2,661
1,301
4,753
1,350
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Cash flows from interests received and paid
During the period, the Group has registered cash outflow of interest for a total amount of EUR 12,583 thousand and cash
inflow for EUR 303 thousand.
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities:

Due to bond holder (non
current)
Non-current financial
liabilities

January 1st, 2018

Cash flows from financing activities
New longReimbursement Current liabilities
term loan of long-term loan
variation

Reclassification

Other

December 31st, 2018

-

-

-

-

738

237,675

37,958

84,219

(43,690)

-

(34,962)

212

43,737

Current financial liabilities
Due to bondholder
(current)

61,537

-

-

5,008

34,962

109

101,616

-

-

-

-

(35)

612

Total

337,079

84,219

(43,690)

5,008

-

1,024

383,640

236,937

647

The ‘Other’ column includes the effect of reclassification of non-current portion of interest-bearing loans and borrowings
and the effect of accrued but not yet paid interest on interest-bearing loans and borrowings.The Group classifies interest
paid as cash flows from operating activities.
41 - Capital management
The Group manages its capital using the “Net Financial Position/Total shareholders’ equity ratio” (gearing). The net
financial position consists of financial debts less cash and other financial credits as indicated in Note 20. Equity includes
all items presented in the statement of financial position.
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(In thousands of Euro)
Net financial position
Total Shareholders' Equity
Gearing

December 31st, 2018
(285,453)
317,131
90%

December 31st, 2017
(254,067)
303,086
84%

The Group’s strategy is aimed at increasing its gearing ratio in the medium term, by reducing the financial leverage used
when the Group was created and, therefore, reaching a level that would allow it to continue its ordinary operations, meets
its investment commitments and enhance the investment value for its Shareholders.
The Group keeps or changes its capital structure by issuing new shares or, subject to clearance by creditor banks or
bondholders, increasing or decreasing its investments in subsidiaries and acquiring/disposing of investments.
42 - Risk management policy
Risk management activities
The Group is exposed to financial risks in the course of its normal business activities: market risks (related mainly to
interest rates), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group’s financial and accounting department ensures financing is available by carefully analysing interest rate
fluctuations on an ongoing basis in relation to its financial exposure.
Market risk
Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest risk management policy has a two-pronged objective: to minimize the cost of funding and to decrease
its exposure to interest rate fluctuations, as changes in interest rates affect both the fair value of variable rate financial
assets and liabilities and the Group’s future results of operations.
At the reporting date, the 68% of all the Group’s financial liabilities (without considering current liabilities of Coin division
to customers for coins picked-up and lodged in the company's coin counting rooms) is subject to fix rate (4.5%); the
remaining 32% of financial liabilities bear interest at floating or indexed rates.
A sensitivity analysis is provided below to illustrate the effects of a change in interest rates of +/- 50 base points
compared to the rates at December 31st, 2018 with other variables held constant. The potential impacts were calculated
on the variable-rate financial liabilities at December 31st, 2018. Taking into account that most of the Group's indebtedness
is indexed at a fixed rate, an increase in interest rates would result a higher cost of interest on the consolidated financial
statements amounting to EUR +/- 506 thousand.
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Currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an exposure will fluctuate because of changes in
foreign exchange rates. The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates relates only to the Group’s
investments in IVS Group Swiss S.A. e Demomatic S.A. (new acquisition of the end 2016). Due to size of this investment,
Group’s exposure to foreign currency is not material (total asset denominated in CHF 6,097 thousand, total liabilities
denominated in CHF 3,887 thousand).
Credit risk
We are exposed to credit risk related to our customers who may cause us to make larger allowances for doubtful trade
receivables or incur write-offs related to impaired receivables.
Trade receivables are mainly generated from sales hot beverage single-use drink pods (mostly coffee), cups and stirrers
which we provide to our Office Coffee Services customers and typically invoice our customers at the time of each delivery.
Although we review the credit risk related to our customers regularly, such risks may be exacerbated by events or
circumstances that are inherently difficult to anticipate or control. While many customers pay their receivables within 30 to
60 days, we experienced a decrease of 2% of trade receivables that are overdue by 91 days from 2017 to 2018, following
a decrease of 5% from 2016 to 2017. Our allowance for impairment was EUR 1,566 thousand as of December 31st, 2018,
representing approximately 5.3% of our gross trade receivables. The amount of our provision for bad debts is based on
our assessment of historical collection trends, business and economic conditions and other collection indicators.
If the macroeconomic conditions in Italy, France, Spain and Switzerland deteriorate, we cannot assure that we will not
have to increase our provisions for impaired debts relating to debts owed to us, which could have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of each class of financial assets. The
Group does not hold security as collateral.

Liquidity risk

This is the risk that the Group will not be able to generate sufficient cash flows from its operations to cover investments and third party
debt. Each group company is free to negotiate credit facilities (in accordance with corporate management) and to agree

diversified sources of funding (e.g., loans, finance leases, bank credit facilities, etc.) as long as the maintenance covenants
of the 4.5% Senior Unsecured Notes are respected.
Although the current bank credit facilities are sufficient to meet its requirements (unused bank credit facilities for EUR 9.8
milion and undrawn medium-term loan for EUR 160.0 million ad December 31st, 2018), given the operating limit agreed
with the banks that provided the senior loan, the Group's aim is to have a debt level which enables it to balance average
loan repayments with flexible and diversified sources of funding.
43 - Related party transactions
As of December 31st, 2018 IVS Partecipazioni S.p.A. directly owned 23,068,739 shares in IVS Group S.A., representing
59.22% of the IVS Group’s capital (59.22% of voting rights).
Transactions and balances disclosed as with “Associated” companies are those with companies over which IVS Group
exerts significant influence or joint control in accordance with IFRS, but does not have control. All other transactions and
balances with related parties which are not Associates and witch are not consolidated are disclosed as “Other”.
(in thousands of Euro)
A) Costs and Revenues
A1. Sales of goods and services
Sales of good to the Parent
Sales of good to associated parties
Sales of good to other related parties
Sales of services to the Parent
Sales of services to associated parties
Sales of services to other related parties

December 31st, 2018

Total Sales of goods and services

83

327
277
10
13
912
1.539

December 31st, 2017
305
528
10
75
729
1,647
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In addition, as of December 31st, 2018, the Group had approximately EUR 13,582 thousand in unpaid Italian VAT refunds
due from the Italian government. Pursuant to applicable law, the Italian government refunds this credit however VAT
refunds sometimes took as long as two years and we have no way of knowing if such payment periods will be extended
further in the future.
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A2. Purchases of goods and services
Purchases of good from the Parent
Purchases of good from associated parties
Purchases of good from other related parties
Purchases of services from the Parent
Purchases of services from associated parties
Purchases of services from other related parties

Total Purchases of goods and services
B) Receivables and Payables
B1. Arising from sales /purchases of goods/services
Receivables from the Parent
Receivables from associated parties
Receivalbles from other related parties
Payables to the Parent
Payables to associated parties
Payables to other related parties
Total Receivables/(Payables) net from sales/purchases of good/services
B2. Financial Debt/Assets
Receivables from the Parent
Receivables from associated
Receivables from other related parties
Borrowing from the Parent
Borrowing from associated parties
Borrowing from other related parties
Total Financial Debt/Assets net

(4.897)
(11.415)
(156)
(1.606)
(4.229)
(22.303)

(4,545)
(11,400)
(156)
(1,275)
(4,016)
(21,392)

19
87
869
248
(4,724)
(3,501)

6
128
602
514
(2,750)
(1,500)

(2,025)
(2,025)

1.495
(2,025)
(530)

44 - Director and independent auditor fees
Directors’ compensation
During the 2018 and 2017 the cash compensation of Directors of IVS Group S.A. amounted to EUR 1,346 thousand and
EUR 1,407 thousand respectively.
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The table below shows the details of the total amount of fees for parent’s directors and independent auditors:
(in thousands of euro)
Directors' emoluments
Audit Costs
Audit related activities
Non-audit services charged by the primary auditor and its network
Total

December 31st, 2018 December 31st, 2017
1,346
1,407
454
497
148
384
1,948
2,288

84

Variation
(61)
(43)
(236)
(340)

Var %
(4%)
(9%)
(62%)
(15%)

Consolidated financial statements as of December 31st, 2018
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45 - Subsequent events
On January 31st, 2019 IVS Group’s subsidiary, IVS France S.a.S. has acquired the entire participation of Reves de Cafè
a company active in the OCS vending sector for a provisional consideration transferred of around EUR 510 thousand.
On February 15th, 2019 IVS Group subscribed derivatives instruments to hedge interest risk of its new credit lines for a
total amount of 120,000 thousand of which EUR 50,000 thousand starting from March 21st, 2019 and EUR 70,000 thousand
starting from June 21st, 2020.
On February 28th, 2019 IVS Group, has acquired the entire participation of SDA-Società Distribuzione Automatica 2000
S.r.l. for a provisional consideration transferred of around EUR 20,602 thousand paid cash and transferring to one of the
sellers n. 234,206 IVS Group treasury shares. SDA-Società Distribuzione Automatica 2000 S.r.l. active since more than
50 years in the vending business in Italy and leader in Liguria region, with sales of around EUR 13.2 million in 2017.
On February 28th, 2019 the subsidiary IVS Italia S.p.A. has acquired Roma Distribuzione 2003, active in the vending sector
in Lazio region, already rented from January 1st, 2019. The business acquired generates annual sales of around EUR 4
million and its provisional enterprise value was valued around EUR 4.9 million.
Lastly, we are continuously in search of targets to acquire in order to increase our customer base and services in those
areas and branches which would permit an increase in volumes against a relatively lower increase in the respective costs.
Luxembourg, March 19th, 2019

On behalf of the Board of Directors,
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Mr. Paolo Covre
Chairman
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Balance sheet as at December 31st, 2018
(expressed in Euro)
Notes

December 31st,
2018

December 31st,
2017

2. Concessions, patents, licenses, trademarks and similar rights and assets

2

3,453,390

4,043,468

4. Payments on account and intangible fixed assets under developments

2

5,339,322

456,748

2

101,962,351

99,553,446

1. Share in affiliated undertakings

3

229,092,038

229,009,317

2. Loans to affiliated undertakings

4

286,534,257

285,447,856

4.Amounts owed by undertakings with which the company is linked by virtue of participating
interests

-

-

5. Investments held as fixed assets

-

-

626,381,358

618,510,835

6

41,625,495

17,063,826

7

11,872,936

12,797,176

-

-

5

20,894,832

20,894,832

-

-

14,253,613

5,246,884

88,646,876

56,002,718

216,007

239,816

715,244,241

674,753,369

ASSETS
C. Fixed assets
I. Intangible fixed assets

II. Tangible fixed assets
3. Other fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment
III. Financial fixed assets

D. Current assets
II. Debtors
2. Amounts owed by affiliated undertakings
a) becoming due and payable within one year
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4. Other receivables
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a) becoming due and payable within one year
III. Investments
1. Shares in affiliated undertakings
2. Own shares or corporate units
3. Other investements
IV. Cash at bank, cash in postal cheque accounts, cheques and cash in hand

E. Deferred charges

Total Assets

LIABILITIES
A. Capital and reserves
I. Subscribed capital

8

363,558

363,558

II. Share premium

8

329,336,643

332,222,938

-

-

IV. Reserves
1. Legal reserve

8

38,689

38,689

2. Reserve for own shares or corporate units

8

20,894,832

20,894,832

-

-

V. Results brought forward

4. Other reserves
8

-

1,454,224

VI. Result for the financial year

8

2,712,238

5,969,771

353,345,960

360,944,012
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B. Provisions
1. Provisions for pensions and similar obligations

9

2. Provisions for taxation
3. Other provisions

9

369,942

360,049

-

-

15,226

15,226

385,168

375,275

C. Creditors
1. Bonds
b) Non-Convertible bonds
10

1,380,000

1,380,000

(i) becoming due and payable after more than one year

10

240,000,000

240,000,000

-

-

a) becoming due and payable within one year

11

25,043,358

1,750,000

b) becoming due and payable after more than one year

11

20,000,000

7,500,000

-

-

1,110,419

944,522

-

-

2. Amounts owed to credit institutions

4. Amounts due to trade creditors
a) becoming due and payable within one year

12

6. Amounts owed to affiliated undertakings
a) becoming due and payable within one year

13

70,410,404

58,209,742

b) becoming due and payable after more than one year

13

-

-

-

-

a) Other taxes

14

2,019,674

2,112,065

b) Social security debts

14

384,006

369,742

-

-

1,161,723

1,131,375

361,509,584

313,397,446

3,529

36,636

715,244,241

674,753,369

8. Tax and social security debts

9. Other creditors
(i) becoming due and payable within one year

D. Deferred income

Total Liabilities

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the annual accounts.
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(i) becoming due and payable within one year

Annual Accounts of IVS Group S.A. as of December 31st, 2018
________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Profit and Loss account for the year ended December 31st, 2018
(expressed in Euro)

Notes

December 31st, 2018

December 31st, 2017

Profit and Loss account
1. Net turnover

16

38,547,321

35,661,726

4. Other operating income

17

1,209,554

1,005,113

-

-

18

(4,144,036)

(3,865,671)

a) Wages and salaries

19

(4,508,281)

(4,340,635)

b) Social security costs

19

(1,682,551)

(1,596,401)

c) Other staff costs

19

(135,074)

(122,949)

2

(25,839,748)

(24,395,030)

(2,488,293)

(1,472,988)

11,490,495

11,441,367

-

-

-

-

20

60,526

1,064,182

6

250,000

294,262

5.
a) Raw Materials and consumables
b) Other external charges
6. Staff costs

7. Value adjustements
a) in respect of formation expenses and tangible and intangible fixed assets
b) in respect of current assets
8. Other operating expenses
10. Income from other investments, other securities and loans forming part of the fixed assets
a) from affiliated undertakings

20

b) other income not shown under a)

Annual Report 2018 • Annual Accounts

124

11. Other interest recevaibles and other financial income
a) from affiliated undertakings
b) other interest and financial income
12. Share in the results of the undertakings to which the equity method has been applied
13. Value adjustements in respect of financial assets and investments held as current assets
14. Interest payable and other financial expenses
a) relating to affiliated undertakings

20

(328,671)

(320,548)

b) other interest and financial expenses

20

(11,190,286)

(11,358,576)

21

1,471,282

3,975,919

2,712,238

5,969,771

2,712,238

5,969,771

15. Tax on results
16. Results after taxation
17. Other taxes not shown under items 1. to 16.
18. Results for the financial year

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the annual accounts.
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Notes to the annual accounts as of December 31st, 2018
General information

IVS Group S.A. is a Luxembourg Company incorporated as a “société anonyme” (public limited laiblity company) subject
to the general company law of Luxembourg for an limited period of time and more precisely until December 31st, 2049
which can be extended by resolution of an extraordinary general meeting of shareholders at any time. The Company has
changed its registered office on July 13rd, 2018. The current registered office is at L-1449 Luxembourg, 18 Rue de l’Eau
and it is registered with the Luxembourg Register of Commerce and Companies under section B number 155,294. The
shares of IVS Group S.A. are listed on the Italian stock market (“MTA” segment).
The IVS Group S.A. resulted from the merger by incorporation of IVS Group Holding S.p.A. into Italy1 Investment S.A..
Italy1 Investment S.A. (“Italy1”) was the first SPAC (acronym of Special Purpose Acquisition Company) to be listed on the
Italian Stock Exchange. The merger operation was approved on April 12th, 2012 by the shareholders and on May 16th,
2012 the merger finally came into force and the Company assumed the corporate name of IVS Group S.A., proceeding,
in the meantime, as per company statute and regulations, to the buy-back of the shares held by those shareholders who
exercised the redemption option in view of the realization of the Business Combination.
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IVS Group S.A. controls, directly and indirectly, a number of companies that operate in the vending market , i.e., in the
sale of products through automated and semi-automated vending machines installed at unattended points of sale
(businesses, schools, hospitals, railway stations and other public places). These machines operate 24 hours a day and
consumers purchase products through the introduction of coins, banknotes, prepaid cards and other means of payment.
The Group also controls the Coin Group, which core business is the counting of coins for third parties, cash-in-transit
services, collection and distribution of coins (coin management). The extraordinary shareholders meeting held on January
12th, 2015 has amended the corporate object of the Company; besides the holding of participations, the Company may
now engage in the trade, management and renting of automatic and semiautomatic vending machines, their spare parts
and accessories. Following this amendment the Company had purchased the vending machines of its Italian subsidiaries
and then leased back them to the same entities. The aim of this transaction is to make more efﬁcient the handling and
management of such vending machines.
The accounting year for the Company begins on the first day of January and terminates on the last days of December of
each year.
The Company also prepares consolidated financial statements under International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”);
report which are published according to the provision of the company law.
1 – Significant accounting policies
The Company maintains its accounting records in Euro (“EUR”) and the balance sheet and the profit and loss account are
expressed in this currency.
Basis of preparation
The annual accounts of the Company are prepared in accordance with current Luxembourg legal and regulatory
requirements under the historical cost convention.
Accounting policies and valuation rules are, besides the ones laid down by the modified Law of December 19, 2002,
determined and applied by the Board of Directors of the Company.
The preparation of annual accounts requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires the Board of
Directors of the Company to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the accounting policies. Changes in
assumptions may have a significant impact on the annual accounts in the period in which the assumptions changed. The
Board of Directors of the Company believes that the underlying assumptions are appropriate and that the annual accounts
therefore fairly present the financial position and results.
The Board of Directors of the Company makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The annual accounts have been prepared in accordance with the valuation rules and accounting policies described below.
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Basis of conversion for items originally expressed in foreign currency
The share capital is denominated in Euro (“EUR”) and the annual accounts are expressed in this currency.
Financial fixed assets denominated in other currencies are translated into EUR at the historical exchange rates.
Other assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies are translated into EUR at the rates prevailing at the balance
sheet date. Realized exchange gains and losses and unrealized exchange losses are recognized in the profit and loss
account.
Income and expenses denominated in foreign currencies are recorded at the rates prevailing on the transaction date.
Intangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets are valued at purchase price including the expenses incidental thereto, less accumulated
amortization, determined on a straight line basis over the estimated remaining useful lives of the assets.
Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are valued at purchase price including the expenses incidental thereto. Tangible fixed assets are
depreciated over their estimated useful economic lives.
Industrial and commercial equipment are depreciated on a straight line basis over a period between one and seven years.
Other fixtures and fittings, tools and equipment are amortized over three years on a straight line basis.
Where the Board of Directors of the Company considers that a tangible fixed asset has suffered a durable depreciation in
value, an additional value adjustment is recorded to reflect this loss. Such value adjustment is not continued if the reasons
for which it was made have ceased to apply.
Financial fixed assets
Financial fixed assets are valued at purchase price.
Value adjustments are recognized in respect of financial fixed assets, if, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, a lower
value is to be attributed to them at the balance sheet date. This valuation at a lower value may not be continued if the
reasons for which the value adjustments were made ceased to apply.

Deferred charges
Deferred charges include expenditure incurred during the financial year but relating to a subsequent financial year.
Provisions
Provisions are intended to cover losses or debts the nature of which is clearly defined and which, at balance sheet date
are either likely to be incurred or certain to be incurred but uncertain as to their amount or as to the date on which they will
arise.
Debts
Debts are recorded at their reimbursement value.
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Current debtors
Debtors are stated at their nominal value. Value adjustments are recorded at the end of the financial year if the net
realizable value is lower than the book value. These value adjustments are not continued if the reasons for which the value
adjustments were made have ceased to apply.
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2 – Intangible and Tangible fixed assets
The movements of intangible fixed assets for the financial year ended December 31st, 2018 are as follows:
Intangible fixed assets

Industrial
patent and soft./
intellectual

Other intangible
assets

property rights
Cost at January 1st, 2018
Addition
Disposals
Reclassification
Cost at December 31st, 2018
Accumulated Amortization at January 1st, 2018
Amortization
Disposals
Reclassification
Accumulated Amortization at December 31st, 2018
Net Carrying Amount
At January 1st , 2018
At December 31st , 2018

960,653
166,447
(12,593)
1,114,507
(756,000)
(156,823)
(912,823)
204,653
201,684

Payments on account
and intangible
fixed assets under

Total

developments
5,446,989
451,748
5,898,737
(1,608,174)
(1,038,857)
(2,647,031)
3,838,815
3,251,706

456,748
5,334,322
(451,748)
5,339,322
456,748
5,339,322

6,864,390
5,500,769
(12,593)
12,352,566
(2,364,174)
(1,195,680)
(3,559,854)
4,500,216
8,792,712

The increase of the Payments on account and intangible fixed assets under developments refers to the transaction costs
incurred in connection to a long term loan agreement with BNP Paribas described in Note 11 and a payment in advance
for the purchase of vending machines which will be delivered in 2019.
The Other intangible assets category includes transaction costs incurred in connection to the issuance of Bonds described
in Note 10, that have been capitalized and amortized over the bond term.
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The movements of tangible fixed assets for the financial year ended December 31st, 2018 are as follows:

Tangible fixed assets

Plant and
machinery

Industrial and
commercial
equipment

Cost at January 1st, 2018
Addition
Disposals
Reclassification
Cost at December 31st, 2018
Accumulated Amortization at January 1st, 2018
Amortization
Disposals
Reclassification
Accumulated Amortization at December 31st, 2018
Net Carrying Amount
At January 1st , 2018
At December 31st , 2018

1,750,824
315,197
(53,704)
2,012,317
(401,984)
(264,666)
14,431
(652,219)
1,348,840
1,360,098

152,833,155
35,966,891
(14,927,639)
173,872,407
(54,666,894)
(24,367,834)
5,681,456
(73,353,272)
98,166,261
100,519,135

Caption “Industrial and commercial equipment” includes the purchase of vending machines.
3 – Shares in affiliated undertakings
The movements for the financial year ended December 31st, 2018 are as follows:
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Other assets
53,364
57,136
(795)
109,705
(15,019)
(11,568)
(26,587)
38,345
83,118

Total
154,637,343
36,339,224
(14,982,138)
175,994,429
(55,083,897)
(24,644,068)
5,695,887
(74,032,078)
99,553,446
101,962,351
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IVS Italia S.p.A.
IVS France S.A.
DAV S.L.
CSH S.r.l.
S.Italia S.p.A.
Fast Service ItaliaS.p.A.
IVS Group Swiss S.A.
Demomatic S.A.
IVS Holland BV
IVS Vending UK Ltd.
Others
Total

December 31st, 2017
157,743,469
2,395,693
5,785,000
10,233,909
5,089,057
44,721,182
56,957
2,983,504
100
113
333
229,009,317

Additions of the financial year

65,000
17,721
82,721

Merger

-

-

Disposal of the financial year

December 31st, 2018
157,743,469
2,395,693
5,785,000
10,298,909
5,089,057
44,721,182
74,678
2,983,504
100
113
333
229,092,038

-

The increase for CSH is due to a price adjustment for Your Voice acquisition defined in a transaction agreement, while the
increase in IVS Group Swiss participation derives from the acquisition of an additional 20% of the company.
Details relating to the undertakings in which the Company holds at least 20% in their share capital are as follows:
Registered Office

IVS Italia S.p.A.
IVS France S.A.
DAV S.L.
CSH S.r.l.
S.Italia S.p.A.
Fast Service
ItaliaS.p.A.
IVS Group
Swiss S.A.
Demomatic S.A.
IVS Holland BV
IVS Vending
UK Ltd.

Italy
France
Spain
Italy
Italy

Proportion of the
capital held
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

Italy

Carrying amount as at Capital and reserves result Result for the financial year
Currency
December 31st, 2018 as at December 31st, 2018* ended December 31st, 2018*
157,743,469
77,892,089
13,076,895
EUR
2,395,693
18,492,266
521,814
EUR
5,785,000
9,515,690
500,871
EUR
10,298,909
6,778,595
(1,694)
EUR
5,089,057
7,894,375
504,011
EUR

100%

44,721,182

18,497,225

2,643,902

EUR

Switzerland

90%

74,678

(344,383)

(9,861)

CHF

Switzerland
Holland

80%
100%

2,983,504
100

1,723,055
100

10,630
(12,715)

CHF
EUR

United Kingdom

100%

113

100

(18,391)

GBP

*Based on unaudited accounts

The financial statements of the IVS Group S.A. and of its subsidiaries are drawn up as of December 31st, 2018.
Investments in subsidiaries or associated companies are tested for impairment if there are indications that they may have
suffered a loss in value, comparing the carrying amount with the recoverable amount. From this analysis no adjustment
has been deemed necessary to be recorded to the book values.
4 – Loans to affiliated undertakings and by undertakings with which the company is linked by virtue
of participating interests
The details relating loans granted by IVS Group S.A. to Group companies in order to finance the development of their
activities and the variations for the year are as follows:
December 31st, 2017
IVS Italia S.p.A.
IVS France
CSH Srl
IVS Group
Swiss SA
Fidirevisa
Demomatic
Cash pooling
Total

236,308,035
-

Additions of the financial
year

-

December 31st,
2018
236,308,035
-

-

-

443,697

-

-

9,000
1,524,415
48,249,110
286,534,257

Merger
-

-

405,318

38,379

9,000
1,504,915
47,220,588
285,447,856

19,500
1,028,522
1,086,401

97

Disposal of the financial
year
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5 – Own shares or own corporate units
The General Meeting held in Luxembourg on December 28th, 2018 resolved to authorize the Board of Directors to purchase
additional company’s own shares in connection to SDA 2000 share purchase agreement, for a total maximum number of
shares of 254,588 over a period of 60 months from the date of the General Meeting, and indicated, pursuant to the
applicable Luxembourg laws, a purchase price between a minimum of EUR 11.25 per share and a maximum of EUR 12.50
per share.
December 31st, 2017
Number
Amount

Additions of the financial year

2,130,024
20,894,832

Disposal of the financial year
-

December 31st, 2018
-

2,130,024
20,894,832

A special non-distributable reserve for own shares has been created for the same amount according to provisions of the
law (Note 8).
6 - Amounts owed by affiliated undertakings becoming due and payable within one year
Details of this caption are as follows:

December 31st, 2018
22,491,318
19,134,177
41,625,495

Amount receivable from affiliated
Other accounts receivables with affilated (Group Fiscal Unit)
Total
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December 31st, 2017
4,110,723
12,953,103
17,063,826

The increase of the amount receivable from affiliated is mainly due to invoice to be issued for operating leases of vending
machines.

Receivables and Payables under the Group Fiscal Unit
The approval by the Italian tax authority of the Group’s fiscal unity was granted, therefore for 2018 and 2017 the fiscal
charges and provisions are based on the Group fiscal unity assumption.
7 - Other receivables becoming due and payable within one year
Details of this caption are as follows:
December 31st, 2018
561,191
6,787,002
3,882,452
309,194
333,097
11,872,936

Trade Receivables
Other amounts receivable from affiliated for consolidation VAT
Credit Italian VAT
Credit Italian Taxes (IRAP, IRES)
Other receivables
Total

December 31st, 2017
443,325
6,730,094
4,950,521
403,037
270,199
12,797,176

A consolidated VAT regime between the Company and its Italian subsidiaries is active since the beginning of the year
2014. According to such regime, the Company collects the credit and debit positions of its subsidiaries on a monthly basis
performing the VAT consolidation and liquidation. The net balance of the position as of December 31st, 2018 is an asset
equal to EUR 6,787,002 while the net balance as of December 31st, 2017 was equal to EUR 6,730,094.
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Closing balance at December 31st,2017
Allocation of prior year result
Reserve Reclassification for own shares
disposal
Dividend distributed
Result for the financial year
Closing balance at December 31st,2018

Changes in equity are as follows:

8 - Capital and reserves

(2,886,295)
329,336,643

363,558

-

363,558
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-

-

-

Warrants
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332,222,938
-

Share premium

363,558
-

TOTAL Subscribed
capital

363,558
-

Ordinary Shares

38,689

-

38,689
-

332,222,938
(2,886,295)
329,336,643

Legal
reserve

TOTAL Share
premium
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20,894,832

-

(7,423,995)
-

-

2,712,238
2,712,238

-

Reserve for
Profitt or loss
own shares or
Profitt or loss
for the financial
own corporate brought forward
year
units
20,894,832
1,454,224
5,969,771
5,969,771
(5,969,771)

(10,310,290)
2,712,238
353,345,960

-

360,944,012
-

Total capital and
reserves
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Subscribed Capital
The share capital underwritten and paid up as of December 31st, 2018 (including treasury shares held in portfolio) is
comprised of 38,952,491 shares (of which 2,130,024 treasury shares).
Dividend rights
Shares all enjoy equal dividend rights.
Voting rights
The extraordinary operation foreseen by the Company Statute having been completed, ordinary shares all enjoy equal
voting rights.
Dividends paid and proposed
The table below gives details of dividends declared and paid by Parent:
(in thousands of Euro)
Dividends on ordinary shares declared and paid during the twelve-months period:
Final dividend for 2017: 0.28 EUR (2016: 0.24)

2018
10,907
10,907

2017
9,438*
9,438

Share premium reserve
As of the reporting date the reserve had decreased for dividends paid.
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Legal reserve
Under Luxembourg law, 5% of the net profit of the year, net of any losses brought forward, must be allocated to a legal
reserve until such reserve equals 10% of the issued share capital. This reserve is not available for dividend distribution.
9 - Provisions for pensions and similar obligations
December 31st, 2018
369,942
15,226
385,168

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations
Provision for taxed
Other provisions
Total provisions

December 31st, 2017
360,049
15,226
375,275

IVS Group S.A. has defined contribution and defined benefit plans for its Italian employees.
The other provisions include the estimated probable liabilities, mainly related to civil and/or labour pending disputes.
Disclosure on potential liabilities at the reporting date is provided on Note 22.
There are no other potential liabilities at the reporting date other than those provided for in this caption, considering their
respective risk level.
10 – Non-convertible Bonds
On November 6th, 2015 the Company issued a senior unsecured notes due 2022 (ISIN XS1308021846). An aggregate
principal amount of Notes of €240,000,000 was sold at an issue price of 100%, consisting of 240,000 Notes having a
nominal value of €1,000 each.The rate of interest of the Notes, is 4.50% per annum.
The date of the beginning of trading of the Notes on the Mercato Telematico delle Obbligazioni, organized and managed
by Borsa Italiana S.p.A. was set by Borsa Italiana as November 6, 2015, which corresponds to each of the issue date of
the Notes, the date on which investors paid the issue price of the Notes and the date on which interest on the Notes began
to accrue.
The transaction costs totaled EURO 5,187 thousand and will be amortized over the bond term (see Note 2).
100
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11 – Amounts owed to credit institutions
The caption includes loan agreements with floating rate index to Euribor totaling of EUR 45,000 thousand signed during
the year 2017 and detailed as follow:
- EUR 25,000 thousand by Banca Nazionale del Lavoro (BNL) due December 7th, 2023;
- EUR 10,000 thousand by Banca Nazionale del Lavoro (BNL) due December 7th, 2023;
- EUR 10,000 thousand by Banca Nazionale del Lavoro (BNL) due December 7th, 2023.
At December 21st, 2018 a new loan facility has been assigned by BNP Paribas as Global Coordinator e Bookrunner, with
the participation of BNL, Banca MPS e Rabobank (a leading Dutch bank) as Mandated Lead Arrangers. The facility,
undrawn at December 31st, 2018 and with an availability period of 18 months, is split in two tranches: trance “A” amounting
to EUR 50 million, aimed to refinancing existing loans, and tranche “B” amounting to EUR 100 million, aimed to fund future
acquisitions. Both the trances will be reimbursed on October 15th, 2022. These new loans agreements require the comply
with some financial covenants and the obligation for the Group to meet certain financial ratio levels, which are in line with
the other requirement and ratio already included in the Senior Unsecured Bond and in the other existing loan agreements.
The term-loan facility agreement includes, among other market standard provisions, a clause that shall allow the
lenders to ask for the early repayment of the outstanding facility in case of change of control on the part of the
Company.
During of the year 2018, IVS Group S.A. has extinguished a medium-long term loan agreements by Banca Monte Paschi
(MPS) with floating rate index to Euribor totaling of 40,000 thousand signed during the first half of year 2016 (of which
EUR 30,000 thousand undrawn).

Details of this caption are as follows:
December 31st, 2018
342,969
767,450
1,110,419

Suppliers invoices payable
Accrued charges for other external charges
Total

December 31st, 2017
374,607
569,915
944,522

13 - Amounts owed to affiliated undertakings
Details of this caption are as follows:
December 31st, 2018
7,284,691
43,944,146
19,181,567
70,410,404

Trade creditors - amounts owned to affiliated undertakings
Cash pooling
Other amounts payables to affiliated undertakings
Total

December 31st, 2017
6,578,099
38,084,448
13,547,195
58,209,742

Other amounts payables to affiliated undertakings includes VAT liabilities for IVS Group S.A. deriving from the VAT
consolidation regime adopted (Note 7).
14 - Tax and social security debts
Details of this caption are as follows:

December 31st, 2018
2,019,674
384,006
2,403,680

Tax payables
Social security debts
Total
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December 31st, 2017
2,112,065
369,742
2,481,807
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12 - Trade creditors
This caption includes payables to suppliers and for accrued charges for invoices received after balance sheet date
regarding expenses incurred during the financial year ended December 31, 2018 becoming due and payable within one
year.
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At December 31st, 2018, the corporate income tax is a payable. See also Note 7 on Group fiscal unity.
15 - Others creditors
Details of this caption are as follows:
December 31st, 2018
769,526
392,197
1,161,723

Debts towards employees
Dividends to paid
Other amounts
Total

December 31st, 2017
709,176
422,199
1,131,375

16 - Net turnover
Net turnover related to:
Ǧ corporate activities rendered to Group subsidiaries during the year ended December 31 st, 2018 for EUR 9,528
thousand (EUR 9,134 thousand during the year ended December 31st, 2017);
Ǧ operating leases of vending machines to the Italian subsidiaries for EUR 29,019 thousand for year ended
December 31st, 2018 (EUR 26,528 thousand for the year ended December 31st, 2017).
17 - Other operating income
The caption mainly includes EUR 300,000 of rental income paid by the subsidiaries for the year ended December 31st,
2018.
18 - Other external charges
Details of this caption are as follows:
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December 31st, 2018
732,157
1,131,137
231,239
126,250
324,000
312,007
441,717
845,529
4,144,036

Service fees
Cost of handling securities
Legal and conultancy fees
Audit fees
Directors' fees
Administrative services provided by affiliated company
Software support
Other sundry charges
Total

December 31st, 2017
563,196
1,124,045
310,434
127,050
271,088
237,309
439,344
793,205
3,865,671

19 – Staff costs
Details of this caption are as follows:
December 31st, 2018
4,508,281
1,682,551
135,074
6,325,906

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other staff costs
Total

December 31st, 2017
4,340,635
1,596,401
122,949
6,059,985

The number of staff employed by IVS Group S.A. as of December 31st, 2018 and 2017 is as follows:
Organico
Executives
Managers
Employees
Workers
Total

December 31st, 2018
2
15
114
9
140
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December 31st, 2017
2
13
101
9
125
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20 - Interest and other financial charges/income

Bank interest
Bond Interest
Other interest
Dividends received
Interest for cash pooling
Interest receivable from subsidiaries
Interest receivable from IVS ITALIA Spa
Loan interests
Gain on sales of ESP participation
Gain on change differences
Total

Income
1,785
17,873
589,995
10,900,500
40,868
11,551,021

December 31st, 2018
Expenses
(27,386)
(10,800,000)
(62,326)

-

(328,671)
(300,574)
(11,518,957)

Income
5,623
14,227
144,804
401,299
10,895,264
1,022,859
21,473
12,505,549

December 31st, 2017
Expenses
(91)
(10,800,000)
(313,116)
(320,548)
(245,369)
(11,679,124)

21 – Income tax
The amount of current tax has been positively impacted by the results of Group’s fiscal unity scheme for fiscal year ended
December 31st, 2018 implemented on IVS Group S.A.. In particular the recorded tax income is comprised of:
 an income of EUR 6,214 thousand from other companies included in the fiscal unit (the Company transferred to
those entities unused tax losses and ACE. On December 31st, 2018 the effects amount to EUR 3,160 thousand);
 an expense of EUR 4,593 thousand due to the positive tax result of the fiscal unit.

Other information
On May 2016 the Italian National Social Security Authority (“INPS”) sent to IVS Italia S.p.A. a communication about the
criteria applicable for the calculation of social security contributions applied in previous years. The INPS request is due to
changes in law consequent to Law 92/2012 and the applicability of CIGS contribution to our business. IVS management
and its advisor are working to address this complex matter, which resulted from uncertainties on the underlying
administrative regulation. In connection to this contingency an appropriate provision had been accrued for IVS Group S.A:
Annual Accounts at December 31st, 2016.
23 - Related party transactions
The summary of all significant related party transactions is, as follows:
December 31st, 2018

A) Sales and Financial Income
Sales of good to the Parent
Sales of good to associated parties
Sales of good to other related parties
Sales of goods to subsidiaries
Financial income to the Parent
Financial income to associated parties
Financial income to other related parties
Financial Income to subsidiaries

Total Sales and financial income
B) Purchases and Financial Expenses
Purchases of good from the Parent

-

Purchases of good from associated parties
Purchases of good from other related parties
Purchases of good from subsidiaries
Financial expenses to the Parent
Financial expenses to associated parties
Financial expenses to other related parties
Financial expenses to subsidiaries
Total Purchases and financial expenses
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December 31st, 2017
10,000
10,000
38,995,040
11,490,495
50,505,535

10,000
5,000
10,000
35,838,996
164,951
11,276,416
47,305,363

(28)
(1,143,116)
(328,671)
(1,471,815)

962
(25,440)
(622,366)
(320,548)
(967,392)

-
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22 - Commitments
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C) Trade Receivables and Financial Assets
Receivables from the Parent
Receivables from associated parties
Receivalbles from other related parties
Receivalbles from subsidiaries
Financial assets from the Parent
Financial assets from associated parties
Financial assets from other related parties
Financial assets from subsidiaries
Total Receivables and Financial Assets
D) Trade Payables and Financial Payables
Payables to the Parent
Payables to associated parties
Payables to other related parties
Payables to subsidiaries
Financial payables to the Parent
Financial payables to associated parties
Financial payables to other related parties
Financial payables to subsidiaries
Total Financial Debt/Assets net

18,300
1,577
27,631
57,504,672
286,525,255
344,077,435

6,100
1,706
15,431
25,395,291
1,404,983
284,033,873
310,857,384

(38,885,515)
3,540
(43,944,146)
(82,826,121)

(28,721,197)
3,540
(38,084,448)
(66,802,105)

24 - Subsequent events
On February 15th, 2019 IVS Group subscribed derivatives instruments to hedge interest risk of its new credit lines for a
total amount of EUR 120,000 thousand of which EUR 50,000 thousand starting from March 21st, 2019 and EUR 70,000
thousand starting from June 21st, 2020.
On February 28th, 2019 IVS Group, has acquired the entire participation of SDA-Società Distribuzione Automatica 2000
S.r.l. for a provisional consideration transferred of around EUR 20,602 thousand paid cash and transferring to one of the
sellers n. 234,206 IVS Group treasury shares. SDA-Società Distribuzione Automatica 2000 S.r.l. active since more than
50 years in the vending business in Italy and leader in Liguria region, with sales of around EUR 13.2 million in 2017.
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The directors’ report discloses information about the events after the reporting date that refer to the Group.

Luxembourg, March 19th, 2019
On behalf of the Board of Directors,
Mr. Paolo Covre
Chairman
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